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P E T E R O LTO N - W E S T E R N P R O V I N C E
S U CC E S S S TO RY

OUR MISSION
PNGSDP promotes development that meets the needs of the present generation and establishes the foundation for
continuing progress for future generations of Papua New Guineans.

OUR VALUES
We recognise the significant onus of trust, responsibility and challenge that has been placed upon PNGSDP.
We will be honest, fair and accountable in all our dealings, while promoting equality and efficiency in our conduct and
activities.
We commit ourselves, through the activities of PNGSDP, to promote and improve the quality of life of current and future
generations of the people of Papua New Guinea, especially of Western Province.

COMPANY BACKGROUND
Mandate
Under the agreements establishing PNGSDP, the Company has three main functions.
To support and promote sustainable development through projects and initiatives to benefit the people of Papua New
Guinea, especially the people of Western Province during the period after closure of the Ok Tedi Mine.
Another main function of PNGSDP as a substantial financial institution is the prudent and wise investment of the Long Term
Fund and Development Fund, so that it can support a high level of development expenditure in Western Province and
Papua New Guinea in general.
The Company’s other substantive responsibility is as majority shareholder of Ok Tedi Mining Ltd (OTML). Through its
representative on the Board of OTML, PNGSDP seeks to ensure sound commercial operations of OTML, responsible
management of environmental and social issues, and seeks to sustain the infrastructure established by OTML for broader
social and economic development beyond mine closure.
Incorporation and governance framework
PNGSDP is a Papua New Guinean institution incorporated in Singapore as a not-for-profit limited liability company,
registered and operating in PNG as an overseas company.
PNGSDP is governed by its Constitution, which is comprised of the Memorandum and Articles of Association and Program
Rules.
An independent Board, consisting of seven international and Papua New Guinean Directors, control and manage the affairs
of PNGSDP and reports to PNG stakeholders annually.
PNGSDP commenced operations in Port Moresby Papua New Guinea in November 2002.
Assurance and indemnification
PNGSDP indemnifies the State and BHP Billiton against environmental claims related to activities of OTML and provides
indemnity over the Independent Directors on the Board of OTML.

I was one of the first students sponsored by PNG Sustainable
Development Program Limited (PNGSDP) to study in Melbourne at
the Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology (RMIT) University.
After I successfully completed foundation year science in 2010 I was
given the opportunity to study an undergraduate program in
Chemical Engineering in 2011.
I found my course extremely interesting, as it combined both handson projects as well as theory.
I'm a practical learner, and through lots of lab experiments and
project based assignments, RMIT has given me a solid foundation to
incorporate my engineering knowledge into my current specialist
stream in Oil & Gas Engineering.
University life is challenging at times. However, there are great mates
out there to help me.
Apart from academic studies I have participated in extracurricular
activities like volunteer work with the Australian Conservation
Volunteers.
I will be graduating from RMIT in 2014.
I thank PNGSDP for giving me the opportunity to come this far.

LETTER FROM THE CHAIRMAN

PNG Sustainable Development Program Ltd.
Port Moresby, Papua New Guinea
The Independent State of
Papua New Guinea
BHP Billiton Ltd.
Ok Tedi Mining Ltd.
In accordance with Clause 20 of the Company's Program
Rules under the Articles of Association of the PNG
Sustainable Development Program Ltd., I submit to the
Independent State of Papua New Guinea, BHP Billiton
Ltd., and Ok Tedi Mining Ltd., the Annual Report 2012,
covering the financial year ending 31 December 2012.
The Annual Report also includes the financial statements
and the report of the Auditor.

Furthermore, in accordance with Clause 19.3 of the
Program Rules of the Company, the key elements of the
Annual Report will be presented for discussion at the
Annual Report Meeting of the Company, to commence
at 9.00 am on Tuesday 4 June 2013 at the Conference
Room, Crowne Plaza Hotel, Port Moresby.
Sincerely,

Sir Mekere Morauta, KCMG
Chairman Board of Directors
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C H A I R M A N ’S R E P O R T A message from
S i r M e ke r e M o ra u t a
•

To set up the Community Mine Continuation
Agreements (CMCA), which provide for the Fly River
people affected by mining to have the final say in
whether the mine can continue operating and the
appropriate levels of compensation for environmental
damage.

•

To set up the Ok Tedi Development Foundation, which
manages community development benefits from Ok
Tedi mine operations on behalf of the 100,000 river
residents living in 156 villages throughout Western
Province. Trading as Ok Tedi Fly River Development
Program since 2010, it delivers projects and programs to
communities through a unique partnership between
the mine, the people and the government.

The 2012 Annual Report Meeting of PNG Sustainable
Development Program Ltd (PNGSDP) marks a turning point
in the Company’s history as a model mine owner, a model
development agency and a model funds manager. Through
force of unplanned circumstances, the Company is moving
towards the final shape designed for it when I was Prime
Minister more than 10 years ago.

•

To develop arrangements for periodic review of Mine
Life Extension, following consultation with the CMCA
communities.

•

To develop a new environmental regime for the Ok Tedi
mine.

•

To develop new mine closure plans.

PNGSDP was created as a central, critical part of the Ok Tedi
Mine Continuation (Ninth Supplemental) Agreement Act
2001, which gives the force of law to the agreed outcomes of
the negotiations between the State of Papua New Guinea
and BHP Billiton to allow the Ok Tedi mine to continue
operations and BHP Billiton to withdraw.

The creation of PNGSDP is at the heart of the Ninth
Supplemental Agreement Act’s intention that the OTML
dividends be used wisely, independently, transparently and
accountably. In the 10 years since it began operations,
PNGSDP has comprehensively fulfilled its mandate. It is the
second-largest development agency in the country (after
AusAID) and has delivered a wide range of projects to every
corner of the country, in the process improving the quality of
life of the people, especially in remote and disadvantaged
areas, and making a substantial contribution to national
economic and social development

Sir Mekere Morauta - Chairman

The main elements of the Act are:
•

•
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To allow BHP Billiton to withdraw from Ok Tedi Mining
Ltd, to give its 52 percent share of the Company for the
benefit of the people of Papua New Guinea, especially
in Western Province, and in exchange be indemnified
against future law suits seeking compensation for
environmental damage.
To create an independent trust company, the PNG
Sustainable Development Program Ltd to hold BHP
Billiton’s shareholding in OTML in trust for the people of
Western Province and Papua New Guinea. PNGSDP’s
charter requires it to spend one third of its annual
dividend receipts from OTML in Western Province and
Papua New Guinea, and invest two-thirds in the Long
Term Fund for the people of Western Province to be
spent after the closure of the mine.

P N G S U S TA I N A B L E D E V E LO P M E N T P R O G R A M LT D

At this point in PNGSDP’s history, it is appropriate on behalf
of the board to thank the Company’s staff, and in particular
my predecessor, Professor Ross Garnaut. Professor Garnaut
was the inaugural chairman of PNGSDP and an inaugural
director of the new OTML, when it became majority Papua
New Guinea-owned in 2002, and became Chairman in 2011.
So Professor Garnaut has played a pivotal role in the growth
of both PNGSDP and Ok Tedi Mining Ltd, and has overseen a
very significant development contribution to the Nation and
to Western Province. I believe Papua New Guineans will look
back on his contribution with a sense of gratitude. I would like
to publicly thank him for all he has done at PNGSDP and OTML,
and indeed for Papua New Guinea, spanning over 47 years.

C H A I R M A N ’S R E P O R T - A m e s s a g e f r o m S i r M e ke r e M o ra u t a

When Professor Garnaut stood down from PNGSDP and Ok
Tedi Mining Ltd, he left both companies in an excellent
position from which to meet the challenges of the future,
especially those that may potentially result from the National
Government’s decision to remove the Company from any
involvement with Ok Tedi Mining Limited. The consequences
of that decision will be very far-reaching for PNGSDP, for the
Nation, and for the people of Western Province in particular.
Constructive dialogue to work out a fair and transparent
process for PNGSDP’s exit from OTML is necessary, and has
begun. Until final decisions on the future are made, PNGSDP
remains in a period of uncertainty. It is in the interest of the
State, PNGSDP and OTML to come to final decisions on the
future shape of both companies soon.
In broad terms, PNGSDP is likely to become a pure
development agency and funds manager with the sole
mandate of providing sustainable development for the
Western Province for at least 40 years. This is the ultimate role
set for PNGSDP when my Government negotiated the Ok
Tedi Mine Continuation (Ninth Supplemental) Agreement
Act 2001, which is the umbrella over every aspect of the
management of OTML and PNGSDP.
If the Government's desire is to be achieved, then a complex
transaction must take place to untie the bonds between
OTML, PNGSDP and the parties to the Ninth Supplemental
Agreement - the State and BHP Billiton. PNGSDP’s aim is for
that transaction to be fair and transparent. PNGSDP is
especially mindful of the fact that it holds its 63.4 percent
share in OTML in trust on behalf of the people of Western
Province. PNGSDP’s priority is to protect their interest.
PNGSDP recognises that the National Government may be
unable or unwilling to pay a full price for PNGSDP’s
shareholding in OTML, which is estimated to be worth
approximately $US1.1 billion. Therefore alternative ways of
continuing to put the dividends to constructive use on
behalf of the people will have to be considered. PNGSDP is
keen to ensure that what is given up by the people of
Western Province will be used in ways that they can see
benefit the people of Papua New Guinea as a whole.
PNGSDP will act to protect its independence and to preserve
and insulate the Long Term Fund. The most important factor
in the success of PNGSDP over 10 years is its structure - a
trust-style not-for-profit company that is completely

independent of any outside influence. That is why PNGSDP
has $US1.4 billion in the Long Term Fund for sustainable
development of Western Province for the next 40 years.
The Company’s unique nature has allowed PNGSDP to
oversee very successful mining operations at Ok Tedi, to
deliver sustainable development to every part of the country,
but particularly Western Province, and to save and protect a
very substantial portion of the proceeds from the Ok Tedi
mine for the benefit of current and future generations.
The Government's decision to remove PNGSDP as majority
owner of OTML is the trigger for PNGSDP to start drawing
down the $US1.4 billion in the Long Term Fund. That money
will be spent solely in the Western Province. In effect the
Government's decision means that PNGSDP's Mine Closure
Plan will also be triggered.
OTML has submitted a Mine Life Extension application to the
State. It is subject to approval by the State as mining
regulator and separately by the two OTML shareholders –
PNGSDP (63.4 percent) and the State of Papua New Guinea
(36.6 percent). Mine Life Extension cannot proceed without
the approval both of the State and the Western Province
communities affected by the mine (the Community Mine
Continuation Agreement Communities).
The CMCA communities have already given their unanimous
approval for Mine Life Extension to be granted. PNGSDP as
the majority shareholder of OTML supports the Mine Life
Extension. Based on the feasibility study, Mine Life Extension
is expected to provide $US4.3 billion in social and economic
benefits to PNG. Mine Life Extension increases the value of
OTML (both State and PNGSDP shareholding) by $US660
million from $US1812 million to $US2472 million.
Ok Tedi mine has been managed well over the past 11 years
with PNGSDP, on behalf of the major shareholders, the
people of Western Province. The year 2012 was another good
year. Ok Tedi’s exports of copper and gold accounted for 27.3
percent of Papua New Guinea’s total exports and 9.5 percent
of gross domestic product. OTML generated $913.3 million in
profits and paid $444.8 million in taxes to the government. It
paid $350 million in dividends to PNG shareholders.
PNGSDP regards the environmental impacts of the mine as
OTML’s greatest challenge and actively pursues
improvements in the mine’s environmental performance
through OTML.
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Since 2002, OTML has spent more than K3.3 billion on
environmental management. This includes the Bige
dredging and rehabilitation program, Bige pyrite storage pits,
tailings sulphur removal plant, trans-shipping monitoring,
die-back and recovery monitoring, ecology monitoring,
industrial waste monitoring and community health
assessments. Commenced in 2005, the cost of the sulphur
removal and storage program alone, reached $US840 million
by 2011. The Mine Life Extension proposal provides for waste
rock to be stored in a stable waste dump near the mine.
With the dredging and sulphur removal in place and the
stable waste dump incorporated in the Mine Life Extension
proposal, PNGSDP regards a tailings storage facility as the
single most important additional remediation measure.
PNGSDP has encouraged an OTML feasibility study on
possible sites. This study will be completed in 2013, and
PNGSDP is hopeful of a good outcome. There has been no
incremental environmental damage under PNGSDP majority
ownership.
Initiation of the Mine Closure Plans means no further
dividends will be paid to PNGSDP - all dividends will go to the
National Government. The Development Fund will cease
operating and no more money will be spent on projects and
programs in the rest of the country, although PNGSDP
intends to complete those projects to which funds have
been committed.
One of the strengths of PNGSDP has been its ability to get
value for money by entering into development partnerships.
Ideally, PNGSDP would like to see a partnership between
itself, the National Government and the Fly River Provincial
Government to achieve as much sustainable development
impact as possible over the next 40 years.
PNGSDP will necessarily review its own spending plans over
the next few years. It is likely that spending will increase in
that time and then gradually reduce thereafter until the Long
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Term Fund is depleted. PNGSDP's structure, systems and
capacities will also need to be reviewed again as the future
becomes clearer. There will have to be changes to the boards
of both PNGSDP and OTML to reflect the new realities.
The Board’s emphasis will be on maintaining strong
governance mechanisms, with exemplary accountability and
transparency. The Program Rules will remain essentially the
same, but will need to accommodate the fact that although
PNGSDP will remain a model development agency and a
model funds manager, it will no longer be a model mine
owner.
By year's end, PNGSDP had received a net $US1.8 billion in
dividends from OTML after payment of $US200 million in
Dividend Withholding Tax. The Long Term Fund stands at
$US1.4 billion and K1.18 billion has been committed to 662
projects and programs since PNGSDP began operating in
2002.
PNGSDP represents for the first time anywhere in the world a
successful way to save the bulk of the dividend proceeds
from a resources project for the benefit of future generations.
No other resources project, in Papua New Guinea or overseas,
has delivered or will deliver an equivalent level of benefits.
As the authors of the independent Papua New Guinea
Sustainable Development Program Review of 2011,
Professors Stephen Howes and Eric Kwa noted: “PNGSDP is a
unique organisation. We are not aware of any parallel to it
anywhere else in the world.”
I urge the Government to look at PNGSDP as a model for
other resource projects, as a way of benefitting landowners
now, and in the future.

Sir Mekere Morauta
Chairman

C E O ’S R E P O R T A m e s s a g e f r o m D av i d S o d e

transparently and fairly for the benefit of all Papua New
Guineans, and in particular those of Western Province.

David Sode - Chief Executive Officer

OUR 10 YEAR JOURNEY
This Annual Report marks PNG Sustainable Development
Program's 10 years of operations. In that time, our small
company has delivered a remarkable 662 projects to which
we have committed K1.18 billion. I take this opportunity to
thank our board for their vision and guidance, our staff for
their dedication and hard work, our partners for helping
bring our plans to fruition, and the many thousands of
ordinary Papua New Guineans who have contributed in so
many important ways to make their own projects successful.
PNGSDP's mandate is clear: Promoting development that
meets the needs of the present generation and establishes
the foundation for continuing progress for future
generations of Papua New Guineans. I believe we have
fulfilled our mandate over the past 10 years, and I look
forward to more equally successful years.
We are a unique organisation. Not just unique in Papua New
Guinea, but unique in the world. There is no other
organisation that is comparable. Over the past 10 years
PNGSDP has distinguished itself as a model mine owner, a
model development agency and a model funds manager all
rolled into one. PNGSDP has delivered according to our
mandate in each capacity.

WHAT WE HAVE BECOME
Today we are the second largest development agency in the
country, we oversee a 63.4 percent shareholding in Ok Tedi
Mining Ltd, one of the world's leading mines, and we
manage and protect about $US1.4 billion of funds held in
trust to be used in Western Province after the mine closes.
PNGSDP's structure as an independent, not-for-profit trustee
company was designed to safeguard the funds entrusted to
our care, and to enable us to use those funds wisely,

Few people affected by mining - certainly none in Papua
New Guinea - can claim to have received the level of benefits
and compensation achieved by the Ok Tedi mine area
landowners and downriver communities. Equally, no other
group of people can look forward to a continuation of
sustainable development for at least 40 years after mine
closure, thanks to PNGSDP's prudent management of the Ok
Tedi dividends it holds in trust for the people of Western
Province.
Put another way, 10 years of PNGSDP has provided for at least
40 years of support for the province after the mine has
closed. PNGSDP represents for the first time a successful way
to save for future generations, and at the same time provide
sustainable development for the current generation.

DEVELOPMENT COVERAGE WE ACHIEVED
In the past 10 years PNGSDP has received a net $US1.8 billion
in dividends from Ok Tedi. It has put aside a net $US1.16
billion (two-thirds of the dividends) in the Long Term Fund
for use in Western Province after the mine closes. It has put a
net $US578 million in the Development Fund, which pays for
current projects and programs.
Of that $US578 million, two-thirds has been committed to
national projects - $US385 million - and one-third - $US193
million - to Western Province projects.
Our record on project planning and implementation is
second to none in Papua New Guinea, either as direct project
funding or through our major subsidiaries - PNG Energy
Developments Ltd, Western Province Sustainable Power Ltd,
Cloudy Bay Sustainable Forestry Ltd and PNG Microfinance
Ltd.
PNGSDP's projects and programs have had a major beneficial
impact on social and economic development of the Nation,
and especially in Western Province. They have made a
significant contribution to improving the quality of life of
individuals and communities, mostly in severely
disadvantaged areas of the country.
Since 2002 PNGSDP has committed K737 million to 414
national projects (including those that cover Western
Province) and K446 million to 248 Western Province-only
projects.
Most of the commitments – a total of K555 million - across
both National and Western Province projects were for
essential infrastructure aimed directly at improving
community life – classrooms, aid posts, roads and bridges,
wharves and jetties.
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The most significant transformational infrastructure project
to date has been the construction of a network of
telecommunications towers in Western Province and
adjacent areas of Sandaun Province (a commitment of K73
million), and Gulf Province (K4 million).
It is recognised internationally that a modern and efficient
telecommunications network has a dramatic impact on
social and economic development. PNGSDP’s towers project
has provided access to the digital revolution – mobile
telephones and internet - to tens of thousands of people in
the three provinces.
Other transformational projects under way are feasibility
studies for a major international wharf at Daru and associated
industrial infrastructure, and investigation of the potential
Purari Hydro Scheme and a large expansion of the Ramu
Hydro Scheme.
A joint program with the World Bank on rural roads
rehabilitation brought the World Bank back to PNG after it
had given the country up as too hard to do business with,
and has had a major impact in Central, East New Britain, Gulf,
Manus, Morobe, Oro and West New Britain, with Western
Province on the way.
PNGSDP’s focus on future generations resulted in Health and
Education being the next highest areas of spending. K73
million has been committed to Health (124 projects) and
K105 million to Education (100 projects).
PNGSDP maintains a constant flow of small but invaluable
community-based projects such as accommodation for
teachers, nurses and other community workers, school
classrooms, and health centres. In Western Province alone
PNGSDP has built 31 classrooms, 24 teachers’ houses, two
school dormitories, 14 health centres and 22 nurses’ houses.
The total commitment to these community-based projects,
which is only a small proportion of the projects and
programs PNGSDP funds in Western Province, was K12
million. The total value of each of these projects, because we
use partners and communities to get more kick from our
kina, is often much higher than the basic cash input.

CORPORATE RESTRUCTURE
In this 10th Anniversary year it was also timely to examine our
own performance and see if there were better ways of doing
things. To that end we undertook a review of our corporate
structure and our systems and processes in 2012, and early in
2013 made some important internal changes designed to
make us less bureaucratic and more responsive to
development needs. I am confident that as these changes
begin to take effect our development performance will
improve. We will continue to adapt to changing
circumstances.
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IMPAIRMENTS
This year we have been the subject of some ill-informed
media reporting of our policy of impairing, or writing down,
some of the development expenditure that is made through
our subsidiary companies. It is important that I set the record
straight about impairments.
Impairments are a well-known accountancy method we use
to describe the status of money we have spent on certain
development projects and programs. In almost all cases they
reflect productive development spending, not corporate
losses.
Where PNGSDP cannot find partners but sees areas with
potentially very high development impacts that can be
carried out by commercial vehicles, it exercises its judgment
to create corporate subsidiaries to deliver these programs.
The shining example is PNG Microfinance Ltd.
Today this subsidiary has more than 85,000 customers, many
of them in very remote areas of Western Province and other
rural communities who otherwise would have no access at
all to banking facilities. PNG Microfinance has eight branches,
at Tabubil, Kiunga, Port Moresby (Koki and Waigani), Lae,
Mount Hagen, Popondetta and Bialla, and six service centres
across Western Province. More are planned.
The same goes for other subsidiaries such as Cloudy Bay
Sustainable Forestry Ltd and Western Power, where we have
also reported impairments. Without Cloudy Bay there would
be no sustainable forestry in Papua New Guinea, no
significant community projects in its area of operations, no
maintenance of important infrastructure such as roads and
bridges, and far fewer employment opportunities. Without
Western Power the Western Province Communication Towers
Project would not have gone ahead. There would be no
innovative rural power systems for tens of thousands of
people in Western Province.
The financial support given to enable subsidiaries such as
Cloudy Bay, PNG Microfinance and Western Power to carry
out development projects is treated as loans, which are
repayable if possible. But PNGSDP regards the provision of
development projects to the people as our first priority. We
are a development agency, not a for-profit corporation. We
recognize that our subsidiaries may take a very long time to
reach profitability and so we are prepared to impair these
loans to enable development to proceed.
And if in future these subsidiaries achieve profitability, the
impaired assets can be written back.
Using the internationally-accepted impairment accounting
practice for part of our development spending is simply a
cost-effective way of benefiting all Papua New Guineans and

C E O ’S R E P O R T - A m e s s a g e f r o m D av i d S o d e

their communities. For the most part they do not reflect
losses in any way - they reflect effective spending on projects
and programs that benefit Papua New Guinea.
Please turn to the Notes to the Accounts for Impairments we
have made in 2012 as a result of our policy of delivering the
full benefits of our development spending to the people of
Papua New Guinea.

CONCLUSION
As CEO I can confidently state that there is every reason for
my staff to be proud of their performance over the decade
we are celebrating, and proud of the achievements of
PNGSDP:
•

•
•
•
•
•
•

To actually deliver that which really counts for rural and
otherwise neglected fellow Papua New Guineans. We
have given countless citizens a better life.

•

•

To be present through our projects in every province in
PNG, and to provide a future for some of the most
remote and disadvantaged areas of the Nation.

•

•

To show that through moral and financial integrity,
selfless service and vision, non-renewable resources can
be converted directly into sustainable resources.

•

To have protected and increased the money in the Long
Term Fund for the benefit of the people in Western
Province after the Ok Tedi Mine closes.

•

To contribute to the social and economic fabric of PNG,
our home, now and for the future.

DELIVERED IN 2012
As you look through this report you will notice that,
consistent with our mandate to disburse two thirds of our
development funds to the rest of PNG and one third to
Western Province, we have completed a number of highly
valued projects.
Delivered nationally in PNG (excluding Western
Province):
•
15 automatic weather stations across the country
providing real time weather information.
•
Extension of the Western Province communication
tower network into neighbouring Gulf Province.
•
The World Bank RMRP roads project was completed and
was so successful that planning is under way for a
second phase.
•
Successful implementation of the cocoa pod borer
training program in partnership with CCRI and Agmark
NGIP, in East New Britain. The program to be increased
in 2013 to include Karkar Island.
•
The construction of the Togarao Hydro system,
Autonomous Region of Bougainville.

•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Pindi Yaundo Trout Farm Rehabilitation Project,
Gembogl District, Simbu Province.
Salt Livestock Farmers Co-operative Society Goat
Project, Salt-Nomane, Simbu Province.
M’buke Island Improved Agricultural Technologies
Project, Manus Province.
Hobe Health Centre building and a fully furnished staff
house, Karamui District, Simbu Province.
Koibuga Sub-Health Centre Paediatric Ward and Staff
House, Western Highlands Province.
A wireless broadband data transmission system to aid
the education of many distant education students
scattered around the islands of the Louisiade
Archipelago, Sudest, Milne Bay Province.
A double-storey six-classroom building at the Sacred
Heart Faniufa Primary School, Goroka, Eastern
Highlands Province.
St Arnold Janssen Human Development Centre,
Mingende, Kerowagi District, Simbu Province.
St. Theresa Una Primary School double classroom, two
staff houses incorporating water catchments to each
building, Lower Mendi, Southern Highlands Province.
Skotolan Health Centre Nurses’ accommodation, Buka
Island, Bougainville.
Morotona Health Centre outpatients’ clinic
Ruruvu Health Centre, nurses’ accommodation
Langarers Elementary School Infrastructure Support,
Wabag, Enga Province.
Blessed J Mazzuconi Hospital Anaesthetic Machine,
Watuluma, Goodenoungh Island, Milne Bay Province.
East Cape Rain Water Catchment, Milne Bay Province.
Gaubin Hospital Drug Purchase Support, Karkar Island,
Madang.
Kapendaga Potato Farming Project, Magarima, Hela
Province.
Malaysian Association of PNG Charity Fundraising.
National Botanical Gardens Expansion of Tree Kangaroo
Enclosure, Research & Breeding Program, Port Moresby,
NCD.
National Cultural Commission Festival of Pacific Arts.
Salvation Army Red Shield Appeal.
Official Royal Visit to Papua New Guinea by the Prince of
Wales and the Duchess of Cornwall.
Simbu Plants & Agriculture Show.
University of Technology Election Awareness Team.
University of Technology Fly River Staff and Students
Association Cultural Show, Lae.
Barola Haus Mama Clinic Village Birth Attendants
Training, Henganofi, Eastern Highlands Province.
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•
•

Furnishing and equipping of the Menayama Lutheran
Primary School Library, Morobe Province.
Evangelical Lutheran Church of PNG Hagen District
Voluntary Counselling and Treatment Centre.

Major projects we delivered in Western Province in 2012:
•
SMIT took over the Community Learning Centre
providing Flexible Open & Distance Education to over
600 students in North Fly.
•
In South Fly the Daru trestle wharf at a cost of K10.2
million was fully constructed in the year, allowing
resumption of passenger and light cargo shipping
services.
•
In North Fly the Ningerum and Rumginae mini power
grids were completed providing access to power for
3000 people.
•
In North Fly the Ok Tarim pico hydro system was
installed supplying power to 150 people.
•
Daru water systems survey and design completed. Daru
sewerage design commenced.
•
Commenced Tawo’o Point loading wharf and facility
construction.
•
Assumed responsibility for the maintenance of the
North Fly roads to Kokonda and Drimgas.
The projects below were implemented through partners
including our Church Agency Education and Health
Program:
•
In North Fly: Biangabip Primary School teachers houses
and double classrooms K603,240 – Catholic Diocese of
Daru-Kiunga.
•
In North Fly: Bolivip Primary School teachers houses
K311,000 – Catholic Diocese of Daru-Kiunga.
•
In North Fly: Tmoknai Primary School teachers houses,
Double classrooms K544.440 - Catholic Diocese of DaruKiunga.
•
In North Fly: Iowara Health Centre, K319,000 - Catholic
Diocese of Daru-Kiunga.
•
In North Fly: Catholic Health Services Capacity Building
through Australian Doctors International K173,000 Catholic Diocese of Daru-Kiunga.
•
In North Fly: Catholic Health Office, Drug Storage
facilities, Kiunga K46,000 - Catholic Diocese of DaruKiunga.
Major projects we will deliver in 2013:
•
Our Lake Murray hub pilot project will see the first
projects implemented with the reopening of the Maka
Community School after a 21 year closure, and the
commencement of health patrols in the lake, on board
the newly refitted MV Sylvan.

8

P N G S U S TA I N A B L E D E V E LO P M E N T P R O G R A M LT D

•

•

•

•
•
•
•
•

SMIT will commence operating the Tabubil
International School to International Baccalaureate
standards.
Delivery of classrooms will commence to the
elementary and primary schools in the Tabubil
Catchment area.
SMIT, a NATTB registered provider, will commence
delivery of apprentice training at the SMIT Technical
college.
Construction will commence on the Togarao Road,
Autonomous Region of Bougainville.
Completion of the Launakalana Road, Central Province,
in conjunction with Department of Works.
Install & commission the Daru night soil treatment
plant.
Completion of the Malasait to Open Bay Road, East New
Britain, in conjunction with Department of Works.
The vegetable farm at 9-Mile, Central Province, will be
operational in partnership with the Halfway House.

Other projects to be delivered in 2013:
•
In North Fly: Two doctors’ houses will be completed at
Rumginae.
•
In North Fly: The new Mougulu Health Centre will open,
with funding support including K100,000 from PNGSDP.
•
In North Fly: Biangabip Primary School teachers houses
and double classrooms K603,240 – Catholic Diocese of
Daru-Kiunga.
•
In North Fly: Rumginae Airstrip will be reopened after
ground works and general restoration are completed.
•
In Middle Fly: Bamio Community School, Bamu, Double
Classrooms K544,440 – Catholic Diocese of DaruKiunga.
•
In Middle Fly: Barasaro Community School, Bamu,
K604,000 - Catholic Diocese of Daru-Kiunga.
•
In Middle Fly: Bimaramio Community School, Bamu,
K600,000 - Catholic Diocese of Daru-Kiunga.
•
In Middle Fly: Bina Community School, Bamu, K336,000
- Catholic Diocese of Daru-Kiunga.
•
In Middle Fly: ECP Electrification Projects in Balimo
K68,000 – Evangelical Church of PNG.
•
In Middle Fly: Ibuwo Community Health Post, Bamu K1,
200,000 - Catholic Diocese of Daru-Kiunga.
•
In South Fly: Four doctors’ houses will be completed at
Daru Hospital (K900,000).
•
In South Fly: Head Teacher’s House and Community
Learning Centre at Edward Baxter Riley Primary School
in Daru (K500,000).
David Sode
CEO
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Transformational
Projects

2010-2012

Preparation for
Mine Impacts

Social
Investment

Infrastructure

S T R AT E G Y

PNGSDP invests in projects to develop infrastructure,
industry and improve the social wellbeing of all Papua New
Guineans, with a particular mandate to serve the people of
Western Province.

Industry

INTRODUCTION
PNGSDP’s approach is to focus our work in five areas:
1.

Transformational Projects

2.

Infrastructure

3.

Industry

4.

Social Investment

5.

Preparation for Mine Impacts

PNGSDP recognises the importance of cultivating economic
activity on a scale that will replace the contribution of OTML
when the mine closes. Therefore, in addition to investing in
locally owned industry, infrastructure and social projects,
PNGSDP is committed to initiatives located in Western
Province, with benefits which are national. These are
described as Transformational Projects.

WP - Project is located in Western Province
NI - Project has significant National Impact
N - Project is located outside Western Province

NATIONAL AND
NATIONAL IMPACT
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S T R AT E G Y

OUR WESTERN PROVINCE VISION

OUR NATIONAL VISION

By 2020 people achieve equitable socio-economic
development so that Western Province is recognised
as a model for development in PNG. By mine closure,
new industries that support improved equitable
development will replace the positive contributions
of Ok Tedi Mine.

The lives of people in Papua New Guinea are
improved through the promotion of diversified and
balanced socio-economic development which is
driven, directed and owned by our strategic partners.

Western Province Strategy

National Strategy

Western Province is PNG's largest province, covering 97,300
square kilometres, or approximately one-fifth of PNG's land
mass. The Province borders Indonesia in the west and
Australia in the south, and also Sandaun (West Sepik)
Province, Hela Province and Gulf Province.

Two thirds of PNGSDP’s Development Fund is allocated to
projects outside Western Province or to projects with
national scale impact.

180,455 people live in Western Province (Source : Census
2011) giving a population density of less than two persons
per square kilometre, reflecting limited availability of arable
land.
One third of PNGSDP’s Development Fund is allocated to
fulfill our mandate in relation to the people in Western
Province. The centrepiece of the Western Province Strategy is
the development of Multi-sector Economic Development
Hubs. Industry and Infrastructure development in Western
Province is central to cultivating these hubs of economic
activity. Identified hub locations are based on different
economic activities and include Balimo, Daru, Kiunga, Lake
Murray, Morehead, Nomad and Tabubil.
The Western Province Strategy overlaps with the National
Strategy in the development of Transformational Projects,
those Western Province initiatives that will have significant
national economic benefit.
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The centrepiece of our National Strategy is our partnership
approach. Whether government, community or business, we
support our partners to do what they do best to improve the
lives of Papua New Guineans. For national impact projects,
we drive initiatives and develop partnerships with
organisations who operate at the required scale.

WESTERN PROVINCE STRATEGY
OUR VISION FOR
WESTERN
PROVINCE

APPROACH

By 2020 people achieve equitable socio-economic development so that Western Province
is recognised as a model for development in PNG.
By mine closure, new industries that support improved equitable development will
replace the positive contributions of Ok Tedi Mine.
Partnership
Development Model:
We partner with
government,
communities, and private
sector to deliver

Transformational
Projects

Multi-sector
Economic Development
We support alternative
industries that directly
benefit and generate
income for the people of
Western Province.

Impact and Effectiveness:
We practice and promote
good governance and
accountability. We plan
and evaluate program
impact.

Preparation for
Mine Impacts

Social
Investment

Infrastructure

Industry

Implementation of a Stakeholder Engagement Strategy.
Design and rollout of Monitoring and Evaluation system and processes.
Mainstreaming environmental impact assessment across projects.

WE WILL:

2012 STEP
CHANGES

STRATEGIC
COMMITMENTS

Develop key economic
drivers facilitating the
establishment of:
• Daru as a major
trans-shipment port
utilised by OTML
• Gas commercialisation
and large scale power
generation by
multinationals
including PNG
ENERGY
DEVELOPMENTS LTD.
• Oriomo Industrial
Centre
• Towers Project as key
component of
communications
network.

Support and establish a
communication
network by 2013 and
other appropriate
transport networks,
both with commitments
in terms of operation
and maintenance.
The networks will:
• connect people to
health and education
services, markets
and industry
development
opportunities; and
• open up access to
strategic and
economic locations
in WP.

Deliver through
WESTERN POWER
commercially
sustainable
electrification projects
and develop alternative
renewable energy
projects for all
communities by 2013.

Support and establish a
new range of industries
across Agriculture,
Aquaculture, Forestry,
Trade and Tourism that
equitably employ local
people, and which
provide food and
income security with
minimum impact on the
environment and social
systems.
Ensure a range of
financial services are
offered for micro
business operators and
individuals.
SMIT will provide
international quality
education, training and
research that will
support sustainable
development for the
benefit of the people.

Support accessible and
reliable health and
education services with
appropriate technology.
Deliver access to safe
water and sanitation to
all communities by
2013. Build capacity of
local delivery agents.

Minimise the dislocation
of people from
socio-economic and
environmental impacts
of the mine.
Empower
communities to sustain
and improve their food
security and livelihoods.

Mainstream HIV
prevention through all
activities.

Develop TABUBIL from a
mining town to a mixed
user residential town of
choice.

Identify high value
conservation areas and
establish a management
structure to preserve
and protect the areas in
partnership with land
owners and
communities.

Facilitate transfer of
OTML subsidised
services and owned
assets to third parties.

Effective and efficient Corporate and Financial Services serving all PNGSDP offices, programs and partners.
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NATIONAL STRATEGY
OUR VISION
FOR PAPUA
NEW GUINEA

APPROACH

The lives of the people of Papua New Guinea are improved through the promotion
of diversified and balanced socio-economic development which is driven,
directed and owned by our strategic partners.

Development:
We support development activities
that meet the needs of the present
generation and establish the
foundation for continuing progress
for future generations of Papua
New Guineans.

Partnership
Development Model:
We partner with government,
communities, NGOs and the private
sector to help them achieve their goals.
We drive initiatives and develop
partnerships for national scale
projects

Impact and Effectiveness:
We practice and promote good
governance and accountability.
We plan and evaluate program
impact.

Social
Investment

Infrastructure

Industry

Implementation of a Stakeholder Engagement Strategy.
Design and rollout of Monitoring and Evaluation system and processes.
Mainstreaming environmental impact assessment across projects.

WE WILL:

2012 STEP
CHANGES

STRATEGIC
COMMITMENTS

Support establish and
rehabilitate:
• Appropriate transport
networks that link people to
markets and services.
• Infrastructure that will
contribute to development
in PNG.
• Infrastructure where
commitments in terms of
operation and maintenance
are demonstrated.
Deliver through WESTERN
POWER and PNG ENERGY
DEVELOPMENTS LTD
commercially sustainable
electrification projects and
develop alternative renewable
energy projects.

Support build and develop:
• Long term sustainable industries that employ Papua
New Guineans.
• Papua New Guinean industry expertise and leadership
particularly in Forestry, Agriculture and Banking.

SMIT will
provide
international
quality
education,
training and
research that
will support
sustainable
development
for the benefit
of the people.

WE WORK:

WESTERN PROVINCE NATIONAL IMPACT PROJECTS

SUPPORTED BY

14

CLOUDY BAY
SUSTAINABLE
FORESTRY LTD
will
demonstrate
that
sustainable
forestry best
practices can
operate on a
commercial
basis in PNG.

PML will provide
rural banking
services
throughout
PNG.

Support changes in
communities through:
• Building capacity of local
delivery agents.
• Community based programs,
• Accessible and reliable health
and education services; and
• General improvement of
social infrastructure.
Mainstream HIV prevention
through all activities.
Deliver our small grants
program which supports a
diverse range of social initiatives.
Identify high value conservation
areas and establish a
management structure to
preserve and protect the areas
in partnership with land owners
and communities.

• To support our partners to deliver key development priorities that can be sustained for future generations of Papua New Guineans.
• Alongside all levels of government and its donors and provide counterpart funding assistance to selected development projects..
• In consultation with government, and through NGOs and Churches to empower local communities to determine their own way forward.

Effective and efficient Corporate and Financial Services serving all PNGSDP offices, programs and partners.
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S T R AT E G Y

As well as developing and managing development projects
during 2012, PNGSDP committed to work on the following
strategic initiatives:
1.

3.

All new project requests must now include an
assessment of environmental impact. Where additional
and expertise input is required the studies are included
as part of the total project cost. Contractors
implementing our projects are required to comply with
all environmental regulations applicable to that
particular project and the PNGSDP monitoring ensures
compliance in practice.

Implement a stakeholder communication strategy
PNGSDP created a media and public relations
department during the year. Ginia Siaguru was
appointed as Communications Officer and in
December the Communications and Media Manager,
Mark Davis was appointed. The department has
achieved some significant milestones in the short time
it has had and these are highlighted on pages 42-45.
A draft communications strategy has been developed
and the priority for 2013 will be the updating of the
Company website along with regular stakeholder
engagement.

2.

Mainstream environmental impact assessments
across all new projects

Design and roll-out an appropriate monitoring and
evaluation system

To help benchmark progress in these areas, this
annual report includes:
•

A section reporting stakeholder engagement
activity and outcomes, and

•

Identification of Strategic Natural Resource
Management (SNRM) initiatives within the
project reports, as identified by this icon.

A framework and handbook for the new monitoring
and evaluation system was designed by PNGSDP staff in
consultation with The Australian Continuous
Improvement Group (ACIG). The process included pilot
evaluation studies on projects completed in the year.
The framework is shown below.
Recruitment is underway for a Monitoring & Evaluation
Supervisor and tenders called for the triennial review of
the Community Development program.

SNRM
Sustainable Natural Resource Management

M&E requirements differ according to project size and strategic importance.
Project size

Project significance

M&E plan requirement

Less than K100,000

Normal project or grant

No specific requirement

Between K100,000 and
K500,000

Normal project.

Standard small projects
monitoring plan.

Between K100,000 and
K500,000

Pilot or strategically
significant project.

Project-specific monitoring and
evaluation plan required before
Board approval.

Greater than K500,000

All projects of this size are
categorised as major
projects.

Project-specific monitoring and
evaluation plan required before
Board approval.
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Transformational
Projects

Preparation for
Mine Impacts

T R A N S F O R M AT I O N A L P R O J E C T S

Social
Investment

Infrastructure

Industry

STRATEGIC ACTION
•

Protect and promote the Hindenburg Wall

•

Star Mountains Institute of Technology

•

Large scale power generation by
multinationals

•

Daru as a major trans-shipment port used
by OTML

THE HINDENBURG WALL
The Hindenburg Wall comprises of a series of
tall, precipitous cliffs, 1-2 km high and 50 km
long located in the Star Mountains, North Fly SNRM
District, Western Province. Proposed as a UNESCO World
Heritage Site and described as a wonder of the natural world,
the Hindenburg Wall is visually stunning, largely unspoiled,
biologically diverse and relatively unknown to science.

Listing as a UNESCO Site, means a place is considered
of “outstanding universal value”. For natural places this
means they must either contain “superlative natural
phenomena or areas of exceptional natural beauty
and aesthetic importance”, “outstanding examples of
geomorphic or physiographic features” or “contain the
most important and significant natural habitats for insitu (natural habitat) conservation of biodiversity”. The
Hindenburg Wall has all these features.

PNGSDP recognises the global significance of this
remarkable area and its biological and cultural value.
Understanding and protection of the Hindenburg Wall is a
key focus of the PNGSDP conservation program in Western
Province.
In 2012 the Wildlife Conservation Society (WCS) successfully
conducted a literature review of the existing knowledge of
the Hindenburg Wall from scattered sources which
highlighted how little is known about this extraordinary area.
Copies of the report were presented to Prince Charles and
the Duchess of Cornwall by PNGSDP CEO, David Sode, during
the royal visit to PNG, in November, 2012.
Such complex landforms result in a high diversity of species.
PNGSDP has engaged WCS to undertake a biological survey

The spectacular landform comprises a series of walls, 1-2km high and 50km long.
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of the Hindenburg Wall in 2013 with logistics costs
associated with the scientific team covered by PNGSDP. The
team of PNG and international scientists have completed the
first detailed biological study of the Hindenburg Wall, due for
publication in 2013

STAR MOUNTAINS INSTITUTE OF
TECHNOLOGY (SMIT)
SMIT Corporate Services
WP

NI

SMIT is PNGSDP’s transformational scale investment in
improving education services in Western Province and in
PNG. 2012 was the year when the vision for SMIT began
turning into reality.
To support the growing number of SMIT’s education
initiatives, Corporate Services grew to seven staff and a range
of business enterprise processes were launched.

Tabubil Catchment Schools Support Project
WP
This project will radically improve 17 local elementary and
primary schools in Tabubil and surrounds. Classrooms,
libraries and teacher’s housing for the first four villages in the
project are to be provided by Cloudy Bay Sustainable Forestry
Ltd (CBSFL). Two people from each village will be selected
to participate in the construction work after completing
the SMIT Technical College Pre-Employment Construction
program.

SMIT Technical College
WP
SMIT achieved accreditation from the National Apprentice
and Trade Testing Board (NATTB) to run national apprentice
extension programs for ten trades. OTML agreed to send their
apprentices to the SMIT Technical College in 2013, and other
commercial customers were actively pursued. The NATTB is a
strong supporter of SMIT and its strategy, and sees SMIT as a
model of how private-government partnerships should work.
SMIT recruited experienced expat TVET (Technical Vocational
Education Training) teachers to work at the SMIT Technical
College to deliver the apprentice extension programs and to
mentor existing Papua New Guinean TVET teachers.

SMIT Technical College. Construction has commenced for a new
learning facility which will include a simulation centre.

SMIT Technical College also plans to launch a range of
programs to respond to specific market needs, including PreEmployment: Construction, Pre-Employment: Drilling and
Supervision and Site Administration.
Construction commenced for a new Learning Facility, which
will provide classrooms and offices for the growth in
apprentice extension programs. The new building will also
be the location of the SMIT National Simulation Centre.

SMIT Community Learning Centre
WP
The SMIT Community Learning Centre is a Registered Study
Centre of Flexible Open and Distance Education (FODE),
situated adjacent to the SMIT Technical College. It offers
distance education courses to Western Province students. In
2012 the centre assisted nearly 600 students to complete
grades 6 to 9 or grades 10 to 12 .
SMIT assumed full responsibility for this entity in 2011.

SMIT International School
WP
SMIT will assume full responsibility of the Tabubil
International School from the International Education
Agency from January 2013, and has consequently recruited a
new Principal and seven new teaching staff. The school will
implement the International Baccalaureate curriculum,
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business including gold bullion assay and export.
SMIT is exploring establishing NATSL services in Tabubil and
has recently installed a concrete testing facility that is
available for commercial services to construction companies
in Tabubil and the Western Province.

PNG ENERGY DEVELOPMENT LIMITED
Nat

SMIT International School Grade 6 students.

reduce the school fees, and increase the number of enrolled
students providing access to a broader range of students.

PNG Energy Developments Ltd (PNGEDL) is a 50/50 joint
venture between PNGSDP and the Australian listed public
energy company Origin Energy Ltd. PNGEDL brings together
PNGSDP’s development mandate and Origin Energy’s power
sector and project development expertise as the largest
integrated energy company in Australia. It has as its major
objectives, the supply of reliable, competitively priced
hydroelectricity and gas fired power for local, industrial,
commercial and major resource projects in Papua New
Guinea.

SMIT University Programs Partnership
WP
SMIT hosted an exploratory visit by Royal Melbourne Institute
of Technology staff, who are keen to establish an institutional
presence in PNG.

National Analytical & Laboratory Testing
Services (NATSL)
Nat
SMIT has a Joint Venture Company with the PNG University of
Technology – the National Analytical and Testing Services
Laboratory (NATSL) – whose vision is to be the premier
testing laboratory in PNG and the Pacific region.
Considerable effort from the staff and investment from
PNGSDP has gone towards regaining national accreditation
for NATSL.
NATSL offers a full range of analytical, metallurgical
development and processing services to mining and
exploration companies. The current facility in Lae also offers
testing services for pathology, environment, water, soils and
food/feed. A recently established second facility, also in Lae,
offers preparation of geochemical and exploration samples
and analysis, including high precision concentrate testing
and check assaying services, ship inspection and survey
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Staging camp for feasibility studies conducted on Purari River
hydroelectricy, Gulf Province.

T R A N S F O R M AT I O N A L P R O J E C T S

PNGEDL's feasibility study has covered the entire Purari basin and other key locations.

Beginning in 2010 PNGEDL has undertaken a detailed
comprehensive new feasibility study of the Purari
Hydroelectric Project in the Gulf Province of Papua New
Guinea in order to re-assess the viability of the project and
prepare it for development. The cost of that work to date has
been approximately K130 million.

•

The project would provide sufficient energy for
industrial development in PNG, supply to consumers on
the Port Moresby and Ramu systems (a national grid
effectively) and potential export to Australia;

•

The project has the potential to underpin the future
development of PNG with the provision of renewable
energy in excess of 70+ years;

•

Transmission of power from Wabo to industrial users in
PNG and to PNG’s neighbouring countries using High
Voltage Direct Current cables is technically feasible;

•

The capital cost for the project is estimated at A$5
billion (excluding transmission costs). This initial high
level estimate is subject to a margin of error of up to
30%;

•

The work to be completed includes a thorough Social
and Environmental Impact Assessment, further studies
of hydrology and sedimentation, detailed engineering
designs for the dam, generation system and

Purari Project
PNGEDL’s feasibility study has now been
completed. At a high level, the findings from the
study can be summarised as follows:

SNRM

•

A wide range of potential locations in the Purari River
basin have been considered and Wabo has been
confirmed as the preferred location for the project;

•

A development at Wabo could generate 2,500 MW of
electricity through the construction of a dam and the
inundation of land behind the dam (note: current
estimated electricity generation capacity across PNG is
estimated at 600 MW);
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transmission scheme, finalisation of land access
arrangements and entering into power sale
agreements to underpin the feasibility of the project ;

Stanley Gas Project
Feasibility studies are underway for the Stanley Gas Project. If
successful, the project will use locally produced gas to
generate electricity for parts of Western Province, largely
replacing expensive diesel generation.

Partnerships
PNGEDL is working with partners to deliver significant,
positive and visible advantages to large numbers of Papua
New Guineans. Partners include the PNG Government, in
particular the Departments of Treasury, National Planning
and Development, Petroleum and Energy and Environment
and Conservation. PNGEDL is also working with PNG Power
Ltd, the World and Asian Development Banks and JICA to
seek upgrading of the current PNG electricity grids so that
power can be transmitted throughout PNG.
Another environmental and commercial objective of
PNGEDL’s hydroelectricity projects is to reduce PNG’s reliance
on high priced diesel powered generators. Planning for the
proposed upgrade and expansion of the Yonki-Ramu
Scheme supplying Lae and the new hydroelectricity
schemes at Angabanga, Vanapa and Noaro-Brown is also
underway.

DARU PORT
WP

NI

Subsequent to the completion of extensive engineering,
geotechnical, sedimentation and environmental studies
through 2011 and 2012, discussions were held with a
number of potential international partners with expertise in
the building and operation of Ports.
In the second half of 2012 Qube Logistics, an experienced
and well regarded Australian port operator, began working
with PNGSDP to discuss partnership options and to finalise
the design of an innovative port solution.
This solution will allow for the development of Daru Port to
proceed in consecutive optional phases, the first phase
consisting of the construction of a shipping channel, marine
turning basin and a Floating Cargo Terminal designed for the
safe and efficient transhipment of containers, general cargo,
bulk diesel and copper concentrate. This first Floating Cargo
Terminal has a designed capacity of 40,000 dry material bulk
tonnes, 20 million litres of diesel fuel and more than 250
20 foot containers. The phase one footprint allows for up to
three floating cargo terminals to be permanently moored.
The concept of a Floating Cargo Terminal enabled the port
design to be completed without the requirement to build a
3km causeway and land based infrastructure whilst allowing
for their construction in subsequent phases should demand
increase as the Western Province develops. This phased
approach will enable Western Province to access
international markets directly at a reasonable price
enhancing its international competitiveness.
PNGSDP has also successfully acquired certain parcels of land
on Daru and commenced the redevelopment of Tawo’o Point
wharf which will allow heavy construction equipment and
materials to be landed on Daru and the efficient movement
of containers. Tawo’o Point will provide a necessary link
between the Island of Daru and the Port of Daru.

Environmental Baseline Studies – Daru
and Oriomo
Rapid Environment Assessment (REA) work for
SNRM
Daru Port was completed in December 2012. Two
draft reports have been furnished to PNGSDP for review.
Baseline studies for Oriomo Industrial Park have commenced.
Stakeholder consultation, Purari Hydro project.
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Transformational
Projects

Preparation for
Mine Impacts

INFRASTRUCTURE

Social
Investment

Infrastructure
Industry

STRATEGIC ACTION
PNGSDP continued to support the Government
with the development of key transport and other
infrastructure in PNG and Western Province with the
key objective to provide important access to
agriculture and services, particularly for rural
communities. To implement the Western Province
strategy of cultivating multi-sector development
hubs, greater focus was given to integrating
infrastructure
development
with
other
development activities around a number of
selected growth centres in Western Province.

Maintenance underway at a section of the Gre to Drimgas Road.

Maintenance continues to be a concern and efforts
are ongoing to secure suitable arrangements in
partnership with Government and others to ensure
infrastructure is maintained into the future.
Road maintenance has given local businesses better vehicle
accessibility to transport goods & services to Kiunga town.

ROADS
Kiunga Kokonda & Gre Drimgas Road
Maintenance
WP
In 2012 PNGSDP approved the expenditure of K9.2 million for
a 24-month maintenance program of the 24 kilometre road
from Kiunga to Kokonda and the 28 kilometre Gre-Drimgas
road. The maintenance will be completed in 2013 while
concerns remain over ongoing maintenance by FRPG.
Both access roads were initially upgraded from walking tracks
in 2007 & 2008 at a total cost of K41 million to provide people
better access to vital health, education and social services in
Kiunga and Tabubil. The roads have also made it possible for
regular vehicle access and for rubber plantations in the area
to be revitalized and expanded, bringing income to the hard
working growers. Other commercial activities such as timber
harvesting and processing, and sale of food crops have
opened up along the roads giving the communities
additional income earning avenues.

The Kiunga to Kokonda road allows business activities to thrive in the
area.

Grading in progress at kilometre 8.6 of the Kiunga to Kokonda road.
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LIDAR Survey – Western Province Priority Roads
WP
In 2012 PNGSDP approved K4.5 million for an aerial survey
utilizing ground control stations for a number of key road
infrastructure developments in Western Province. These
include:
•

Kiunga to Nomad Road

•

Oriomo/Wipim & Kondobol Road

•

Sturt Island to Ali Road

Data from these surveys will assist the Fly River Provincial
Government particularly with road design and agriculture
development within the respective areas of the surveys.

Road Maintenance Rehabilitation Project –
Phase 1 (RMRP)
Nat
The Road Maintenance and Rehabilitation Project (RMRP)
was a National Government initiative undertaken from
February 2003 and completed in June 2012, covering eight
provinces.
Achievements of the project are:
•

Rehabilitated 788kms of roads through eight provinces

•

Repaired and maintained 5,980kms of roads

•

Constructed six new bridges and rehabilitated/
maintained 47 bridges

•

Set the pattern for sealing the roads which cut down on
maintenance costs

•

Capacity building via on the job training

•

Conducted a socio-economic study on the impacts of
the road improvements, the first of its kind in PNG.

The total expenditure under RMRP was K358.7 million. The
partners included the National Government (K86.5 million),
the World Bank (K94.16 million) PNGSDP (K48.26 million),
various Provincial Governments (K11.10 million), AusAID
(K8.64 million), and New Britain Palm Oil Limited (K2.17
million).
The successful outcomes under Phase 1 have resulted in an
agreement for Phase 2 of the project, RMRP II, which is
currently being scoped.
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Togarao Road and Bridge, Autonomous Region
of Bougainville
Nat
PNGSDP is supporting the development of a mini
hydropower project in Wakunai, Central Bougainville. Tenders
were called during 2012 for a 20.1km access road to the
hydro site. The project is under procurement and
construction is scheduled to commence in 2013 after the
design is re-scoped to reduce costs.
The project will provide easy road access for more than
10,000 people within the project area, including schools,
health centres and government establishments in Wakunai
station.

Small Holder Agriculture Development Project Feeder Roads, Oro Province
Nat
PNGSDP is supporting the upgrade of smallholder oil palm
roads in Oro Province with the aim of improving production
and productivity in smallholder oil palm blocks. The project
will provide over 300 smallholder oil palm growers with easy
road access to sell their oil palm and other goods.
New Britain Palm Oil Ltd was engaged to acquire equipment
to construct the feeder roads on the basis that they will
continue to build roads and maintain them after project
completion. The new contract is in progress and is 40%
complete as of December 2012.

Upgrading of the Launakalana Agriculture
Development Road, Central Province
Nat
A seven kilometre road between Launakalana and Kelerakwa
in Central Province was funded (K5.7 million) to provide
access to the major agriculture projects and enable small
growers in the region to sell their produce to the
Launakalana agriculture station, and adjacent ethanol plant.
The road serves the population of Hula and will improve
travelling conditions for commuters, provide economic and
social services, and allow for reduced vehicle maintenance
and operating costs.
The project commenced in February 2012 and is 85%
complete as of December 2012.

INFRASTRUCTURE

Construction and Upgrading of New Britain
Highway, East New Britain Province
Nat
PNGSDP assisted (K3 million) the Department of Works to
construct 14 kilometres of a missing link road between
Malasait and Open Bay in East New Britain Province, including
construction of a 25m Bailey Bridge over the Upper Toriu
River.
The link road will provide improved road access to almost
20,000 people from the inland Baining area providing cash
crop producers with access to markets.
The contract was awarded in April 2012 and construction is
60% complete despite continuous wet weather in the area.

PNGSDP signage at the Daru water treatment plant.

Community Road Projects
Nat
The Homaria Community in the Komo-Magarima District,
Hela Province, worked tirelessly on a road project to provide
themselves with access to the forest to harvest timbers for
classroom construction and other community building
infrastructure (PNGSDP, K155,316). Project completion and
launch is expected in the first quarter of 2013.

DARU WATER SUPPLY
Urgent Upgrading Works
WP
After seven years of negotiations, an agreement between
PNGSDP and Water PNG has enabled the urgent water
facilities upgrade for Daru town. PNGSDP will fund 100% of
the project at an estimated cost of K35 million.
The project will improve the supply of safe drinking water
from the mainland for the 19,000 people on Daru Island with
flow on benefits of improved health and living standards.
The design requirements have been completed and
procurement has commenced for all major components of
the plant including:
•

Two raw water intake pumps for the mainland

•

Water treatment modules

•

1.6 mega litre treated water storage tank & new header
tanks with associated trunk lines and fittings

The Daru water supply system will be upgraded with funding from
PNGSDP.

DARU SEWERAGE DESIGN
Package Sewerage Treatment Plant –
Tawo’o Point

SNRM

WP
A sewerage treatment plant has been designed to take waste
that is currently being collected in buckets and dumped at
the shorefront at Tawo’o Point. The project will enable a major
environmental clean up of the coast line and the affected
fishing areas of the island.
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Daru Town - Total Sewerage System
WP
The design of the vacuum sewerage collection system
(Flovac), waste treatment and eventual disposal,
commenced in 2012. Construction of the total sewerage
system is expected to start in 2013 with anticipated
completion in 2015.
Project partners include Water PNG and the Fly River
Provincial Government.

AIRSTRIPS AND AIRPORTS
Daru Airport
WP
The K31 million project jointly funded by the Fly River
Provincial Government (K9 million) and PNGSDP (K22 million)
was completed in July 2012 and the runway, taxiway and
apron subsequently handed over to the National Airport
Corporation.
The completion of the project has seen an increase in air
traffic to Daru, and after 12 years absence Air Niugini
resumed flight operations into Daru airport.
An additional 200m extension to the runway, which would
allow access for jets is outstanding. A MOU signed during
2012 between the local landowners, the Provincial
Administration and Department of Lands has paved the way
for work to resume.
Surveyors were re-engaged to survey the extension site to
increase the boundaries for inclusion of other services, before
work can commence.

A model of the Flovac sewerage system.

The demonstration of the Flovac sewerage system during the Annual Report Meeting in 2012.
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Kiwai dancers greet the officials who arrived to launch the Airport Maintenance and Upgrade Project in June 2012.

Community Airstrips, Western Province

WHARVES

WP
The community airstrip maintenance project (PNGSDP
K240,000) was expanded to include additional rural airstrips.
Counter-part funding from the Fly River Provincial
Government (K313,779) was welcomed. With a further
change in the project management arrangement, the
project is ready for implementation by ATprojects Inc. in
2013.

Daru Trestle Wharf
WP
Coastal shipping services are now fully restored in Daru. The
new trestle wharf allows for a loading and unloading
capacity of 12 tonnes of cargo. It features installation of four
wooden wharf head fenders, four new wharf bollards, a

This high-impact project will see the safe and effective
delivery of goods and services and allow for greater mobility
of people to and from the 12 targeted rural communities and
surrounding areas. It is especially valuable for medical and
educational purposes, and the provision and maintenance of
community services.

Trestle structure after reconstruction.
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Local children in Daru welcome the visiting delegates during the launching of the Tawo'o Point Sheet Pile Wharf project on the
1st of June 2012.

Tawo’o Point Sheet Pile Wharf
WP
To support construction of the Daru Deep Water Port, a sheet
pile wharf will be constructed at Tawo’o Point to cater for
unloading of heavy machinery and materials for the port
Construction. A review is underway to maximise the
commercial development potential of the development.

Trestle structure before reconstruction.

dolphin head bollard, causeway street lights and water
supply and fuel line services.
Rehabilitation required the demolition and reconstruction of
approximately 920 metres of concrete trestle carriageway on
concrete piles and steel girders. Work commenced in March
2012 with prefabrication works in Port Moresby and was
completed in September 2012.
PNGSDP funded 100% of the K10.2 million project.
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In 2012 PNGSDP acquired a permit from the Department of
Lands to occupy the land. Contracts were awarded for
construction and procurement commenced.

BUILDING COMPLEX
Institute of Medical Research Laboratories &
Building Complex, Madang Province
Nat
Following PNGSDP’s K11.5 million grant, the Institute of
Medical Research (IMR) is constructing a modern office
complex and laboratory in Madang for its countrywide

INFRASTRUCTURE

research programs. The project includes the design,
documentation and construction of the new facilities
totalling almost K19.2 million. Alexander & Lloyd Architects
had the design work 75% complete by the end of 2012.
When complete the IMR will have an internationally
accredited scientific research laboratory, enhancing its
reputation and capacity as a research centre.

Goroka Town Market, Eastern Highlands
Province

At Ningerum the construction of a new power house and
installation of a 200kW generator will benefit 3,000 people at
the Ningerum Station and surrounding villages.
A new generator, switchboard and connection of RaitPower
(user pay) meters at Rumginae will provide electricity for 800
people at the Rumginae Hospital and surrounding villages.
The Ningerum and Rumginae mini grids are part of the final
phase of the Tutuwe mini grid power project which
commenced in 2008 and has installed 31 mini grids all
powered by diesel generators.

Nat
The new Goroka market will have cost-effective modern
facilities and amenities for vendors and buyers from the eight
districts of Eastern Highlands Province and neighbouring
provinces.

The user pay system ensures commercial sustainability for
the project.

Ok Tarim Pico Hydro Power Project
WP

Funding re-construction was approved in 2012 in
partnership with the Goroka Member of Parliament. The
project is currently going through a scope and design
process.

TELECOMMUNICATIONS
Nat
Western Power with contract partner Digicel delivered 48
communications towers in 2011. The construction of
remaining towers continued in 2012 extending to the
neighbouring Gulf Province. Three out of a total of four
telecommunications towers were completed and
commissioned in Gulf Province. The remaining tower at
Wabo is under construction.

ENERGY AND RURAL
ELECTRIFICATION
Western Province Sustainable
Power Ltd
Ningerum and Rumginae Mini Grids
WP
The Ningerum and Rumginae mini grid projects were
completed in 2012.

In 2012 construction of a pico hydro power
project was completed at Ok Tarim, North Fly,
Western Province.

SNRM

The 5kW hydropower plant has been commissioned and is
supplying electricity to a population of approximately 150
people in the area.

Kiunga Power Grid
WP
The extension of power lines to connect mini grids at
Emmaus Farm and 7 Kona, to the Kiunga Power Grid, was
completed in 2012.
OTML is yet to approve the connection of these mini grids
before power from the Grid can be supplied to the local
population.

Mini Grid Wood Pole Replacements and
Extensions
WP
The replacement of wood poles with steel poles in the
Middle and South Fly Districts are progressing well (75%
complete).
New consumers are being connected at grid extensions in
Obo, Balimo, Awaba, Wipim and Lake Murray.
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Fuel Storage Facilities

COMMUNITY ENERGY PROJECTS

WP
In 2012 the installations of fuel storage facilities
at Balimo, Morehead and Lake Murray were
completed.

Nat

SNRM

In Balimo, three 21,000 litre fuel tanks were installed. Lake
Murray and Morehead each have one 21,000 litre fuel tank.
The tanks will improve fuel management in the local area
and reduce environmental risks of contamination.

Togarao Hydropower Project
Nat
In Togarao, Central Bougainville, the construction of a 200kW
hydro power plant is at its civil works construction stage with
design being finalised for the water conveyance system and
the power house.
Power lines have been constructed to supply electricity to 91
households at Togarao 1 and 2 villages, a school and local
health centre. The lines will be energised and commissioned
with the use of a temporary diesel generator which is being
shipped to Bougainville. This genset will remain in use until
the hydropower plant is commissioned.

Kiunga/Ningerum Transmission Line
WP
The preliminary design of a 33kV transmission line SNRM
from Kiunga to Ningerum commenced in 2012. The line will
allow for the replacement of non-sustainable diesel
generation across the current mini grid system and reduce
the cost of supply.
The design is expected to be finalised in 2013 and
construction will commence in 2014.

Solar Power
WP
In 2012 plans for the installation of solar power systems for 49
villages in the South Fly District commenced. Construction is
expected in 2013.
The project is being implemented in conjunction with the
CMCA Water Supply Project using joint logistics and delivery.
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In support of renewable energy generation, K134,000 was
allocated to a project in partnership with the Evangelical
Church of PNG (ECPNG). The project will consist of
renovating an existing hydro power generator near Tari. Work
was completed with a complete overhaul of the hydro plant
and the purchase of a stand by diesel generator
The hydroelectric plant produces electricity to support social
services to a health centre, 14 sub-health centres and 13 aid
posts. Approximately 20,000 people benefit from this project.
Other rural-electrification projects completed in 2012
include:
•

The Cloudy Bay low voltage reticulation (Abau, Central
Province)

•

The installation and commissioning of two 200 kW
generators for the Namatanai Provincial Government
(New Ireland Province)

CLIMATE MONITORING NETWORK
PROJECT
Nat
The Climate Monitoring Network of Papua New Guinea is
being developed to improve day to day knowledge of
weather conditions and to generate long term scientifically
accurate data for climate and climate change assessment.
Linking together a network of Automatic Weather Stations, it
provides real time data to people of PNG.
The K780,000 project was supported with PNGSDP’s
contribution of K570,000 to purchase and install 15
Automatic Weather Stations by the UPNG Remote Sensing
Centre. The public can view real time weather at
http://www.pngclimate.net
The website provides up to date information on temperature,
relative humidity, due point, wind speed, direction and gust,
rainfall in 10 minute and one hour intervals, barometric
pressure and trend. Also included are live photographs of the
local weather condition every 15 minutes.

Transformational
Projects

I N D U S T RY

Preparation for
Mine Impacts

Social
Investment

Infrastructure

2018. PNGSDP has allocated K44.3 million to plant the
balance of 2,800 ha (Kiunga 1,072, Balimo 1,148 and Suki 582)
and to build up the infrastructure and management capacity
of NFRL to cater for the increased planting, production,
transport, processing and export activity. Activities to begin
planting in Kiunga, Balimo and Suki began in 2012.

Industry

STRATEGIC ACTION
Support and establish a new range of industries
across Agriculture, Aquaculture, Forestry, Trade
and Tourism that equitably employ local people,
and which provide food and income security with
minimum impact on the environment and social
systems.

It is noted from the graph below that the tonnage exported
over the last 13 years has significantly increased from 374 to
nearly 2,000 metric tonnes in 2012. During this period
revenue also increased significantly from nearly K0.7 million
to over K12.5 million in 2012.
Export figures increased to 48% in 2012 but the higher Kina
against the US dollar plus the drop in world rubber prices
translated to minus 1% decrease in total export revenue.”

Lake Murray Village Rubber Project

AGRICULTURE

WP
By end of 2012 the Lake Murray Village Rubber Project, a
partnership with NFRL, PNG Microfinance (PML) and the
people of Lake Murray had exceeded its target of 2,200
hectares by planting 2,260 hectares of clonal rubber. 1,505
growers from 21 villagers in Lake Murray have participated in
the project since 2004, pushing the forecasted reach of the
project beyond 840 growers.

Western Province Rubber Industry
Development
WP
The Western Province Rubber Development Project (WPRDP)
has been developed in partnership with Ok Tedi Fly River
Development Program (OTFRDP), North Fly Rubber Ltd
(NFRL), FRPG, and the people of Western Province.

During 2012 the maintenance program was stepped up to
ensure that all the blocks are brought up to production stage
by 2017.

The WPRDP aim is to increase the number of rubber
producing hectares in Western Province to 10,000 ha, by

Western Province Rubber Export & Revenue, 2000 - 2012
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PNGSDP’s investigative effort to commercialise the
eaglewood industry is slowly advancing. Securing a
development partner for the industry remains a challenge.

Smallholder Agriculture Development Project –
Oil Palm
Nat

Lake Murray Village Rubber Project Nursery.

Lake Murray is the pilot hub in PNGSDP’s strategy to
cultivate hubs of socio-economic activity in Western
Province. Under the hub project activities are
undertaken to implement human development
projects such as health services and schools
supported by a economic activity. The growing rubber
industry has been the impetus in Lake Murray.
Maka Community School had been closed for 25
years. PNGSDP facilitated a transfer from the
Government to the authority of the SDA Education
Agency, Subsequently, four classrooms (two
renovated and two new) and two new teachers
houses were constructed plus four 9,000 litre water
tanks (two each for teachers and students) were
installed in preparation for classes to begin in 2013.

Eaglewood Industry

The Smallholder Agriculture Development Project (SADP) is a
partnership with the World Bank, PML and oil palm milling
companies, to encourage farmers to be involved in an oil
palm infill credit facility. PNGSDP delivered its commitment
to provide credit funds, back in 2010, however
implementation had stalled due to failure of other partners
to reach agreement on how to proceed.
In 2012 the World Bank re-scoped the project reducing the
outcome expectations of 8,750 hectares planted, down to
2,500 hectares. As at 31 December 2012, 728 hectares have
been planted.

Vegetable Project 9 Mile, National
Capital District
Nat

SNRM

An intensive vegetable production facility will supply high
quality vegetables as a “direct import replacement”. The
controlled environment will utilise Israeli technology. In the
fourth quarter of 2012 the project developer, LR Group,
moved on to the site to commence the land preparation
phase. PNGSD has granted K3 million to the project, along
with a K16.25 million loan at concessional rates.

WP
Eaglewood is one of the world’s most valuable
SNRM
forest products, treasured for its exclusive high-end perfumes
and incense and medicinal properties. The eaglewood tree
occasionally and erratically produces resinous wood which
takes many years to form.
Importation of eaglewood seeds from Vietnam for the
plantation program has continued to be an annual activity.
Since 2010, over 70,000 seedlings have been planted at
Robinson River, PNG Forest Authority's Kuriva Forest Station
in Central Province, and in Kiunga and rural communities in
North and Middle Fly districts of Western Province.
In 2012, a permanent nursery facility sufficient to cater for up
to 50,000 seedlings annually was built in Moain village,
Middle Fly’s Moian village. Over 20,000 seedlings from
imported eaglewood seeds were propagated successfully at
this facility at Moian, and at Samagos and Emmaus Farm.
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Commodity Industry Support Program
Nat
Cocoa
1,172 households will each be supplied 200 clone seedlings
for cocoa planting as part of a new cocoa training facility at
Tokiala. Satellite facilities will include nurseries and bud wood
gardens.
The East New Britain Cocoa Rehabilitation Project, a
partnership with NGIP Agmark and PNG Cocoa Coconut
Institute Ltd, received K2.8 millon in funding from PNGSDP. As
at 31 December 2012 38% of the project was achieved with
452 households planting 90,400 seedlings equivalent to 108
hectares.
In December 2012 PNGSDP allocated K2 million for the
Karkar Cocoa Rehabilitation Project in Madang Province.

I N D U S T RY

Citrus
K200,000 was approved for trial planting of 2,000 improved
Israeli & American budded citrus seedlings in Tabubil and
Kiunga in Western Province and also areas in Gulf Province in
partnership with the PNG Women in Agriculture
Development Association.

training of its staff. As a result the performance in the new
saw mill improved by 32% over the previous year. Sawmill
production has had a consistent annual increase by 30%
since 2008. Further productivity gains are expected in the
coming years as employees become more familiar with the
new plant and equipment.

Coffee

CBSFL Staff

PNGSDP funded K500,000 to establish a dry processing
factory in Morobe Province in partnership with the Neknasi
Coffee Growers Co-operative Society (K400,000), the MP for
Nawaeb (K300,000) and the Morobe Provincial Government
(K400,000). PNGSDP agreed to provide counterpart funding
for the dry processing mill because of the success of the
cooperative and the large membership base numbering
almost 500 people. It is an example of the future coffee
development model supported by Coffee Industry
Corporation.

Consistent and focussed efforts have been made to train and
develop PNG National staff in line with the Company’s
recruitment policy resulting. This has resulted in the total
workforce being made up of 98.2% national staff.

Community Agriculture and Food Security
Nat
In 2012 funding of K100,000 was approved to assist the Bariai
Co-operative Society partner with Agmark Pacific Ltd to
expand its cocoa project and conduct community
development initiatives in Kandrian Gloucester, West New
Britain Province. Planning is underway.
Launching of completed community projects in this sector
included:

It is policy to increase the percentage of forestry workers
employed from within the forest concession area. They now
represent 75% of the total workforce within the Forest
Management Area (FMA) concession.
The Company is committed to sustainability and is working
through the final stages of gaining international and
independent certification of its sustainable forest
management.
Throughout 2012 the Company continued with its
commitment to build schools, teacher’s houses and
community halls in the Cloudy Bay area and has now
completed and handed over 33 buildings to the community.
Affordable Housing

•

Pindi Yaundo Trout Farm Rehabilitation Project,
Gembogl District, Simbu Province (K130,000)

•

Salt Livestock Farmers Co-operative Society Goat
Project, Salt-Nomane, Simbu Province (K250,000)

CBSFL was able to refine its affordable house design and
manufacturing process and during 2012 constructed a two
bedroom modular house for the PNG LNG Project within two
weeks using only village workers under supervision. The
expanded product range now offers 12 standard design
buildings suitable for erection by semi-skilled workers.

•

M’buke Island Improved Agricultural Technologies
Project, Manus Province (K180,000)

Local Market
The buoyant trading conditions experienced in the structural
timber market have enabled the Company to increase its
market share and be in a position where everything
produced was sold in 2012.

SUSTAINABLE FORESTRY
Cloudy Bay Sustainable Forestry Ltd
(CBSFL)

SNRM

Nat
Sawmill Production
After commissioning of all new operational equipment
installed during 2011, the Company worked throughout
2012 to consolidate its operations and carry out further

Despite great progress on environmental management and
social infrastructure, poor productivity which is largely a
function of the skills levels of our staff is impacting on the
Company’s profitability.
Our focus in 2013 will be on gaining international
certification of sustainable forest management, continued

a n nAu N
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development of social infrastructure at Cloudy Bay and
improving staff skills to allow the Company to improve
profitability. We will also focus on our production of prefabricated buildings and supply of sawn timber to the local
market.

FISHERIES

Western Province Forestry Plan –
East Awin Extension

The new general manager for the Barramundi Hatchery
commenced work in January and conducted an immediate
review of the project. Establishing a sustainable hatchery
business on Daru Island where the challenges associated
with logistics are substantial is an ambitious undertaking. It
requires a combination of perseverance, technical skill and
good fortune. Procuring equipment, modifications, repairs
and staff training demand constant effort. Works to ensure a
reliable power supply, and the installation of a salt water
vacuum pump have been significant and necessary
achievements in 2012.

WP

SNRM

East Awin Extension aims to develop a solid-wood
processing business through utilization of the community’s
natural forest resources. Processed solid-wood with high end
value will be exported and remainder used to develop a KitHouse industry in Western Province. Project partner OTFRDP
identified CBSFL as the project implementer.
In 2012, CBSFL concluded the first phase of the forest
inventory of the East Awin Extension, and found low volume
density and a lack of valuable species to justify the
commercial viability of the project. Substantial timber
volume does exist in adjoining forest areas outside of the
CMCA project areas. Inclusion of the adjacent forest area
would have to be considered in order to make the project
commercially viable.

Western Province Sustainable
Aquaculture Project
WP

Pontoon fish trails were completed in November. The best
results came from the pontoon near Daru with an impressive
survival of 85% and total harvest of 1.28 tonnes. Harvest
results from the other trial sites extending up river were
limited due to factors such as; alternative feed trials (one of

Afforestation of grassland areas, Rigo,
Central Province
Nat

SNRM

The Afforestation Project aimed to develop a sustainable
supply of timber, and create supply for a future carbon credit
market and comprised of a series of trials to match suitable
tree species across the varying grassland conditions within
Rigo District (20,000hectares).
In 2012, CBSFL concluded the series of soils and social
mapping investigations within Rigo and Abau districts. Less
favourable growing conditions and high management risks
were revealed by the field study. These concerns make the
project commercially less attractive and the project has been
cancelled.
Fourth pontoon harvest near Daru.
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2013: Findings indicated an alarming trend. The native
species were replaced by invasive species such as the Super
Tilapia, the Snake Head and Saratoga. These species were
reported as far south as the far end of the Middle close to the
South Fly region.

BANKING SERVICES
PNG Microfinance Ltd
PNG Microfinance Ltd (PML) endeavours
to increase financial inclusion in Papua
New Guinea by allowing access to credit and savings
products to the people of the country that have been
excluded from mainstream banking services.
From its affordable passbook savings account charging K1.00
per month to its high interest IBD account, PML’s deposit
products are designed to promote a savings culture.

Sixth pontoon harvest near Daru.

the aims of the project), remoteness, limited communication,
theft, selection of sites and lack of commitment necessary to
farm fish. Participants persevered, and interest in a new
industry for Western Province is growing.

Western Province Fish Survey

PML facilitated payments totaling over K11 million to
beneficiaries of Ok Tedi Mine’s 2012 CMCA payments through
its Kiunga branch and satellite service centers throughout
Western Province. This demonstrates vast improvements in
its internal processes and consumers’ growing confidence as
the alternative ‘bank’ of the people of Western Province.
In 2012 PML embarked on a major rebranding exercise and
an ambitious expansion plan to open three new branch
locations in Port Moresby, Lae and Mt. Hagen. Work is also
underway to introduce a centralized core banking system
that will greatly improve its customer’s banking experience.

WP

SNRM
A resource assessment of the Fly River was
carried out during 2012 to provide a basis for stakeholders to
implement strategic interventions to develop, manage and
expand on the existing fisheries resource utilization in the Fly
River.
There are five stakeholders in the project, with total budget
of K740,000 (PNGSDP, K600,000). The Coastal Inland Fisheries
Development Agency (CIFDA) was nominated to manage
the project, with surveys conducted by the National Fisheries
Agency (NFA), and the Fly River Provincial Government. The
North Fly and Middle Fly surveys were completed, however,
the South Fly survey was disbanded due to the prevailing dry
weather and receding river tides.

Financial Literacy Co-ordinator from OTDF & PML staff in Moian
Village, Western Province.
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Deposits

2007

2010

2011

2012

45,183

47,995

31,747

28,936

29,220

42,185

Accounts-Rest of PNG

82,666

72,140

45,609

40,537

47,923

43,322

127,849

120,135

77,356

69,473

77,143

85,507

Value-WP

12,269,200

15,862,149

12,499,935

11,709,772

20,237,163

20,618,968

Value-Rest of PNG

14,782,000

16,498,145

24,041,366

27,284,445

35,749,719

45,508,646

TOTAL

27,051,200

32,360,294

36,541,301

38,994,217

55,986,882

66,127,614

Loans

2007

2009

2010

2011

2012

2008

Loans Approved-WP

3,493

1,482

609

687

353

456

Loans Approved-Rest of PNG

5,651

3,108

1,889

3,024

2,248

2,515

TOTAL

9,144

4,590

2,498

3,711

2,601

2,971

6,901,756

3,709,979

1,537,627

4,040,753

3,078,989

4,775,484

12,166,466

7,599,303

4,801,318

15,272,939

17,815,162

27,065,755

19,068,222

11,309,282

6,338,945

19,313,692

20,894,151

31,841,239

Value-WP
Valu-Rest of PNG
TOTAL

Deposit Performance - 2007 to 2012

Loans Performance - 2007 to 2012
Amounts in million (Kina)
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PNG Microfinance officers in Daru conducting market outreach and
opening new accounts.
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Financial Literacy Awareness in Moian village in partnership with
OTDF.
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Preparation for
Mine Impacts

Social
Investment

Infrastructure

•
Industry

STRATEGIC ACTION
•

Support accessible and reliable health and
education services with appropriate
technology.

•

Deliver access to safe water and sanitation
to all communities.

•

Build capacity of local delivery agents.

Funding of K63,125 for a water supply project for Waip
Primary School and the surrounding communities in
Mendi, Southern Highlands Province that is conducted
by the community and supported by the Catholic
Diocese of Mendi.

CLEAN WATER AND SANITATION
Community Water and Sanitation Projects
WP
Completed community sanitation projects included:
•

Suabi Community Water and Sanitation Improvement
Project, Nomad, Middle Fly District.

•

New ablution block at the Daru Montfort Primary
School, Daru Island, South Fly District.

Completed water project in Suabi, North Fly, Western Province.

Nat
Approved funding for:
•

Construction of a gravity-fed water supply system and
150 household ventilation improved pit (VIP) latrines for
771 people in Arisisi and Migima villages in Nawaeb
District, Morobe Province to be constructed by the
Adventist Development and Relief Agency with local
community participation (K98,229).

•

Construction of a gravity-fed water supply system
(K250,000 ) for 10,000 people of the Kumbereta and
Tinsley areas, Mul Baiyer Lumusa Electorate, Western
Highlands Province. Project is expected to cost
K800,000 with the two local MPs contributing K275,000
each.

Students from Montfort Primary school celebrating the opening of
the new ablution block funded by PNGSDP.
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HEALTH
PNGSDP Health Projects
Challenged by inadequacies in health services nation-wide
PNGSDP maintains a strategy focused on supporting the
efforts of others and in particular those areas of the health
services committed to long-term involvement in health care.

Community Health Projects
WP

Several community health projects were
undertaken in Western Province in 2012.

Buildings
•

Four kit homes for doctors have been procured under
support for Daru Hospital Infrastructure and Amenities
Project (K2.05 million) with mobilization and
construction in progress.

Drug Storage
•

•

Procurement and installation took place for 32
ATprojects Inc. designed low cost medical waste
incinerators (K291,693). These were designed for
selected small to medium health facilities in Western
Province operated by the Catholic Health Services and
the ECPNG mainly in the North and Middle Fly Districts.

Medical Outreach
•

Mother and child ouside the completed aidpsot.

A drug storage facility (K41,000) for the Catholic Health
Agency Office in Kiunga, North Fly District was
completed in the last quarter of 2012.

Two medical outreaches conducted by Youth With A
Mission Medical Ships Australia (YWAM MSA) in the
Bamu area and Teapopo in Western Province (K450,000),
delivering 19,261 health services, training and upskilling of 119 local Community Health Workers,
administering over 1,200 vaccinations to more than 500
children and delivering community development
programs.

postnatal wards (K225,000) at the Heart of Mary Health
Centre, Alexishafen, Madang Province.
•

Rehabilitation of the Yalis Sub-Health Centre (K250,000)
in Wapenamanda, Enga Province in partnership with
the Enga Provincial Government.

•

Assisting the Sepik Seventh Day Adventist Mission with
the upgrading of the Andefukua Adventist Aid Post
(K250,000).

•

Fatima Sub-Health Centre Relocation and Extension
Project (K150,000) in partnership with the Catholic
Diocese of Mt. Hagen.

Two health building infrastructure projects were completed
and launched during the year:
•

The Hobe Aid Post building and a fully furnished staff
house (K220,000), Karamui District, Simbu Province.

•

Koibuga Sub-Health Centre Paediatric Ward and Staff
House (K250,000), Western Highlands Province.

Equipment
Nat In other parts of the country, funding was
approved for a number of projects.

Equipment
•

Buildings
•
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Support to the Church Health Services of the
Archdiocese of Madang to upgrade the labour and
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Medical equipment, furniture and a new Aid Post
building (K193,000) on Fead (N’guria) Island owned and
run by the United Church Bougainville, Atolls District,
Autonomous Region of Bougainville.

SOCIAL INVESTMENT

•

Provision of cardiac monitoring and emergency
equipment and haematology testing equipment for the
St John’s District Hospital in Gerehu, National Capital
District (K246,720).

HIV and Development
Strengthening capacity of partners adopting the Community
Conversations (CC) concept remained a priority. Capacity
strengthening was levelled at CC program coordination,
training of trainers and participatory monitoring and
evaluation. By the end of 2012 in Western Province, the Kiunga
Community Conversations Team of the Diocese of DaruKiunga, Kiunga Seventh Day Adventist Mission and the Balimo
Local Spiritual Assembly were ready to manage their own CC
programs. Similarly, at the national level were Anglicare Stop
AIDS and the Catholic Archdiocese of Mt Hagen.
Planning for developing the Community Conversations
Capacity Building Training Package into an institutionalised
Competency Based Training Program and an Evaluation Plan
for the HIV and Development Program were finalised.

Western Province International Scholarships
WP
2012 saw six more Western Province grade 12 students
selected to join the 15 students already studying at the Royal
Melbourne Institute of Technology (RMIT) University.
The first four students will graduate from RMIT in 2013 and
2014, in disciplines such as International Business,
Management, Chemical Engineering and Economics and
Finance.
The 21 PNGSDP sponsored students are supported where
necessary with tutorials and advice to assist them
maintaining the standards of academic achievement
demanded by RMIT
K12 million has been committed to-date to PNGSDP’s
Western Province scholarship programs.

Community Education Projects
Funding was approved for:
WP

Both projects will commence implementation in 2013.

Buildings

EDUCATION
Port Moresby Nature Park
The Rainforest Boardwalk, Cassowary Exhibits
and Interpretational Signage project
SNRM
(K153.340) in partnership with Port Moresby
Nature Park was completed and launched in 2012. The
project is part of the education program for school children
in NCD as well as the general public.

Post Graduate Teacher Scholarships

•
A double-story classroom, two staff houses and a
library building (K500,000) at Gretutu Adventist Primary
School in Kiunga, Western Province, in partnership with the
SDA Mission.
Nat
Buildings
•

A double storey six classroom building (K247,749) at St.
Charles Lwanga High School, Gerehu, NCD in
partnership with the Catholic Archdiocese of Port
Moresby.

•

Three staff houses (K250,000) at St. Clare’s Top Up
Primary School conducted by the Catholic Diocese of
Mendi.

•

Supporting the community development initiatives of
the Negiland community in the Henganofi District,
Eastern Highlands Province with the construction of a
community learning centre (K163,200).

•

Kudjip Christian Integrated School Double Classrooms
and Rain Water Catchment Project (K62,500)

•

Support to the Catholic Diocese of Goroka for a
carpentry and mechanical workshop for the newly

WP

25 scholarships have been offered to candidates applying for
the Postgraduate Diploma of Education (PGDE) Program at
Divine Word University. Candidates must be from Western
Province or graduates from other provinces who agree to
teach in Western Province for at least three years.

Western Province National Scholarships

WP

In 2012 16 Western Province students commenced the
academic year under PNGSDP scholarships. Five students
graduated the same year. Applications for scholarships in
2013 were received from 732 applicants.
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established St. Joseph Vocational School in Kefamo
outside Goroka, Eastern Highland Province (K188,600).
•

•

•

A four classroom building (K250,000) at the EBC Kassam
Primary School conducted by the Evangelical
Brotherhood Church, Ombura-Wonenara District,
Eastern Highlands Province.
A double classroom building (K250,000) at Kirene
Primary School, Imbonggu District, Southern Highlands
Province in partnership with the MP for Imbonggu).
A double classroom for the St Patricks Primary School
(K250,000) located on Yule Island in the Central Province
in partnership with the Catholic Diocese of Bereina).

Launchings of community education building infrastructure
projects in 2012:
•

A wireless broadband data transmission system
(K290,000) to aid education of many distant education
students scattered around the islands of the Louisiade
Archipelago, Sudest, Milne Bay Province.

•

A double storey six classroom building (K250,000) at the
Sacred Heart Faniufa Primary School, Goroka, Eastern
Highlands Province.

•

•

St. Arnold Janssen Human Development Centre
(K148,604), Mingende, Kerowagi District, Simbu
Province.

The United Church (Western Region) began construction of
the head teacher’s house at the Edward Baxter Riley Primary
School.
An additional 20 students were selected by the United
Church Education Agency to undertake a two year Diploma
in Primary School Teacher Training program at Gaulim
Teachers’ College, commencing in 2013.

Bougainville Health & Education Rehabilitation
Program
Nat
The Bougainville Health and Education Rehabilitation
Program was successfully completed in 2012. Support was
given to the Catholic and United Church Education and
Health Agencies resulting in improvements in infrastructure
for 18 health centres (K2 million) and five high schools (K2
million).
PNGSDP saw great implementation results with some
challenges of communication and logistics faced by a few
remote projects causing delays. The project team’s efforts as
well as that of the targeted communities helped progress
each one.
Two projects commissioned in 2012 were:
•

A staff house project for the Skotolan Health Centre
(K92,300)

•

A new outpatients' ward at Morotona Health Centre
(K118,372)

St. Theresa Una Primary School double classroom, two
staff houses incorporating water catchments to each
building (K157,000), Lower Mendi, Southern Highlands
Province.

Western Province Church Health & Education
Improvement Program
WP
The Catholic education and health agencies commenced the
year with infrastructure improvement projects (eight in
education and five in health) in the lower Bamu area and the
Kiunga area. The projects involved classrooms, aid post
buildings and furnished staff houses.
Excellent progress and full utilisation of allocated funds
during 2012 resulted in the expansion of the health and
education programs with the Catholic Church, with
additional funding approval of K7million (Health - K4million
Education - K3million).
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New medical worker's house at the Skotolan Health Centre.

SOCIAL INVESTMENT

Jubilant women during the opening of the new outpatients ward at
the Moratona Health Centre.

Happy graduates, Barola Haus Mama Clinic Village Birth Attendants
Training, Henganofi, Eastern Highlands.

Enclosure, Research & Breeding Program, Port Moresby,
NCD (K50,000)

CEO SMALL GRANTS
PNGSDP continues to support an array of development
projects in Western Province and in other provinces through
small grants of up to K50,000 that are approved at the
discretion of the CEO. Projects completed in 2012 included:

Western Province
•

Tabubil Catchment Elementary Schools Cluster
Workshop, Tabubil, Western Province (K23,500)

•

Additional costs for the installation of an incinerator at
Kiunga Hospital (K24,056)

•

Rumginae Rural Hospital Sterilizer Support (K34,605)

•

Rumginae Airstrip Maintenance (K45,650)

•

A solar medical freezer was delivered for Bosset health
Centre. PNGSDP supported the National Department of
Health with the transfer and shipment of the
equipment from Wewak to Kiunga (K1,063)”

National
•

Langarers Elementary School Infrastructure Support,
Wabag, Enga Province (K28,360)

•

Blessed J Mazzuconi Hospital Anaesthetic Machine,
Watuluma, Milne Bay Province (K48,476)

•

East Cape Rain Water Catchment, Milne Bay Province
(K48,759)

•

Gaubin Hospital Drug Purchase Support, Karkar Island,
Madang Province (K5,000)

•

Kapendaga Potato Farming Project, Magarima, Hela
Province (K22,527)

•

Malaysian Association of PNG MBC Charity Golf
Fundraising (K10,000)

•

National Botanical Gardens Expansion of Tree Kangaroo

•

National Cultural Commission Festival of Pacific Arts (K2,
500)

•

Salvation Army Red Shield Appeal (K20,000)

•

Royal Visit by The Prince of Wales and The Duchess of
Cornwall (K15,000)

•

Simbu Plants & Agriculture Show (13,800)

•

University of Technology Election Awareness Team
(K14,395)

•

University of Technology Fly River Staff and Students
Association Cultural Show, Lae (K2,500)

•

Barola Haus Mama Clinic Village Birth Attendants
Training, Henganofi, Eastern Highlands Province
(K23,606)

•

Furnishing and equipping of the Menayama Lutheran
Primary School Library, Morobe Province (K35, 420)

•

Evangelical Lutheran Church of PNG Hagen District VCT
Centre, Western Highlands Province (K50,000)

RURAL SERVICE DELIVERY PILOT
PROJECT
Nat
PNGSDP in partnership with the World Bank signed an
agreement for a pilot project on local level community
driven development which is set to benefit an estimated
280,000 people in 14 LLGs in Western and Central Provinces.
PNGSDP is contributing US$3.8 million towards the project.
The total cost of the project is US$6.11 million (K13.46
million). The Department of Provincial and Local Level
Government Affairs will be the implementing agency.
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M I N E I M PAC T S

Preparation for
Mine Impacts

Social
Investment

Infrastructure

Industry

STRATEGIC ACTION
•

Minimise the dislocation of people from
socioeconomic and environmental impacts of
the mine.

•

Empower communities to sustain and improve
their food security and livelihoods.

Ltd to construct residential housing in Tabubil including a
pilot conversion of existing housing into a duplex, to cater for
future accommodation demands.

Hotel Developments
Successful negotiations held with Steamships Hotels for
potential new hotels in the province. Demand analysis was
completed and a detailed feasibility study is to be
undertaken during 2013.

CMCA WOMEN’S CAPACITY BUILDING
PROJECT IN PARTNERSHIP WITH
OTFRDP
WP
This project suffered setbacks during the year due to
personnel issues with the implementing partner, OTFRDP.

MINE LIFE EXTENSION – OK TEDI
WP
PNGSDP continued its active participation in community
consultations and negotiations associated with the proposed
Mine Life Extension throughout CMCA Trust regions. The
process that began in 2009 seeking prior informed consent
from the mine impacted communities culminated in all the
CMCA Trust regions plus six mine villages signing their
respective compensation packages with OTML, in December.

TABUBIL FUTURES
WP

North Fly Power System
Analysis was completed on the effect of gas,
supplied from the Stanley Gas Field, on the cost
SNRM
of power delivery to Kiunga and the North Fly
region. Working with the Western Power team, the aim is to
ensure the sustainability of power supply at an affordable
cost to the end users.

Affordable Housing
Plans completed for the proto-type affordable housing
project. Contract signed with Avernell Engineering Services
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However some work was achieved, including the
engagement of two service providers, and trainers from
within the CMCA regions to assist with other regions
particularly for sewing skills. Computer and leadership
training was conducted for four regions. In addition, two
PFAs have been completed for two resource centres which
are now ready for construction (in Kiwaba and Dudi regions).
Five learning centres, made from bush materials, were
completed.

ENVIRONMENTAL
MANAGEMENT AND
MONITORING: RIVERINE
IMPACT ASSESSMENT

SNRM

WP
The aim of this project is to deliver village level social impact
information associated with Fly River flooding.
Progress study was slow due mostly to access to OTML data
for completion of Phase 1. The OTML Environment and
Community Relations are key partners to this Project and
both sections were extremely busy throughout the year due
to the community consultations on the MLE. By the end of
the year, Phase 1 had resulted in the completion of a draft
Literature Review and a site visit to the proposed pilot site at
Manda village. MIU continues to work closely with OTML as
well as the FRPG and OTFRDP, to complete the study in 2013.

M I N E I M PAC T S

SMALL SCALE MINING
WP
The objective of the Ok Tedi Small Scale Mining Pilot Project
is two-fold; firstly, it focuses on improving the current
methods used by local miners to increase their daily gold
production from mine waste derived gold dust. The project
also seeks to investigate and develop gold bearing alluvial
deposits along the Ok Tedi River for the purpose of
identifying sustainable sources of income for landowners,
clans and families living in the region.
The project purchased all camping and mining equipment
including suction dredges and established the field base
camp at Ok Menga near Tabubil in October 2012.

Kuindum miners washing out their concentrates into a bowl before
segregating it with the gold pan.

Assembling and testing of the equipment was completed in
November and December 2012 by the Mineral Resources
Authority’s Wau Small Scale Mining Training Centre and the
Wewak based National Gold (PNG) Ltd, including basic
hands-on-training for the local miners to practically assemble
and operate the equipment during the test runs.
The project was challenged by limited accommodation in
Tabubil and dry weather measures towards the end of the
year that impacted on fuel and food rations supply.
However by the year end a total of 104 male and females
graduated with the Basic Level 1 Training and Certificates
facilitated by the MRA. The training included safety and
environmental awareness and proper mining extraction
methods. All parties agreed to extend the project into 2013.

Fungus growing on the side of river banks are used by alluvial
miners as a trap separate gold flecks.

Small scale miners mapping out area to mine.
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PNGSDP Communications Department
In 2012 PNGSDP set up a Communications division within
the Company to coordinate stakeholder engagements,
media and public relations activities. In 2012 the division
coordinated:
•

Corporate stakeholder events

•

Media releases in response to extensive media
coverage of PNGSDP towards the end of 2012

•

CEO’s media articles

•

Staff newsletters

•

Advertisements in key magazine publications

Annual Report Meeting
The Board of Directors reports regularly to the Members, and
stakeholders in Papua New Guinea.
Under the Rules, the Company must hold an Annual Report
Meeting every year. The 2012 Annual Report was presented
at the tenth PNGSDP Annual Report Meeting convened at
the Crowne Plaza Conference Room in Port Moresby on 5
June, 2012. The meeting was attended by key stakeholders of
the Company. The Chairman and all Non-Executive Directors
of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer, and all PNGSDP staff
were present.

Annual Report Meeting.
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Memorandum of Understanding between
PNGSDP and OTFRDP
A Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) was signed on July
9, 2012 between Ok Tedi Fly River Development Foundation
(OTFRDP) and PNGSDP for greater cooperation in the delivery
of projects within the Community Mine Continuation
Agreement (CMCA) communities of the Fly River Corridor of
Western Province. Both organisations share a mandate to
improve the lives of Western Province people, particularly
within the mine affected corridor.
As a funding organisation, PNGSDP requires reliable partners
that can implement development projects. The MOU
recognises OTFRDP as a key Western Province based partner
for delivery of projects within the CMCA corridor.
Under this arrangement the 9 CMCA Trusts of the Ok Tedi
Mine impacted communities representing 156 villages with a
population of about 100,000 have also become co-funders of
the CMCA projects undertaken by PNGSDP through its
Western Province Regional Office within the CMCA corridor
implemented in partnership with OTFRDP.

CEO of PNGSDP David Sode and CEO of OTML Nigel Parker holding
up a copy of the MOU.

S TA K E H O L D E R E N G AG E M E N T

Memorandum of Agreement between PNGSDP
and FRPG
On 1 September, 2012, PNGSDP signed a five year
Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) with the Fly River
Provincial Government (FRPG) agreeing to work together to
enhance and promote sustainable development in Western
Province.
PNGSDP through its development and investment funds
implements broad based key socio-economic program
activities. FRPG through its annual budgets implements key
physical infrastructure projects and major socio-economic
proposals.

Western Province Health Steering Committee
Forum
PNGSDP is an active member of the Western Province Health
Steering Committee (WPHSC) in partnership with the
National Department of Health, FRPG, Ok Tedi Mining Ltd,
OTFRDP, AusAID and churches to address health issues in
Western Province. Other development partners operating in
the province have an ‘observer status’ on the WPHSC Chaired
by the Western Province Administrator.

improvement works. Members of the Fly River Provincial
Government including the Governor of Western Province
and Member for South Fly were present to launch the
projects, as well as CEO and staff of PNGSDP and other
dignitaries. The launchings demonstrated PNGSDP’s
commitment to high-impact development in the former
provincial capital, and was witnessed by the local population
and covered extensively in the local media.

Tribute to the late Sir Ebia Olewale
PNGSDP funded the publication of a book titled ‘Ebia
Olewale: A Life of Service’ commemorating the life of the
Company’s late Director, Sir Ebia Olewale. The book is a
record of his dedicated service to the development of the
country. The book was launched on 5 June, 2012 and
attended by the family of late Sir Ebia, the PNGSDP Board of
Directors, and other colleagues and friends.

Western Province Education Forum
On the 24 July 2012, PNGSDP in partnership with the Western
Province Education Division and OTFRDP organised the first
Education Forum in Kiunga.
One of the major outcomes of the forum was the
establishment of the Western Province Education Steering
Committee to be established in 2013 taking on board a
multi-agency approach similar to the Western Province
Health Steering Committee.

CEO Media Updates
The Chief Executive Officer’s media articles commenced in
July 2011 and continued throughout 2012. Informative
stories on community development initiatives were
published in the national dailies. After 12 months of weekly,
half-page articles, the frequency of publication was reduced
to fortnightly articles.

Daru Launchings and Openings
On the 1st of June, 2012 the launching of four projects took
place in Daru: Daru Airport, Daru trestle wharf, Tawo’o Point
industrial sheet pile wharf and the Daru Water Supply

The Olewale family and author of the book Dr. Jonathan Ritchie.

Twenty-eighth Australia PNG Business Forum,
Brisbane, Australia
PNGSDP attended the annual bilateral business forum
between Australia and PNG organised by the Business
Council of PNG from 15-16 May, 2012. PNGSDP CEO, David
Sode, presented a paper on the Company’s infrastructure
programs with a focus on subsidiary company PNG Energy
Development Limited (PNGEDL).
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Other development programs and projects were showcased
at a display booth to potential development partners and
investors, with the aim to broaden business relationships.
The forum is attended by key government ministers, and
industry leaders from Australia and PNG and a range of
expert speakers.

Documentary Series (Part 2): The Impact of the
Telecommunication
Towers
on
Rural
Communities
PNGSDP developed a documentary to record the feasibility
and construction phase of the Western Province
telecommunications towers. Part 1 was successfully
completed and presented at the tenth Annual Report
Meeting and subsequently televised on EMTV.
Part 2 of the documentary series commenced in 2012 and
will be completed for presentation at the eleventh Annual
Report Meeting in 2013. This will cover the socioeconomic
impact of telecommunications on the lives of the people of
Western Province.

Seventh International Mine Closure Conference,
Brisbane, Australia

International Mine Closure Conference held on 27-29
September, 2012. The conference emphasized the need for
progressive rehabilitation throughout mining operations
instead of waiting for mine closure. PNGSDP’s booth
showcased the Company’s contribution to the social
considerations of mine closure.
Small scale mining is an activity that is likely to be the end
land use after mine closure, particularly for communities
living in the vicinity of the Ok Tedi River. PNGSDP’s display on
this initiative drew interest from visitors to the booth,
particularly from the African continent.

Twelfth Mining and Petroleum Investment
Conference, Sydney, Australia
The 2012 Mining and Petroleum Investment Conference,
organised by the PNG Chamber of Mines and Petroleum, was
held in Sydney from 3-4 December, 2012 and covered
sessions and seminars presented by key government
ministers and expert speakers based on the theme ‘A
Foundation For Growth and Prosperity: With success comes
responsibility’. PNGSDP’s display booth informed conference
attendees on the purpose of the Company, the fund portfolio
and investments made in Western Province and the country.

PNGSDP sponsored an exhibition booth at the 2012

The unique booth attracted conference attendees to find out more about the work PNGSDP is doing
with mining communities in Western Province.
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Prince Charles Visit
The Diamond Jubilee of Queen Elizabeth II was celebrated by
53 Commonwealth countries in 2012. To commemorate the
60th year of the Queen’s reign, Papua New Guinea and 14
other Realm countries in the Commonwealth were visited by
members of the Royal Family.
At the request of the Department of Foreign Affairs and
Trade, PNGSDP contributed K15,000 to sponsor 15 sing-sing
groups that added a cultural touch to the three-day royal
visit. PNGSDP was also invited to setup a display booth at the
Port Moresby Adventure Park, which was visited by the
Royals on Sunday 5th November. The focus of the stall was
the conservation of the Hindenburg Wall in Western
Province. His Royal Highness the Prince of Wales, an avid
patron of environmental conservation, was presented with a
desktop study collating the limited data available and
PNGSDP’s work in supporting the conservation of the
Hindenburg Wall.
Royal Mail Letter

Prince Charles meets Susil Nelson, Corporate Governance Manager.

CEO David Sode presenting the Hindenburg Wall Review to the Prince of Wales.
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INCOME AND EXPENDITURE

Contractual Obligations

Funds Status

PNGSDP has contractual obligations arising out of a number
of agreements dated 11 December 2001, with implications
for the balance sheet of the Program Company.

PNGSDP is a company registered in Singapore and “limited by
guarantee,” which means that it has no share capital,
debentures, share options or unissued shares. The Program
Company’s operations are governed by a set of rules and
agreements that pertain to its unique structure and
circumstances.
Under its Constitution, the Program Company may do all
such things to achieve the objects for which it was
established. The Rules of PNGSDP specify procedures for the
application of income received and the determination of
contractual obligations, as well as investment policy and
guidelines.
The total net assets of PNGSDP in 2012 amounted to US$1.51
billion (K3.18 billion) [2011: US$1.42 billion (K3.06billion)]. In
accordance with the Rules of PNGSDP the assets of the
Program Company are represented by the Members’
Subscription, the Long Term Fund, the Development Fund
and the General Fund as documented in the table below.
PNGSDP is party to a number of agreements, dated 11
December 2001, which confer both actual and contingent
liabilities on the Program Company. Obligations arising
under these agreements are secured by an equitable charge
over the dividend stream attached to PNGSDP’s shares in
OTML. This charge is held by a security trustee, Insinger Trust
(Singapore) Ltd.
The PNGSDP Group also includes subsidiaries and joint
ventures of the Program Company, namely OTML, PNG
Microfinance Ltd, PNG Energy Developments Ltd and Cloudy
Bay Forestry Ltd. The contribution of OTML to the PNGSDP
Group is accounted for as an investment in a jointly
controlled entity by the Program Company. The assets of
OTML do not appear on the balance sheet of the Program
Company.

Total Net Assets of PNGSDP in 2012
USD

Under the Deed of Indemnity with BHP Billiton, the Program
Company has agreed to indemnify BHP Billiton against any
liability under claims for both environmental damage arising
out of the operation of the mine after 7 February 2002, and
breach of environmental laws in relation to mine operations
before 7 February 2002.
Under the Deed of Indemnity with the State, PNGSDP has
agreed to indemnify the State against all liability arising
under a claim for environmental damage caused by the
operation of the mine before 7 February 2002 resulting from
an act or omission by BHP Billiton in breach of its obligations
under its management agreement or in breach of
environmental law.
Under the Option Deed, the Program Company has agreed at
the request of OTML to indemnify the independent Directors
of OTML in respects of claims against them arising out of
their acting as such directors, to the extent that appropriate
insurance is not available on commercial terms.
Under the Subsidy Deed, PNGSDP has agreed to pay as a
non-refundable subsidy an amount equal to increased
borrowing costs and charges incurred by OTML as a result of
not being a subsidiary of BHP Billiton. The amount of this
subsidy is restricted up to an average weighted increase of all
rates, costs and charges of 2.5% and on a maximum loan
commitment of US$120 million.

Representation of PNGSDP Assets in 2012
USD

PNG Kina

Current Assets

560,490,934

1,178,740,135

Non-Current Assets

972,509,223

2,045,234,959

Liabilities

(19,500,412)

(41,010,330)

1,513,499,745

3,182,964,764

Members’ Subscription
General Fund

Net Assets
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Long Term Fund
Development Fund
Total Funds

PNG Kina
17

36

2,903,581

6,106,374

1,351,856,155

2,843,020,305

158,739,992

333,838,049

1,513,499,745

3,182,964,764
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INCOME AND EXPENDITURE
Income

Expenditure

The Company is required by its rules to apply its income to
the Long Term Fund and the Development Fund. The Long
Term Fund represents 2/3 of net income received from OTML
after deducting operating expenses and all other legal
contractual obligations, and the Development Fund
represents the remaining 1/3.

Expenditure on projects under the Sustainable Development
Program accounted for over 87% of the Program Company’s
expenditure in 2012, amounting to US$127.7 million (K266.1
million)[2011: US$135.9 million (K317.8 million)].

The Company received gross dividend income of US$221.9
million (K462.4 million) [2011:221.9 million (K518.9 million)]
from OTML during 2012.
Total investment income from funds invested amounted to
US$31.1million (K64.7 million) [2011: US$35.6million (K83.2
million)]. Return on investments represents an important
source of income to the Company.
PNGSDP pays the same taxes to GoPNG that would have
been paid by BHP Billiton if the Ok Tedi Mine had continued
to operate under its previous ownership. A 10% dividend
withholding tax of US$22.2 million was deducted in respect
of dividend income from OTML and paid to the PNG Internal
Revenue Commission during 2012. No Singapore income tax
is payable on the basis that none of the Program Company’s
dividend or interest income is remitted to Singapore.

INCOME IN 2012

Investment Income

The Company spent US$2.7 million (K5.6million) [2011:
US$2.3million(K5.5 million)] on governance in 2012 This
comprised of Directors’ fees, Board administration, the
annual report and stakeholder meetings, the Company Audit
and the Company Secretary.
In accordance with its rules a yearly budget of administration
costs is approved by the Board of Directors. Expenses
attributable to the operation of the Company cannot exceed
15% of the average annual income of the Company during
the immediate preceding three years.

EXPENDITURE IN 2012
USD

Dividend OTML

The Company spentUS$13.2million (K27.5million) [2011:
US$7.7million (K17.9million)] on administration during 2012,
spent on staff costs, travel, insurance, financial expenses,
professional services and information services, amongst
other costs. Administration expenses include rental and
repairs and maintenance costs for the new PNGSDP offices in
Port Moresby.

PNG Kina

221,900,000

462,387,997

31,065,772

64,733,845

252,965,772

527,121,842

US$
Governance
Administration
Investment Program
Costs
Development Costs

K

2,722,397
13,235,895

5,672,842
27,580,527

3,023,318
127,732,802

6,299,892
266,165,455
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FUNDS MANAGEMENT
Investment Funds of the Program Company
The Long Term Fund (LTF) represents 2/3 of net income
received from OTML after deducting operating expenses and
all other legal contractual obligations as specified in the
Rules of the Program Company relating to the application of
the income received. Under the Rules of the Program
Company, funds from the Long Term Fund must be invested
in ‘low risk’ investments.
The primary objective of the investment program of PNGSDP
is to increase the size of the Long Term Fund through interest
rate earnings, dividend income, capital gains and foreign
exchange gains. As the size of the LTF builds up before mine
closure, annual investment income will ideally increase to the
point where investment earnings can meet the annual
expenditure requirements of the Program Company without
materially reducing real capital of the Fund.

Whilst the Development Fund is primarily utilised by the
Sustainable Development Program to make expenditures on
projects, each year the balance of the Development Fund
which has not been disbursed is invested through the
Investment Program, with the objective that it will be
available with interest for expenditure on projects in later
years.
The Board of Directors has established an Investment and
Finance Committee to oversee the Program Company’s
Investment Policy and Guidelines.
In 2012, the Long Term Fund increased from US$1.2 billion
(K2.6 billion) to US$1.35 billion (K2.84 billion) mainly due to
dividend received from Ok Tedi Mine in 2012.
Rate of Return
The weighted annual rate of return for the LTF in 2012
was+3.23%, while the weighted average rate of return over
the life of the fund is +4.21%.

The investment activities for the Long Term Funds are managed by the following fund managers in accordance with the
investment policies and guidelines approved by the Board:

Fund manager

Country

Balance under management

Deutsche Asset Management Ltd

Germany

$103,741,336

HSBC Global Asset Management Ltd

Hong Kong

$197,079,002

Newton Capital Management Ltd

United Kingdom

$257,258,742

Nutrimenta Finance & Investments Ltd

Switzerland

$100,657,924

Philip Capital Securities (Hong Kong) Ltd

Hong Kong

$28,936,158

Pictet Asset Management Ltd

Switzerland

$99,772,308

Schroders & Co Ltd

United Kingdom

$144,055,293

Add:
Cash balances and local investments

$420,355,392

Total Long Term Fund

$1,351,856,155

Value of the Long Term Fund (US$ millions) presented since 2005
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2005

2006

2007

2008

2009

2010

2011

2012

Value at the end of the
financial year (USD in
millions)

175.5

376.6

594.2

677.8

817.9

1,044.8

1,201.5

1,351.8

Weighted Average Rate
of return

4.44%

7.80%

14.08%

-2.62%

5.01%

3.55%

3.19%

3.23
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1,600
1,400
1,200
1,000

from Ok Tedi Mining Ltd to the Development Fund will cease
and the Long Term Fund will be utilised to support ongoing
activities of the Sustainable Development Program, which
PNGSDP should be able to sustain for 40 years or more after
mine closure.
Following Board approval, PNGSDP management must
conclude a Project Funding Agreement with project partners
in order for financial resources to be allocated for
implementation of the project. Only funding which has been
approved through this process can be disbursed from the
Development Fund.

800

2012

2011

2010

2009

2008

2007

2006

2005

2004

2003

600
400
200
2002

LTF Balance in USD Millions

The graph below shows the growth in the Long Term Fund
and the portion of funds under management:

Year

New projects approved in 2012 amounted to K367.5million.
This is higher than K155.8million of new projects approved
during 2011.

Cash and local investments
Funds under management

THE DEVELOPMENT FUND
The Development Fund is used to support development
projects under the Sustainable Development Program.
PNGSDP works together with project partners in order to
identify develop and finance projects that meet our
sustainable development criteria.
The Development Fund receives one third of dividend
income from OTML after deducting operating expenses,
contractual and other legal obligations. Between now and
mine closure in 2015, one third of the Development Fund is
allocated to the Western Province Fund and two thirds is
allocated to the National Fund. After mine closure, income

Project Funding Approvals and Disbursements
2012

K

The Development Fund disbursement was lower than prior
year with K266.3 million disbursed during 2012 compared to
K317.8 million in 2011.
Cumulative approved project funding
Since 2002, cumulative approved project funding from the
Development Fund amounts to over K1,537.3million.
Cumulative disbursements on Western Province and National
Projects have been K235.3million and K820.7million
respectively. Cumulative approved project funding for
Western Province is 102% of the National fund and this
reflects the priority that the PNGSDP continues to place on
supporting sustainable development in Western Province”.

Project Funding Approvals and Disbursements
Since 2002

US$ millions
K

New Approved Project
Funding

367.5

176.4

Disbursements

266.3

127.8

2011

Development Fund project allocations and expenditures
in 2012

K

US$ millions

New Approved Project
Funding

155.8

62.3

Disbursements

317.8

135.9

US$ millions

Cumulative Approved Project
Funding 2002-2012

1,537.3

668.1

National Fund

1,082.9

467.9

454.5

200.1

1,055.8

439.1

National Fund

820.5

343.2

Western Province Fund

235.3

95.9

Western Province Fund
Total Cumulative
Disbursements 2002-2012
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FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
The directors present their report to the members together with the audited financial statements of the Group for the financial
year ended 31 December 2012 and the balance sheet as at 31 December 2012, the statement of comprehensive income and
the statement of changes in equity of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2012.
Directors
The directors of the Company during the year and in office at the date of this report are as follows:
Sir Mekere Morauta
Patricia Joy Caswell
Donald Wabirao Manoa
Lim How Teck
Rex Lam Paki
Philip James Bainbridge
David Sode
Modowa Trevor Gumoi

(Appointed on 30 October 2012)

(Appointed on 2 March 2012)
(Appointed on 2 March 2012)
(Appointed on 9 April 2013)

Arrangements to enable directors to acquire shares and debentures
Neither at the end of nor at any time during the financial year was the Company a party to any arrangement whose object was
to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Directors’ interests in shares, debentures and share options
The Company is limited by guarantee and has no share capital, debentures, share options or unissued shares. None of the
directors holding office at the end of the financial year had any interest in the shares, debentures or share options of any related
corporations.
Directors’ contractual benefits
Since the end of the previous financial year, no director has received or become entitled to receive a benefit by reason of a
contract made by the Company or a related corporation with the director or with a firm of which he is a member or with a
company in which he has a substantial financial interest, except as disclosed in the accompanying financial statements, and
except that Sir Mekere Morauta was appointed as nominee director of OK Tedi Mining Limited effective from 11 January 2013
and receives remuneration in this capacity (on a pro-rated basis, as the case may be), which is payable by the Company. Prior to
this, Dr Ross Garnaut was the nominee director of OK Tedi Mining Limited prior to his resignation effective from 11 January 2013.
Sir Mekere was appointed, and Dr Ross Garnaut resigned, as Director of the Company on 30 October 2012.
On behalf of the Directors

SIR MEKERE MORAUTA
Director

DONALD WABIRAO MANOA
Director

LIM HOW TECK
Director (Audit Committee Chairman)
17 April 2013
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STATEMENT BY DIRECTORS
In the opinion of the Directors,
(a)

the statement of comprehensive income, balance sheet and statement of changes in equity of the Company and the
consolidated financial statements of the Group as set out on pages 6 to 69 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 December 2012 and of the results of the business and
changes in equity of the Company and of the Group and cash flows of the Group for the financial year then ended; and

(b)

at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and
when they fall due.

On behalf of the Directors

SIR MEKERE MORAUTA
Director

DONALD WABIRAO MANOA
Director

FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

LIM HOW TECK
Director (Audit Committee Chairman)
17 April 2013
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF PNG SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM
LIMITED
Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of PNG Sustainable Development Program Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 54 to 115, which comprise the balance sheets of the Company and of the
Group as at 31 December 2012, the statement of comprehensive income of the Company and of the Group, the statement of
changes in equity of the Company and of the Group, and the consolidated statement of cash flows of the Group for the financial
year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with the
provisions of the Singapore Companies Act (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards, and for devising and
maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded
against loss from unauthorised use or disposition, that transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as
necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair profit and loss accounts and balance sheets and to maintain accountability
of assets.
Auditor’s Responsibility

FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those Standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers
internal controls relevant to the entity’s preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the entity’s internal controls. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF PNG SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM
LIMITED (continued)
Basis for Qualified Opinion
Included in balance sheet as at 31 December 2012 is an investment in a joint venture, Ok Tedi Mining Limited (OTML), with the
carrying value of US$ 876,097,092. Due to the matters described in Note 13 to the financial statements, we were unable to obtain
sufficient evidence to ascertain the recoverability of the carrying value of this investment. As a result, we are unable to satisfy
ourselves on the recoverability of the carrying value of investment in OTML and whether any adjustments might have been
found necessary in respect of the carrying value of the investment in OTML.
Qualified Opinion
In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion paragraph, the
consolidated financial statements of the Group and the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provision of the
Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the
Company as at 31 December 2012, and the results, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group and the Company for the
financial year ended on that date.
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company have been properly kept in
accordance with the provisions of the Act.

FINANCIAL
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PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP
Public Accountants and Certified Public Accountants

Singapore, 17 April 2013
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
The Group
Note

2012
US$

2011
US$

4
4
4

21,869,837
31,364,214
53,234,051

13,490,250
37,218,546
50,708,796

221,900,000
5,450,000
31,065,772
258,415,772

221,900,000
35,641,525
257,541,525

Expenses
Governance costs
Administration costs
Fund management costs

5
5
5

(3,139,033)
(40,878,148)
(3,023,318)
(47,040,499)

(2,340,386)
(31,742,919)
(2,027,660)
(36,110,965)

(2,722,397)
(13,235,895)
(3,023,318)
(18,981,610)

(2,340,386)
(7,660,797)
(2,027,660)
(12,028,843)

6,193,552

14,597,831

239,434,162

245,512,682

(92,705,869)

(96,713,936)

(127,732,802)

(135,904,999)

Operating (deficit)/surplus from operations

(86,512,317)

(82,116,105)

111,701,360

109,607,683

Share of results of joint ventures

277,233,165

337,087,976

-

-

190,720,848

254,971,871

111,701,360

109,607,683

(33,266,247)

(24,031,165)

(23,834,094)

(23,433,570)

157,454,601

230,940,706

87,867,266

86,174,113

5,133,807
7,945,127
13,078,934

146,364,760
4,555,796
150,920,556

-

-

170,533,535

381,861,262

87,867,266

86,174,113

157,175,219
279,382
157,454,601

230,964,624
(23,918)
230,940,706

87,867,266
87,867,266

86,174,113
86,174,113

169,720,585
812,950
170,533,535

382,001,391
(140,129)
381,861,262

87,867,266
87,867,266

86,174,113
86,174,113

Development program costs

5

13

Surplus before income tax
Income tax expense

7

Surplus from operations
Other comprehensive surplus:
Currency translation difference arising
from consolidation
Share of hedge reserve in joint venture

13

Total comprehensive surplus:
Surplus from operations attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive surplus attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company
Non-controlling interests

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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2011
US$

Revenue
Dividends from investment in a joint venture
Revenue from other activities, net
Other investment income

Operating surplus before development
program costs
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2012
US$

The Company

P N G S U S TA I N A B L E D E V E LO P M E N T P R O G R A M LT D

P N G S D P LT D F I N A N C I A L S TAT E M E N T S
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BALANCE SHEET
The Group
Note

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss
Finance lease receivables
Other receivables
Inventory

Non-current assets
Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss
Finance lease receivables
Other receivables
Investment in joint ventures
Investment in subsidiaries
Property, plant and equipment

468,731,200

251,258,953

464,156,662

9
10
11

209,952,949
7,530,504
20,314,105
4,307,469
501,403,253

136,303,309
7,681,987
25,322,745
4,918,581
642,957,822

207,736,543
101,495,438
560,490,934

136,303,309
59,811,879
660,271,850

9
10
11
13
14
15

925,122,098
29,979,861
65,047,500
918,172,564
18,467,583
1,956,789,606
2,458,192,859

772,550,922
37,504,751
818,862,321
5,596,259
1,634,514,253
2,277,472,075

925,122,098
39,794,867
1
7,592,257
972,509,223
1,533,000,157

759,740,651
16,871,105
1
355,302
776,967,059
1,437,238,909

17

43,647,174
1,876,151
45,523,325

42,709,208
2,059,021
44,768,229

18,474,430
1,025,982
19,500,412

11,005,893
600,537
11,606,430

18

54,091,792

44,659,639

-

-

99,615,117

89,427,868

19,500,412

11,606,430

2,358,577,742

2,188,044,207

1,513,499,745

1,425,632,479

17
2,112,498,510

17
1,955,323,291

17

17

2,903,581
1,351,856,155
158,739,992

2,903,581
1,201,463,955
221,264,926

1,513,499,745
1,513,499,745

1,425,632,479
1,425,632,479

NET ASSETS

Non-controlling interests
Total equity

2011
US$

259,298,226

Total liabilities

CAPITAL EMPLOYED AND RESERVES
Members’ subscriptions
Funds, comprises of:
- General Fund
- Long Term Fund
- Development Fund
Share of hedge reserve of a joint
venture – Ok Tedi Mining Ltd
Foreign currency translation reserve

2012
US$

19
20
20
20

(1,105,787)
246,357,978
2,357,750,718
827,024
2,358,577,742

(9,050,914)
241,757,739
2,188,030,133
14,074
2,188,044,207

FINANCIAL
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Non-current liabilities
Deferred income tax liability

2011
US$

8

Total assets
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Sundry creditors and accruals
Provisions for employee leave

2012
US$

The Company

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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17

17

17

Total comprehensive income
and reserves for the year
End of financial year

2011
Beginning of financial year

Total comprehensive income
and reserves for the year
End of financial year
230,964,624
1,955,323,291

1,724,358,667

157,175,219
2,112,498,510

1,955,323,291

Total
funds
US$

4,555,796
(9,050,914)

(13,606,710)

7,945,127
(1,105,787)

(9,050,914)

Share of hedge
reserve of
joint venture Ok Tedi Mining
Limited
US$

Attributable to the Company

146,480,971
241,757,739

95,276,768

4,600,239
246,357,978

241,757,739

Foreign
currency
translation
reserve
US$

382,001,391
2,188,030,133

1,806,028,742

169,720,585
2,357,750,718

2,188,030,133

Total
US$

(140,129)
14,074

154,203

812,950
827,024

14,074

Noncontrolling
interests
US$

381,861,262
2,188,044,207

1,806,182,945

170,533,535
2,358,577,742

2,188,044,207

Total
equity
US$

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

There is a requirement under the rules of the Company [refer Note 2.1.15] for the allocation of revenues and expenses and transfers from the General Fund to the Long
Term Fund and the Development Fund. No transfers are made at a Group level as dividend income from the jointly controlled entity OK Tedi Mining Limited is equity
accounted.

17

Members’
subscription
US$

2012
Beginning of financial year

The Group
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
The Company

Note

Members’
subscription
US$

General
fund
US$

Long term
fund
US$

Development
fund
US$

Total
US$

17

2,903,581

1,201,463,955

221,264,926

1,425,632,479

2012
Beginning of financial year
Total comprehensive surplus

19

-

189,387,733

24,133,711

(125,654,178)

87,867,266

Transfer from General Fund

19

-

(189,387,733)

126,258,489

63,129,244

-

17

2,903,581

1,351,856,155

158,739,992

1,513,499,745

17

2,903,581

1,044,803,634

291,751,134

1,339,458,366

End of financial year

2011
Beginning of financial year
Total comprehensive surplus

19

-

192,825,198

28,110,189

(134,761,274)

86,174,113

Transfer from General Fund

19

-

(192,825,198)

128,550,132

64,275,066

-

17

2,903,581

1,201,463,955

221,264,926

1,425,632,479

End of financial year

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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The allocation of revenues and expenses and transfers from the General Fund to the Long Term Fund and the Development Fund
are determined in accordance with the rules of the Company [refer Note 2.1.15].
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Note
Cash flows from operating activities
Surplus from operations
Adjustments for:
Income tax expense
Depreciation
Amortisation – inscribed stock premium
Impairment of property plant and equipment
Fair value loss (gains) on financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
Interest income
Share of results of joint ventures
Other dividend income
Currency translation differences
Operating cash flow before working capital changes
Change in working capital
Other receivables and finance lease receivables
Sundry creditors and accruals
Inventory
Cash used in operations
Interest received
Dividends received
Withholding tax paid on dividends received
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of financial asset at fair value through profit and loss
Other dividend received
Withholding tax paid on dividends received
Proceeds from sale of financial asset at fair value through
profit or loss
Acquisition of interest in joint venture
Joint venture shareholder cash calls
Purchases of property, plant and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of financial year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of financial year

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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8
8

2012
US$

2011
US$

157,454,601

230,940,706

33,266,247
1,409,109
186,024
-

24,031,165
4,497,986
95,401
23,783,164

(5,843,656)
(16,961,109)
(277,233,165)
(8,559,449)
(22,823,767)
(139,105,165)

(10,607,563)
(20,192,562)
(337,087,976)
(6,418,421)
30,124,246
(60,833,854)

(52,362,487)
755,096
611,112
(190,101,444)
16,961,109
221,900,000
(22,190,000)
26,569,665

16,964,536
22,695,583
(1,870,199)
(23,043,934)
20,192,562
221,900,000
(22,190,000)
196,858,628

(1,746,593,416)
8,559,449
(1,644,094)

(1,288,146,951)
6,418,421
(1,243,570)

1,540,879,617
(22,923,762)
(14,280,433)
(236,002,639)

1,230,580,133
(23,297,524)
(15,807,644)
(91,497,135)

(209,432,974)
468,731,200
259,298,226

105,361,493
363,369,707
468,731,200

P N G S D P LT D F I N A N C I A L S TAT E M E N T S
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial statements.

1.

General information
PNG Sustainable Development Program Limited (“PNGSDP”) is incorporated and domiciled in Singapore. The address
of its principal place of business is Level 7, Pacific Place, Champion Parade, PO Box 1786, Port Moresby, Papua New
Guinea. The address of its registered office is 10 Collyer Quay, #14-01 Ocean Financial Centre, Singapore 049315.
The principal activity of the Company is to promote sustainable development within Papua New Guinea, and advance
the general welfare of the people of Papua New Guinea, particularly those of the Western Province of Papua New
Guinea, through supporting programs and projects in the areas of capacity building, health, education, economic
development, infrastructure, community self-reliance, local community leadership and institutional capacity and other
social and environmental purposes for the benefit of those people.
The principal activities of the subsidiaries are stated in Note 14.

2.1

Significant accounting policies

2.1.1

Basis of preparation
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”).
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These
policies have been consistently applied to all years presented. The financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, except as disclosed in the accounting policies below.

Interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in 2012
On 1 January 2012, the Group adopted the new or amended FRS and Interpretations to FRS (“INT FRS”) that are
mandatory for application for the financial year. Changes to the Group’s accounting policies have been made as
required, in accordance with the transitional provisions in the respective FRS and INT FRS.

FINANCIAL
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The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRS requires management to exercise its judgement in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. It also requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates and
assumptions. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in Note 3.

The adoption of these new or amended FRS and INT FRS did not result in substantial changes to the accounting
policies of the Group and the Company and had no material effect on the amounts reported for the current or prior
financial years.
2.1.2

Revenue recognition
Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods and rendering of
services in the ordinary course of the Group and Company activities. Revenue is presented, net of value-added tax,
rebates and discounts, and after eliminating sales within the Group.
The Group and the Company recognises revenue when the amount of revenue and related cost can be reliably
measured when it is probable that the collectability of related receivables is reasonably assured and when specific
criteria for each of the Group and Company activities are met as follows.
(a)

Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

(b)

Interest income
Interest income, including income arising from finance leases and other financial instruments, is recognised
using the effective interest method.
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2.1

Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.1.2

Revenue recognition (continued)

2.1.3

(c)

Surplus on sale of a financial asset
On sale of a financial asset, the difference between the net sale proceeds and its carrying amount is taken to the
profit or loss. Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of investment in securities [Note 2.1.17] that have
been designated as “Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss”are included in revenue as other income
from investments in the financial year in which the changes in fair value arise.

(d)

Sale of timber products
The Group harvest, mills and sells timber products. Sales of goods are recognised when the Group has delivered
the product to the customers, the customers have accepted the product and the collectability of the related
receivables is reasonably assured.

Group accounting
(a)

Subsidiaries
(i) Consolidation
Subsidiaries are entities (including special purpose entities) over which the Group has power to govern the
financial and operating policies so as to obtain benefits from its activities, generally accompanied by a
shareholding giving rise to a majority of the voting rights. The existence and effect of potential voting
rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group
controls another entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the
Group. They are de-consolidated from the date on which control ceases.

FINANCIAL
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, transactions, balances and unrealised gains on
transactions between group entities are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated but are
considered an impairment indicator of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
Non-controlling interests are that part of the net results of operations and of net assets of a subsidiary
attributable to the interests which are not owned directly or indirectly by the equity holders of the
Company. They are shown separately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, statement
of changes in equity and balance sheet. Total comprehensive income is attributed to the non-controlling
interests based on their respective interests in a subsidiary, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.
(ii)

Acquisition of businesses
The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations by the Group.
The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the fair value of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration
transferred also includes the fair value of any contingent consideration arrangement and the fair value of
any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are,
with limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.
On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree
at the date of acquisition either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the
acquiree’s net identifiable assets.
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2.1

Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.1.3

Group accounting (continued)
(a)

Subsidiaries (continued)
(ii) Acquisition of businesses (continued)
The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and
the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the net
identifiable assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. Please refer to Note 2.1.6(a) for the subsequent
accounting policy on goodwill.
(iii) Disposals of subsidiaries or businesses
When a change in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary results in a loss of control over the
subsidiary, the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary including any goodwill are derecognised. Amounts
recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are also reclassified to profit or loss or
transferred directly to retained earnings if required by a specific Standard.
Any retained interest in the entity is remeasured at fair value. The difference between the carrying amount
of the retained investment at the date when control is lost and its fair value is recognised in profit or loss.
Please refer to Note 2.1.4 for the accounting policy on investments in subsidiaries.
Transactions with non-controlling interests
Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control over the
subsidiary are accounted for as transactions with equity owners of the Group. Any difference between the
change in the carrying amounts of the non-controlling interest and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised in a separate reserve within equity attributable to the equity holders of the Company.

(c)

Joint ventures
The Group’s joint ventures are entities over which the Group has contractual arrangements to jointly share the
control over the economic activity of the entities with one or more parties. The Group’s interest in joint ventures
is accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method of accounting.

FINANCIAL
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(b)

Equity accounting involves recording investments in joint ventures initially at cost, and recognising the Group’s
share of its joint venture post-acquisition results and its share of post-acquisition movements in reserves against
the carrying amount of the investments. When the Group’s share of losses in a joint venture equals or exceeds
its investment in the joint venture, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations
or made payments on behalf of the joint ventures.
In applying the equity method of accounting, unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its joint
ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interest in the joint ventures. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred.
When the Group sells assets to a joint venture, the Group recognises only the portion of unrealised gains or
losses on the sale of assets that is attributable to the interest of the other venturers. The Group recognises the
amount of any loss when the sales provide evidence of a reduction in the net realisable value of current assets
or an impairment loss.
When the Group purchases assets from a joint venture, it does not recognise its share of the profits of the joint
ventures arising from the Group’s purchase of assets until it resells the assets to an independent party. However,
a loss on the transaction is recognised immediately if the loss provides evidence of a reduction in the net
realisable value of current assets or an impairment loss.
Accounting policies of joint ventures have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
accounting policies adopted by the Group. Please refer to Note 2.1.4 “Investments in subsidiaries and joint
venture” for the accounting policy on investments in joint ventures.
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2.1

Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.1.4

Investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associated companies
Investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures are carried at cost, less accumulated impairment losses in the Company’s
balance sheet. On disposal of investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associated companies, the difference
between disposal proceeds and the carrying amounts of the investments are recognised in profit or loss.

2.1.5

Property, plant and equipment
(a)

Measurement
(i) Land and buildings
Land and buildings are initially recognised at cost. Buildings and leasehold land are subsequently carried
at their costs less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
(ii)

Other property, plant and equipment
All other items of property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost and subsequently carried
at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

(iii) Components of costs
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment initially recognised includes its purchase price and
any cost that is directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to
be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.

FINANCIAL
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(b)

Depreciation
Depreciation on plant and equipment is calculated using a straight line method to allocate their depreciable
amounts of plant and equipment over their estimated useful lives. The annual rates used for this purpose are as
follows:
Annual Rates %
Computers and computer software
331/3 - 100
Motor vehicles
20
Fixtures and fittings
331/3
Plant and equipment
331/3
Leasehold improvements
331/3
Buildings
2
Leasehold land
Nil
The residual values, estimated useful lives and depreciation method of property, plant and equipment are
reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate, at each balance sheet date. The effects of any revision are recognised in
the profit or loss when the changes arise.
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(c)

Subsequent expenditure
Subsequent expenditure relating to property, plant and equipment that has already been recognised is added
to the carrying amount of the asset only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the
item will flow to the Group and the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. Repair and
maintenance expense are recognised in profit or loss when incurred.

(d)

Disposal
On disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment, the difference between the disposal proceeds and its
carrying amount is taken to profit or loss.
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2.1

Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.1.6

Intangible assets
(a)

Goodwill on acquisitions
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquired subsidiaries, joint ventures and associated
companies at the date of acquisition.
Goodwill on subsidiaries is recognised separately as intangible assets and carried at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. Goodwill on joint ventures and associated companies are included in the carrying amount
of the investments.
Gains and losses on the disposal of subsidiaries, joint ventures and associated companies include the carrying
amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold, except for goodwill arising from acquisitions prior to 1 January
2001. Such goodwill was adjusted against retained earnings in the year of acquisition and not recognised in
profit or loss on disposal.

(b)

2.1.7

Acquired licenses
Licenses acquired are initially recognised at cost and are subsequently carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. These costs are amortised to profit or loss using the straightline method over the shorter of the estimated useful lives or period of contractual rights.

Impairment of non-financial assets
(a)

For the purpose of impairment testing of goodwill, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generatingunits (“CGU”) expected to benefit from synergies arising from the business combination.
An impairment loss is recognised when the carrying amount of a CGU, including the goodwill, exceeds the
recoverable amount of the CGU. The recoverable amount of a CGU is the higher of the CGU’s fair value less cost
to sell and value-in-use.

FINANCIAL
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Goodwill
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and whenever there is indication that the goodwill may be impaired.
Goodwill included in the carrying amount of an investment in an associated company or joint venture is tested
for impairment as part of the investment, rather than separately.

The total impairment loss of a CGU is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of goodwill allocated to the
CGU and then to the other assets of the CGU pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the
CGU.
An impairment loss on goodwill is recognised in profit or loss and is not reversed in subsequent periods.
(b)

Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associated companies
Intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures are tested
for impairment whenever there is any objective evidence or indication that these assets may be impaired.
For the purpose of impairment testing the recoverable amount (i.e. the higher of the fair value less cost to sell
and the value-in-use) is determined on an individual asset basis unless the asset does not generate cash flows
that are largely independent of those from other assets. If this is the case, recoverable amount is determined for
the CGU to which the asset belongs.
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2.1

Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.1.7

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)
(b)

Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associated companies (continued)
If the recoverable amount of the asset (or CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
The difference between the carrying amount and recoverable amount is recognised as an impairment loss in
profit or loss, unless the asset is carried at revalued amount, in which case, such impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation decrease.
An impairment loss for an asset other than goodwill is reversed if, and only if, there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the assets’ recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The
carrying amount of an asset other than goodwill is increased to its revised recoverable amount, provided that
this amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of amortisation or
depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
A reversal of impairment loss for an asset other than goodwill is recognised in profit or loss, unless the asset is
carried at revalued amount, in which case, such reversal is treated as a revaluation increase. However, to the
extent that an impairment loss on the same revalued asset was previously recognised in profit or loss, a reversal
of that impairment is also recognised in profit or loss.

Leases
(a) When the Group is the lessee:
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2.1.8

(i)

Lessee - Finance leases
Leases where the Group assumes substantially all risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the leased
assets are classified as finance leases.
The leased assets and the corresponding lease liabilities (net of finance charges) under finance leases are
recognised on the balance sheet as plant and equipment and borrowings respectively, at the inception of
the leases based on the lower of the fair value of the leased assets and the present value of the minimum
lease payments.
Each lease payment is apportioned between the finance expense and the reduction of the outstanding
lease liability. The finance expense is recognised in the profit or loss on a basis that reflects a constant
periodic rate of interest on the finance lease liability.

(ii)

Lessee - Operating leases
Leases of motor vehicles, office space and warehouses where substantially all risks and rewards incidental
to ownership are retained by the lessors are classified as operating leases. Payments made under
operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessors) are recognised in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the period of the lease.
Contingent rents are recognised as an expense in profit or loss when incurred.

(b)

When the Group is the lessor:
Lessor - Finance leases
The Group leases aircraft under finance leases to non-related parties. Leases where the Group has
transferred substantially all risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the leased assets to the lessees, are
classified as finance leases.
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2.1

Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.1.8

Leases (continued)
(b) When the Group is the lessor: (continued)
Lessor - Finance leases (continued)
The leased asset is derecognised and the present value of the lease receivable (net of initial direct costs for
negotiating and arranging the lease) is recognised on the balance sheet and included in “finance lease
receivables”. The difference between the gross receivable and the present value of the lease receivable is
recognised as unearned finance income.
Each lease payment received is applied against the gross investment in the finance lease receivable to
reduce both the principal and the unearned finance income. The finance income is recognised in profit or
loss on a basis that reflects a constant periodic rate of return on the net investment in the finance lease
receivable.
Initial direct costs incurred by the Group in negotiating and arranging finance leases are added to finance
lease receivables and recognised as an expense in profit or loss over the lease term on the same basis as
the lease income.
Inventories
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted average
method. The cost of finished goods and work-in-progress comprises raw materials, direct labour, other direct costs and
related production overheads (based on normal operating capacity) but excludes borrowing costs. Net realisable value
is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling expenses.

2.1.10

Income taxes
Current income tax for current and prior periods is recognised at the amount expected to be paid to or recovered from
the tax authorities, using the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance
sheet date.
Deferred income tax is recognised for all temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts in the financial statements except when the deferred income tax arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss at the time of the transaction.
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2.1.9

A deferred income tax liability is recognised on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, associated
companies and joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
A deferred income tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences and tax losses can be utilised.
Deferred income tax is measured:
(i)

at the tax rates that are expected to apply when the related deferred tax asset is realised or the deferred income
tax liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
balance sheet date: and

(ii)

based on the tax consequence that will follow from the manner in which the Group and the Company expects,
at the balance sheet date, to recover or settle the carrying amounts of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred income taxes are recognised as income or expenses in profit or loss for the period, except to the
extent that the tax arises from a business combination or a transaction which is recognised directly in equity. Deferred
tax arising from business combination is adjusted against goodwill on acquisition.
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2.1

Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.1.11

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group and the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of past events, it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the
amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

2.1.12

Employee compensation or employee remuneration
The Group’s and the Company’s contributions are recognised as employee compensation expense when they are due,
unless they can be capitalised as an asset.
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2.1.13

(a)

Defined contribution plans
Defined contribution plans are post-employment benefit plans under which the Group and the Company pays
fixed contributions into separate entities such as National Superannuation Fund and will have no legal or
constructive obligation to pay further contributions if any of the funds does not hold sufficient assets to pay all
employee benefits relating to employee service in the current and preceding financial years. The Group and the
Company contributions to defined contribution plans are recognised as employee benefit expense when they
are due.

(b)

Employee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service leave are recognised when they accrue to employees.
A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave and long service leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the balance sheet date at the future expected cost.

Currency translation
(a)

Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each entity in the Group and the Company are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“functional currency”). The
financial statements are presented in United States Dollars (“US$”).

(b)

Transactions and balances
Transactions in a currency other than the functional currency (“foreign currency”) are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Currency translation differences
from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies at the closing rates at the balance sheet date are recognised in profit or loss, unless they
arise from borrowings in foreign currencies, other currency instruments designated and qualifying as net
investment hedges and net investment in foreign operations. Those currency translation differences are
recognised in the currency translation reserve in the consolidated financial statements and transferred to profit
or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal of the foreign operation.
Non-monetary items measured at fair values in foreign currencies are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair values are determined.

(c)

66

Translation of Group entities’ financial statements
The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:
(i)

Assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of that
balance sheet;

(ii)

Income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates; and

(iii)

All resulting currency translation differences are recognised in the currency translation reserve in equity.
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2.1

Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.1.14

Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents include cash and
bank balances, treasury bills, commercial papers and certificates of deposit, which are subject to an insignificant risk of
change in value, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are presented as current borrowings in the balance sheet.

2.1.15

Long Term Fund, Development Fund and General Fund
The Company is required by its rules to apply its income from Ok Tedi Mining Limited (“OTML”) and other sources to a
Long Term Fund, the Development Fund and General Fund attributable to the operations of the Company.
In pursuing its object, the Company is able to invest and utilise its available resources from the Long Term Fund, the
Development Fund and General Fund in accordance with the Rules of the Company.
Long Term Fund
The Long Term Fund represents 2/3 of net income received from OTML after deducting operating expenses and all
other legal contractual obligations as specified in the rules of the program relating to the application of the income
received.
Funds from the Long Term Fund must be invested in low risk investments.
Before the mine closure date, the funds will be used in the following order of priority:
To the extent the amounts under Rules clauses 9.2 (b) and 9.3 (b) and that part of the commitment which is
undrawn are insufficient, to meet contractual obligations.

(b)

To the extent the amount under clause 9.2 (c) is insufficient, if determined by the Board, to meet a call by OTML
in accordance with clause 12 (further capital requirements by OTML).

After mine closure the funds will be applied in the following order of priority:
(a)

Operating expenses for next 6 months in accordance with the budget approved by the Board from time to time.

(b)

To the extent that distributions and investment income received after the mine closure date are insufficient to
meet contractual obligations as they fall due for payment.

(c)

Calls from OTML (on Shareholders).

(d)

To fund Sustainable Development Purposes in proportions to be determined by the Board of Directors in
accordance with Rules clause 10.4.

FINANCIAL
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(a)

Development Fund
The fund is to be used to support and fund programs and projects which promote sustainable development in
accordance with the “Rules for the PNG Sustainable Development Program” scheduled to and forming part of the
Articles of Association of the Company.
The Development Fund represents 1/3 of income received from OTML after deducting operating expenses and all
other contractual obligations as specified in the rules relating to the application of income received.
In accordance with Rules clause 9.2 (e), the funds are to be applied as follows:
(a)

1/3 of these funds to be used in accordance with the Objects of the Articles of Association of the Company and
at the discretion of the Board for the benefit of the people of Western Province; and

(b)

2/3 of these funds to be used in accordance with the Objects of the Articles of Association of the Company and
at the discretion of the Board for the benefit of the people of Papua New Guinea.
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2.1

Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.1.15

Long Term Fund, Development Fund and General Fund (continued)
Development Fund (continued)
These funds will be used mainly to fund projects covering core areas in health, education, capacity building, economic
development, infrastructure community self-reliance, local community leadership and institutional capacity and other
social and environmental purposes for the benefit of the people of Papua New Guinea, in particular, the people of the
Western Province.
General Fund
In accordance with clause 14 of the “Rules for the PNG Sustainable Development Program”, a yearly budget of
administration costs must be prepared and approved by the Board of Directors.
The budget prepared for each year after the third year of the Program must reflect that the portion of the operating
expenses attributable to the operation of the Company (but not to the running of the Program) should not exceed
15% of the average annual income of the Program during the immediate preceding 3 accounting years.

FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The administration costs cover the normal operating expenses of the Company and of the Program including (without
limitation) establishment costs, Directors’ fees, the cost of Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance, expenditure of the
program manager and the program manager’s remuneration, and any tax payable by the Company.
2.1.16

Grants
Grants provided to subsidiaries, joint ventures and third parties are expensed in the period in which the grants are
released.

2.1.17

Financial assets
(a)

Classification
The Group and the Company classifies its financial assets in the following categories: at fair value through profit
or loss, loans and receivables, and available-for-sale. The classification depends on the purpose for which the
assets were acquired. Management determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition. The
designation of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is irrevocable.
(i)

Financial assets, at fair value through profit or loss
This category has two sub-categories: financial assets held for trading, and those designated at fair value
through profit or loss at inception. A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is acquired principally
for the purpose of selling in the short term. Financial assets designated as at fair value through profit or loss
at inception are those that are managed and their performances are evaluated on a fair value basis, in
accordance with a documented Group and the Company investment strategy.
Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading unless they are designated as hedges. Assets in this
category are presented as current assets if they are either held for trading or are expected to be realised
within 12 months after the balance sheet date.
Investments in debt and equity securities are designated by management as ‘financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss’ upon initial recognition. They are included in non-current assets unless
management has the expressed intention of holding the investment for less than 12 months from the
balance sheet date or unless they will mature within that period, in which case they are included in current
assets.
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2.1

Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.1.17

Financial assets (continued)
(a)

Classification (continued)
(ii)

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. They are presented as current assets, except for those maturing later than 12
months after the balance sheet date which are presented as non-current assets. Loans and receivables are
presented as “other receivables”, “finance lease receivables” and “cash and cash equivalents” on the balance
sheet.

(iii) Financial assets, available-for-sale
Financial assets, available-for-sale are non-derivatives that are either designated in this category or not
classified in any of the other categories. They are presented as non-current assets unless management
intends to dispose of the assets within 12 months after the balance sheet date.
(b)

Recognition and derecognition
Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date – the date on which the Group
and the Company commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or
have been transferred and the Group and the Company has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of
ownership. On disposal of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount and the sale proceeds
is recognised in the profit or loss. Any amount in the fair value reserve relating to that asset is transferred to profit
or loss.
Initial measurement
Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs except for financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, which are recognised at fair value. Transaction costs for financial assets at fair value
through profit and loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

(d)

Subsequent measurement
Financial assets, both available-for-sale and at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently carried at fair
value. Loans and receivables and financial assets are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

(c)

Changes in the fair values of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss including the effects of currency
translation, interest and dividends, are recognised in profit or loss when the changes arise.
Interest and dividend income on financial assets, available-for-sale are recognised separately in profit or loss.
Changes in the fair values of available-for-sale debt securities (i.e. monetary items) denominated in foreign
currencies are analysed into currency translation differences on the amortised cost of the securities and other
changes; the currency translation differences are recognised in profit or loss and the other changes are
recognised in the fair value reserve. Changes in fair values of available-for-sale equity securities (i.e. nonmonetary items) are recognised in the fair value reserve, together with the related currency translation
differences.
(e)

Impairment
The Group and the Company assess at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a
financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and recognises an allowance for impairment when such
evidence exists.
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2.1

Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.1.17

Financial assets (continued)
(e)

Impairment (continued)
Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy, and default or
significant delay in payments are objective evidence that these financial assets are impaired.

FINANCIAL
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The carrying amount of these assets is reduced through the use of an impairment allowance account which is
calculated as the difference between the carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows,
discounted at the original effective interest rate. When the asset becomes uncollectible, it is written off against
the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are recognised against the
same line item in profit or loss.
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(i)

Loans and receivables
The allowance for impairment loss account is reduced through profit or loss in a subsequent period when
the amount of impairment loss decreases and the related decrease can be objectively measured. The
carrying amount of the asset previously impaired is increased to the extent that the new carrying amount
does not exceed the amortised cost, had no impairment been recognised in prior periods.

(ii)

Financial assets, available-for-sale
Significant or prolonged declines in the fair value of the security below its cost and the disappearance of
an active trading market for the security are objective evidence that the security is impaired.
The cumulative loss that was recognised in the fair value reserve is transferred to profit or loss. The
cumulative loss is measured as the difference between the acquisition cost (net of any principal
repayments and amortisation) and the current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in
profit or loss on debt securities. The impairment losses recognised in profit or loss on equity securities are
not reversed through profit or loss.

2.1.18

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value, and subsequently carried at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

2.1.19

Exploration assets
Exploration assets represent capitalised expenditures incurred on exploration projects. When, as a result of exploration
work, recoverable reserves are determined to be present in commercially producible quantities, exploration
expenditures and subsequent development costs are transferred to mine and mining properties. Impairment is
provided for the estimated unrecoverable costs based on the assessment of the Company of the future prospect of
the mining property.
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3.

Critical accounting estimates, assumptions and judgements
Estimates, assumptions and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

3.1

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are addressed
below.
Financial asset at fair value through profit or loss
The Group and the Company uses market or quoted price to fair value its financial assets. In cases where market
or quoted prices are not used, fair value is determined by using valuation techniques and a set of key
assumptions that are subject to change depending on the market conditions prevailing at the time in which fair
value is determined. Furthermore, the Group and the Company follows guidance of FRS 39 to classify financial
assets as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. The current classification is based on the premise that
these financial assets are managed on a portfolio basis and traded accordingly. Prevailing market conditions
could change resulting in reassessment of the current classification.

(b)

Impairment of loans and receivables
Management reviews its loans and receivables for objective evidence of impairment at least quarterly.
Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, the probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy, and default
or significant delay in payments are considered objective evidence that a receivable is impaired. In determining
this, management makes judgement as to whether there is observable data indicating that there has been a
significant change in the payment ability of the debtor, or whether there have been significant changes with
adverse effect in the technological, market, economic or legal environment in which the debtor operates in.
Where there is objective evidence of impairment, management makes judgements as to whether an
impairment loss should be recorded as an expense. In determining this, management uses estimates based on
historical loss experience for assets with similar credit risk characteristics. The methodology and assumptions
used for estimating both the amount and timing of future cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any
differences between the estimated loss and actual loss experience.

(c)

Fair value of derivative financial instruments
The Group through its investment managers may, from time to time, hold financial instruments that are not
quoted in active markets, such as over-the counter derivatives. Fair values of such instruments are determined
by using valuation techniques. Where valuation techniques (for example, models) are used to determine fair
values, they are validated and periodically reviewed independently.

(d)

Functional currency
The Board of Directors considers the US dollars the currency that most faithfully represents the economic effect
of the underlying transactions, events and conditions. The US Dollars is the currency in which the Group and the
Company measures its performance and reports its results, as well as the currency in which it generates revenue
from its investments. This determination also considers the primary economic environment in which the Group
and the Company operate.
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4.

Revenue
The Group
2012
US$
Dividend income from investment
in a joint venture

The Company
2011
US$

2012
US$

2011
US$

-

-

221,900,000

221,900,000

Sale of goods

8,157,203

4,971,256

-

-

Other income

13,712,634

8,518,994

5,450,000

-

21,869,837

13,490,250

227,350,000

221,900,000

Other dividends

8,559,449

6,418,421

8,559,449

6,418,421

Fair value gains on financial assets
through profit or loss

5,843,656

10,607,563

5,843,656

10,607,563

16,961,109

20,192,562

16,662,667

18,615,541

31,364,214

37,218,546

31,065,772

35,641,525

53,234,051

50,708,796

258,415,772

257,541,525

Other investment income

FINANCIAL
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Interest income from commercial papers,
certificates of deposits, bonds and cash
balances
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Total revenue

During the year the Company received gross dividend income of US$221,900,000 (2011: US$221,900,000) from its
investment in a joint venture, OK Tedi Mining Limited. A 10% dividend withholding tax of US$22,190,000 (2011:
US$22,190,000) was deducted in respect of this dividend income and paid to the PNG Internal Revenue Commission
during the financial year (see Note 7). Other dividends relates to dividend received from In-house Manage Funds (see
Note 9).
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5.

Expenses
The Group
2012
US$
Governance costs
Board of director fees
Board administration
Audit
Annual report meeting expenses
Company secretary
Annual report
Advisory council

Fund management cost
Investment service fees

Development program costs
Western province
National

Total expenses

2011
US$

2012
US$

2011
US$

1,104,204
770,808
668,250
213,538
120,498
261,735
3,139,033

749,159
569,547
499,018
200,944
143,458
143,332
34,928
2,340,386

835,476
770,808
520,342
213,538
120,498
261,735
2,722,397

749,159
569,547
499,018
200,944
143,458
143,332
34,928
2,340,386

13,459,500
1,409,109
2,867,630
1,533,368
1,290,933
4,063,294
1,945,659
732,298
292,000

12,899,670
4,497,986
1,199,722
993,690
953,468
915,314
603,679
331,720
163,738

4,924,961
257,863
1,434,515
871,885
498,352
1,562,781
736,706
438,310
124,860

4,103,561
256,365
737,587
553,661
395,506
247,765
275,609
253,731
163,738

186,024
2,809,849
10,288,484
40,878,148

95,401
1,466,678
7,621,853
31,742,919

186,024
1,600,925
598,713
13,235,895

95,401
44,750
533,123
7,660,797

3,023,318
3,023,318

2,027,660
2,027,660

3,023,318
3,023,318

2,027,660
2,027,660

32,910,304
59,795,565
92,705,869

9,609,350
87,104,586
96,713,936

32,910,304
94,822,498
127,732,802

9,609,350
126,295,649
135,904,999

139,746,368

132,824,901

146,714,412

147,933,842
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Administration costs
Employee compensation (Note 6)
Depreciation (Note 15)
Professional services
Travel
Insurance
Office rent
Information services
Advertising and promotion
Motor vehicle expenses
Amortisation – premium on
inscribed stock
Repairs and maintenance
Other expenses*

The Company

The following impairment losses have been included as part of the development program costs above:
Impairment loss on property, plant
and equipment
Impairment loss on investments in
subsidiaries and loans receivable
from subsidiaries

-

23,783,164

-

-

-

23,783,164

41,179,959
41,179,959

95,972,609
95,972,609

*Other expenses include direct operating costs for Cloudy Bay Sustainable Forestry Limited.
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6.

Employee compensation
The Group
2012
US$
Wages and salaries

The Company
2011
US$

2012
US$

2011
US$

11,332,871

10,062,286

4,170,892

3,616,670

Other employee benefits and costs

1,550,291

2,219,212

570,281

325,380

Employer's contribution to defined
contribution plans

576,338

618,172

183,788

161,511

13,459,500

12,899,670

4,924,961

4,103,561

Key management remuneration is disclosed in Note 24.

7.

Income taxes
The Group
2012
US$

The Company
2011
US$

2012
US$

2011
US$

23,834,094

23,433,570

23,834,094

23,433,570

9,432,153

597,595

-

-

33,266,247

24,031,165

23,834,094

23,433,570

FINANCIAL
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Tax expense attributable to the
operating surplus is made up of:
Current income tax – Foreign
Deferred income tax

The tax expense is comprised of;
•

US$22,190,000 (2011: US$22,190,000) in connection with the withholding tax deducted from the dividend income
received from its investment in a joint venture (Ok Tedi Mining Limited) and;

•

US$$7,725,439 (2011: US$271,450) in connection with the withholding tax on the retained earnings of Ok Tedi
Mining Limited (representing the withholding tax on the expected future dividends from retaining earnings);

•

US$1,457,029 (2011: US$1,087,376) in connection with the withholding tax deducted from dividend income from
its Papua New Guinea equity investments;

•

US$187,065 (2011: US$156,194) in connection with the withholding tax deducted from interest income from Bank
of Papua New Guinea Inscribed Stocks; and

•

US$1,706,714 (2011: US$326,145) in connection with the taxable temporary differences from a subsidiary.

The dividend withholding taxes have been paid to Internal Revenue Commission (“IRC”) of Papua New Guinea during
the financial year. No Singapore income tax is payable on the basis that the dividend and interest income is not
remitted to Singapore.
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7.

Income taxes (continued)
The tax expense on results differs from the amount that would have arisen using the Singapore standard rate of
income tax due to the following:
The Group
2012
US$

The Company
2012
US$

2011
US$

190,720,848

254,971,870

111,701,360

109,607,683

32,422,544

43,345,218

18,989,231

18,633,306

Effect of different tax rates in
other countries

(15,533,000)

(15,533,000)

(15,533,000)

(15,533,000)

Income not subject to tax

(16,789,313)

(27,111,320)

(4,752,575)

(4,967,928)

23,733,863

23,058,817

25,130,438

25,301,192

9,432,153

271,450

-

-

33,266,247

24,031,165

23,834,094

23,433,570

23,834,094

23,433,570

23,834,094

23,433,570

9,432,153

597,595

-

-

33,266,247

24,031,165

23,834,094

23,433,570

Surplus before income tax
Tax calculated at Singapore rate
applicable to surplus in Papua New
Guinea at 17% (2011: 17%)

Expenses not deductible for tax purpose
Tax recognised on retained earnings
of joint venture and subsidiaries
Tax charge

Comprising of:
Dividend/interest withholding tax paid
to the Internal Revenue Commission
(Papua New Guinea)
Deferred income tax
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US$
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8.

Cash and cash equivalents
The Group
2012
US$

Cash and bank balances
Funds under management:
Cash held in investment funds
Commercial papers and certificates
of deposit

The Company
2011
US$

2012
US$

2011
US$

154,215,625

400,820,339

146,176,352

396,245,801

48,112,741

49,410,861

48,112,741

49,410,861

56,969,860
105,082,601
259,298,226

18,500,000
67,910,861
468,731,200

56,969,860
105,082,601
251,258,953

18,500,000
67,910,861
464,156,662

For the purpose of presenting the consolidated cash flow statements, the consolidated cash and cash equivalents
comprise the following:
The Group
2012
US$
259,298,226

FINANCIAL
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Cash and bank balances (as above)
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9.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
The Group
2012
US$
Current
Funds under management:
Bonds
Commercial papers and certificates
of deposit
Total Current
In-house Managed Funds:
Bonds
Commercial papers and certificates
of deposit
Total current

In-house Managed Funds:
Bonds
Equity securities *
Total Non-current
Total

2011
US$

2012
US$

2011
US$

164,731,197

118,189,674

164,731,197

118,189,674

13,005,346
177,736,543

18,113,635
136,303,309

13,005,346
177,736,543

18,113,635
136,303,309

2,216,406

-

-

-

30,000,000
32,216,406
209,952,949

136,303,309

30,000,000
30,000,000
207,736,543

136,303,309

656,598,099
85,173,483
5,405,848
747,177,430

542,488,913
50,296,590
11,646,932
604,432,43

656,598,099
85,173,483
5,405,848
747,177,430

542,488,913
50,296,590
11,646,932
604,432,435

17,215,391
160,729,277
177,944,668
925,122,098

24,552,417
143,566,070
168,118,487
772,550,922

17,215,391
160,729,277
177,944,668
925,122,098

11,742,146
143,566,070
155,308,216
759,740,651

1,135,075,047

908,854,231

1,132,858,641

896,043,960
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Non-current
Funds under management:
Bonds
Equity securities
Funds

The Company

* Investments in listed equity securities.
Funds under management
The financial assets that are externally-managed comprised funds placed with the various professional fund managers
pursuant to investment management agreements. The Group can, pursuant to the terms, terminate the agreements by
giving the requisite prior notice in writing to the fund managers. These fund managers are given discretionary powers
within certain guidelines to invest the funds and these financial assets are managed on a portfolio basis and their
performance evaluated on a fair value basis.
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10.

Finance lease receivables
The Group leases aircraft to a non-related party under finance lease arrangements. The initial agreement on the first
aircraft terminates in 2013.
In October 2010, the Group entered into finance lease arrangements for two aircraft. These agreements terminate in
2017.
The Group
2012

2011

US$

US$

Gross receivables due
- Not later than one year

9,902,473

10,587,784

34,262,289

44,180,675

Total

44,164,762

54,768,459

Less: Unearned finance income

(6,654,397)

(9,581,721)

Net investment in finance leases

37,510,365

45,186,738

- Later than one year but within five years

FINANCIAL
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The net investment in finance leases is analysed as follows:

The Group

Not later than one year

2012

2011

US$

US$

7,530,504

7,681,987

29,979,861

37,504,751

37,510,365

45,186,738

Later than one year
- Between one and five years

The fair value of lease receivables at 31 December 2012 amounted to US$42,193,426 (2011: US$53,113,896). The fair
values are based on cash flows discounted using a rate of 2.0% (2011: 2.5%).
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11.

Other receivables
The Group
2012
US$
Current
Loans receivable from subsidiaries
Other debtors

20,314,105
20,314,105

The Company
2011
US$

2012
US$

25,322,745
25,322,745

100,025,267
1,470,171
101,495,438

2011
US$

56,566,025
3,245,854
59,811,879

Non-Current
Loan receivable from subsidiaries
The Company

Western Province Sustainable Power
Champion 34
Cloudy Bay Sustainable Forestry

2011
US$

58,675,746
100,025,267
61,959,159
220,660,172
(120,634,905)
100,025,267

45,190,460
56,566,025
50,782,149
152,538,634
(95,972,609)
56,566,025

FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Allowance for impairment

2012
US$

Other debtors (excluding prepayments and interest receivable) are denominated in PNG Kina. The carrying amounts of
interest receivable, and other debtors approximated their fair values.
The loans receivable from Champion 34 and Cloudy Bay Sustainable Forestry are interest-free, unsecured with no fixed
repayment period and will be called upon when these subsidiaries have the capacity to repay the loans.
During the financial year, impairment losses of US$13,485,286 (US$45,190,460) and US$11,177,010 (US$50,782,149)
were recognised on loans receivable from Western Province Sustainable Power and Cloudy Bay Sustainable Forestry as
the recoverable amounts are less than the carrying value based due to the uncertainty of the projected cashflows.
These investments were undertaken as they are aligned with the objective of the Company to create and promote long
term sustainable development to the infrastructure and general welfare of the people in Papua New Guinea.
The impairment losses have been included in development costs in the statement of comprehensive income.
On 23 November 2012, Champion 34 Limited, a subsidiary of the Group, entered into a loan agreement with a
shareholder of a joint venture, in connection with the loan of US$65,047,500 for a term of 5 years from the initial
drawdown date. Interest is fixed at 6.5% per annum.
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12.

Financial assets, available-for-sale
The Company maintains a 5% interest in a telecommunication carrier in Papua New Guinea acquired at a cost of
US$6,000,000. This was fully impaired in prior years and based on fair value assessment at balance sheet date, the
investment remains fully impaired.

13.

Investment in joint ventures
The Group
2012
US$

FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Investment in OTML at cost
Investment in PNGEDL, at cost
Total Investment
Beginning of the financial year
Investment in Habourside
Development Limited
Investment in PNGEDL at cost
Share of results after tax
Share of hedge reserve
Dividends received
Foreign currency translation differences
End of the financial year

The Company
2011
US$

2,903,581
36,891,286
39,794,867
818,862,321

535,325,686

22,923,762
277,233,165
7,945,127
(221,900,000)
13,108,189
918,172,564

9,330,000
13,967,524
337,087,976
4,555,796
(221,900,000)
140,495,339
818,862,321

The investments in joint ventures are represented by:
Share of net assets
Notional goodwill in investments in OTML
Total

824,238,453
93,934,111
918,172,564

724,928,210
93,934,111
818,862,321

Investments in joint ventures are analysed as follows:
Ok Tedi Mining Limited
PNG Energy Development Limited
Harbourside Development Limited
Total

80

2012
US$

876,097,092
32,745,472
9,330,000
918,172,564
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795,606,395
13,925,926
9,330,000
818,862,321

2011
US$
2,903,581
13,967,524
16,871,105
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13.

Investment in joint ventures (continued)
The following amounts represent the Group’s share of the assets and liabilities and income and expenses of the joint
ventures:
The Group
2012
US$
- Assets
- Liabilities
- Revenue
- Net results

2011
US$

1,181,543,143
353,194,262
1,022,185,029
277,233,165

998,911,649
273,316,344
1,234,966,874
337,087,976

219,345,335

111,882,614

Share of capital commitment

Ok Tedi Mining Limited (“OTML”)
The investment in a joint venture is accounted for at cost in the Company’s financial statements. The cost of
US$2,903,581 represents stamp duty paid to the Papua New Guinea Government and legal fees incurred relating to the
transfer of shares in the joint venture to the Company.

On 2 December 2010, OTML entered into a Share Buy Back Agreement with Inmet Mining Corporation to buy back
42,300,000 shares (18%) held by Inmet Mining Corporation for a total consideration of US$ 335,000,000 (equivalent to
K881,000,000), comprising a return of capital of US$51,488,000 and a deemed dividend of US$285,282,000. The
consideration agreed with Inmet in exchange for the shares was settled on 28 January 2011.

FINANCIAL
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In accordance with the Funding Facility Deed dated 22 November 2001 and the Equitable Mortgage of Shares dated
7 February 2002 between the Company and Insinger Trust (Singapore) Limited, there is an equitable charge over the
OTML shares which creates an interest in the dividend stream from the shares held in OTML (but not the shares
themselves)

The restated shareholding effective from the date of the share buy-back is as follows:

PNGSDP
Inmet
The Independent State of Papua New Guinea
Mineral Resources Ok Tedi
Total

Pre-acquisition

Post-acquisition

52%
18%
20%
10%
100%

63.4%
24.4%
12.2%
100%

The Shareholders Agreement was amended on 28 January 2011 to reflect the change in shareholding (5th Restated
Shareholders Agreement). With these shares brought back, PNGSDP’s interests increased from 52% to 63.4%.
Investment in OTML continues to account for as joint venture based on the existence of joint-control in OTML. The
change in interest from 52% to 63.4% had resulted in the Group recognising a notional goodwill amounting to
US$93,934,111, which is included as part of the investment in OTML.
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13.

Investment in joint ventures (continued)
Significant uncertainty over the recoverability of the investment in OTML
As at 31 December 2012, the investment in OTML is carried at US$ 876,097,092. The current OTML operations are
covered by an existing approved interim change notice from Department of Mines expiring in March 2014. Currently,
OTML is in the process of negotiating with the Department of Mines, which is acting on behalf of PNG government, for
an extension of mine life to year 2025. In addition, the PNG government is currently evaluating the ownership structure
of OTML.
As at the date of financial statements, the directors are of the view that there is no clear indication of the likely outcome.
In the event of non-extension of the mine life or potential change in ownership structure of OTML, the recoverability
of the carrying value of the investment in OTML may be significantly impaired and the future income stream derived
from that investment may be significantly curtailed. At the date of financial statements, sufficient information is not
available to determine the recoverable amount of the investment in OTML and if any adjustments will be required to
the financial statements.
As the negotiations with the PNG Government progress, further information may become available to reasonably
estimate the recoverability of this investment. If the estimated recoverable amount of the investment is less than its
carrying value, an adjustment will be required to write down the value of the investment to its recoverable amount.
The impairment charge will be recognised as a loss in the statement of comprehensive income.

FINANCIAL
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PNG Energy Development Limited (“PNGEDL”)
Pursuant to a shareholder agreement, PNGEDL is equally owned by PNGSDP and Origin Energy Ltd. The principal
activity of PNGEDL is to implement and manage electricity and energy projects which are in line with the overall goals
and objectives of PNGSDP. Origin Energy Ltd provides technical expertise whilst PNG Sustainable Development
Program Limited provides funding for the projects. During the year, the Company has made additional capital injection
of US$22,923,762 to fund the development of the electricity and energy projects.
Harbourside Development Limited
Champion 34 Limited has a 50% joint venture agreement with Steamships Trading Company Limited to develop an
office complex on the waterfront in Port Moresby. The initial investment in this development was $9,330,000 which has
been equity accounted in accordance with the Group’s policy for joint ventures.
Details of the joint ventures are as follows:

Name of joint venture

82

Principal activities

Country
of
incorporation

Ok Tedi Mining Limited

Mining of copper
and gold

Papua New Guinea

PNG Energy Development
Limited

Development of
energy projects

Papua New Guinea

Harbourside Development
Limited

Property development

Papua New Guinea

P N G S U S TA I N A B L E D E V E LO P M E N T P R O G R A M LT D

Effective Interest
2012
%

2011
%

63.4

63.4

50

50

50

50
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14.

Investment in subsidiaries
The Company
2012

2011

US$

US$

Investments (unquoted at cost )
Cloudy Bay Sustainable Forestry Limited
Impairment of Cloudy Bay Sustainable Forestry Limited
PNG Sustainable Infrastructure Limited
Impairment of PNG Sustainable Infrastructure Limited

16,930,639

16,930,639

(16,930,639)

(16,930,639)

1

1

(1)

(1)

PNG Sustainable Energy Limited

5,450,000

5,450,000

Impairment of PNG Sustainable Energy Limited

(5,450,000)

(5,450,000)

Champion No. 34 Limited

1

Western Province Sustainable Power Limited

-**

-**

Impairment of Western Province Sustainable Power Limited

-**

-**

31,914,150

23,666,445

(31,914,150)

(23,666,445)

13,067,379

4,797,421

(13,067,379)

(4,797,421)

PNG Microfinance Ltd

1,940,787

1,940,787

Impairment of PNG Microfinance Ltd

(1,940,787)

(1,940,787)

Daru Port Development Company Ltd
Impairment of Daru Port Development Company Ltd
Star Mountain Institute of Technology
Impairment of Star Mountain Institute of Technology

1

1

FINANCIAL
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1

* less than US$1.
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14.

Investment in subsidiaries (continued)
During the financial year, the Company recognised an impairment loss of US$16,517,663 (2011: US$ 28,463,866) for
investment in Daru Port Development Company Ltd and Star Mountain Institute of Technology as the recoverable
amounts are less than the carrying value due to the uncertainty of the projected cashflows. These investments were
undertaken as they are aligned with the objective of the Company to create and promote long term sustainable
development to the infrastructure and general welfare of the people in Papua New Guinea.. Details of the subsidiaries
are as follows:
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Name of company

Effective Interest
2012
%

2011
%

Cloudy Bay Sustainable Forestry
Limited

Harvest, mill and sell
timber products and
also promote
sustainable forestry
management
practices.

Papua New Guinea

100

100

PNG Sustainable Infrastructure
Limited

Develop and construct
infrastructure
projects in Papua
New Guinea
Inactive since 2008.

Papua New Guinea

100

100

Champion No. 34 Limited

Leasing of aircraft and
investment activities.

Papua New Guinea

100

100

Implement and
manage electricity
projects in the
Western Province.

Papua New Guinea

100

100

Financial institution.

Papua New Guinea

81

81

Provide education,
training & research
in the Western
Province.

Papua New Guinea

100

100

Construction of port
and road facilities in
the Western
Province.

Papua New Guinea

100

100

Western Province Sustainable
Power Limited

PNG Microfinance Ltd
Star Mountains Institute of
Technology

Daru Port Development
Company Ltd

84

Principal activities

Country
of
incorporation
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-

(968,005)

3,150,318

Transfers

Disposals

End of financial year

End of financial year

942,059

2,208,259

End of financial year

Net book value

(968,005)

626,599

Depreciation charge

Disposals

2,549,665

Beginning of financial
year

Accumulated
depreciation and
impairment loss

485,138

3,633,185

Additions

year

Beginning of financial

Cost

2012

The Group

Computer
and
computer
software
US$

Property, plant and equipment

1,597,441

914,636

(77,743)

272,374

720,005

2,512,077

(77,743)

-

912,078

1,677,742

Motor
vehicles
US$

679,138

1,167,115

(326,997)

238,825

1,255,287

1,846,253

(326,997)

190,060

245,875

1,737,315

Fixtures &
fittings
US$

(106,647)
299,249

605,501

19,368,789

1,452,813

92,406

313,490

904,750

(106,647)

-

317,246

694,151

7,217,522

2,943,134

-

-

2,943,134

10,160,656

-

-

7,217,522

2,943,134

Leasehold Leasehold
Improvements
land
US$
US$

-

170,747

19,198,042

20,821,602

-

96,911

1,284,337

19,440,354

Plant and
equipment
US$

FINANCIAL
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15.

1,081,135

9,163,138

-

8,158

9,154,980

10,244,273

-

308,025

361,112

9,575,136

Buildings
US$

4,891,974

-

-

-

-

4,891,974

-

(594,996)

3,457,125

2,029,845

Capital
work in
progress
US$

18,467,583

36,064,320

(1,479,392)

1,409,109

36,134,603

54,531,903

(1,479,392)

-

14,280,433

41,730,862

Total
US$
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2,614,112

-

(380,149)

3,633,185

Additions

Transfers

Disposals

End of financial year
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1,083,520

2,549,665

(21,662)

957,737

720,005

-

-

400,785

319,220

1,677,742

-

-

1,209,438

468,304

Motor
vehicles
US$

482,028

1,255,287

(314,076)

-

476,530

1,092,833

1,737,315

(1,430,071)

-

826,257

2,341,129

Fixtures &
fittings
US$

242,312

19,198,043

-

16,301,788

1,243,999

1,652,256

19,440,355

-

1,314,810

5,984,042

12,141,503

Plant and
equipment
US$

380,661

313,490

-

-

106,241

207,249

694,151

(107,488)

-

569,192

232,447

-

2,943,134

-

-

-

2,943,134

2,943,134

-

-

-

2,943,134

Leasehold
Leasehold
Improvements
land
US$
US$

420,156

9,154,980

-

7,481,376

1,673,604

-

9,575,136

-

334,210

3,255,749

5,985,177

Buildings
US$

2,029,845

-

-

-

-

-

2,029,845

-

(1,649,020)

3,117,006

561,859

Capital
work in
progress
US$

5,596,259

36,134,604

(335,738)

23,783,164

4,497,986

8,189,192

41,730,863

(1,917,708)

-

17,575,796

26,072,775

Total
US$

In 2011, the Group recognised an impairment charge of US$23,783,164 related to plant and equipment and building held by Cloudy Bay Sustainable Forestry as the
recoverable amounts are less than the carrying value based due to the uncertainty of the projected cashflows.

End of financial year

Net book value

End of financial year

Disposals

-

596,827

Depreciation charge

Impairment loss

1,974,500

Beginning of financial
year

Accumulated depreciation
and impairment loss

1,399,222

Beginning of financial
year

Cost

2011

The Group

Computer
and
computer
software
US$

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
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15.

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
The Company
Computers
and computer Motor Fixtures and Leasehold
software
vehicles
fittings Improvements
US$
US$
US$
US$

Leasehold
Land
US$

Total
US$

1,075,661
78,587
(968,005)
186,243

336,373
168,692
(77,743)
427,322

470,350
30,017
(326,997)
173,370

114,984
(106,647)
8,337

7,217,522
7,217,522

1,997,368
7,494,818
(1,479,392)
8,012,794

Accumulated depreciation
Beginning of financial year
Depreciation charge
Disposals
End of financial year

1,008,562
142,279
(968,005)
182,836

111,337
75,287
(77,743)
108,881

413,436
34,044
(326,997)
120,483

108,731
6,253
(106,647)
8,337

-

1,642,066
257,863
(1,479,392)
420,537

3,407

318,441

52,887

-

7,217,522

7,592,257

842,191
233,470
1,075,661

162,286
174,087
336,373

409,842
60,508
470,350

113,906
1,078
114,984

-

1,528,225
469,143
1,997,368

818,875
189,687
1,008,562

77,107
34,230
111,337

392,570
20,866
413,436

97,149
11,582
108,731

-

1,385,701
256,365
1,642,066

67,099

225,036

56,914

6,253

-

355,302

Net book value
End of financial year

2011
Cost
Beginning of financial year
Additions
Disposals
End of financial year
Accumulated depreciation
Beginning of financial year
Depreciation charge
End of financial year
Net book value
End of financial year
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2012
Cost
Beginning of financial year
Additions
Disposals
End of financial year

87

P N G S D P LT D F I N A N C I A L S TAT E M E N T S
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012

16.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets consist of timber permits and research and development and intellectual property acquired.
The Group
2012
US$
Cost
Accumulated amortisation
Impairment
Net book value

The Company
2011
US$

12,554,500
(526,808)
(12,027,692)
-

2012
US$

12,554,500
(526,808)
(12,027,692)
-

2011
US$
-

-

The carrying value of the timber permits (i.e. timber permits for Cloudy Bay Sustainable Forestry) was fully impaired in
prior years and remained impaired during the financial year based on its recoverable amount.

17.

Sundry creditors and accruals
The Group

FINANCIAL
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2012
US$
Amounts due to:
- Subsidiaries (non-trade)
- Non-related parties

43,647,174
43,647,174

The Company
2011
US$

2012
US$

42,709,208
42,709,208

10,622,047
7,852,383
18,474,430

2011
US$

5,450,000
5,555,893
11,005,893

The non-trade amount due to subsidiaries is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. Amounts payable to
the subsidiaries by the parent include deposits that are managed by PNGSDP with income receipts from the deposits
paid to the subsidiary.
The amounts due to non related parties include amounts due to customers of US$31,734,110 (2011: US$ 26,059,229).

88

P N G S U S TA I N A B L E D E V E LO P M E N T P R O G R A M LT D

P N G S D P LT D F I N A N C I A L S TAT E M E N T S
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012

18.

Deferred income tax liability
Movement in deferred income tax account is as follows:

The Group
2012
US$
Beginning of the financial year
Tax charged to profit or loss

The Company
2011
US$

44,659,639
9,432,153
54,091,792

2012
US$

44,062,044
597,595
44,659,639

2011
US$
-

-

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current income
tax assets against current income tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same fiscal authority.
The amounts, determined after appropriate offsetting, are shown on the balance sheets as follows:

The Group

Deferred income tax liabilities:
- to be settled after one year

54,091,792
54,091,792

2011
US$

44,659,639
44,659,639

2012
US$

2011
US$

-

-

FINANCIAL
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2012
US$

The Company

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised on the retained earnings of Ok Tedi Mining Limited representing
withholding tax on the expected future dividends from retaining earnings and other temporary differences. Deferred
income tax liabilities are also recognised on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts in respect of a subsidiary in the Group.

19.

Members’ subscriptions
As a Company “limited by guarantee”, the Company does not have any issued shares or shareholders. At 31 December
2012, there are 3 (2011: 3) members of the Company.
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20.

General, Long Term and Development Funds
General Fund
The general fund is accounted for in accordance with the policy set out in Note 2.1.15.
The Company

Beginning of the financial year
Dividends from investment in joint venture
Other income
Governance and administrative expenses
10% Withholding tax paid to IRC of Papua New Guinea
Transfer to long term and development funds
End of the financial year

2012

2011

US$

US$

2,903,581
221,900,000
5,450,000
(15,772,267)
(22,190,000)
(189,387,733)
2,903,581

2,903,581
221,900,000
3,020,979
(9,905,781)
(22,190,000)
(192,825,198)
2,903,581

Long Term Fund

FINANCIAL
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The long term fund is accounted for in accordance with the policy set out in Note 2.1.15.
The Company

Beginning of the financial year
Investment income
Investment expenses
Withholding tax paid to IRC of Papua New Guinea
Administration expenses
Transfer from General Fund
End of the financial year

2012

2011

US$

US$

1,201,463,955
28,942,490
(2,978,661)
(1,644,094)
(186,024)
126,258,489
1,351,856,155

1,044,803,634
31,472,899
(2,023,738)
(1,243,570)
(95,402)
128,550,132
1,201,463,955

The weighted average rate of return on investment for the long term fund for the year was 3.23% (2011: 3.19%).
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20.

General, Long Term and Development Funds (continued)
Development Fund
The development fund is accounted for in accordance with the policy set out in Note 2.1.15, and is allocated between
the Western Province Program Fund and the National Program Fund as follows:
Western
Province
Program
Fund

National
Program
Fund

Program
Total

Program
Total

2012

2012

2012

2011

US$

US$

US$

US$

115,897,046

105,367,880

221,264,926

291,751,134

811,269

1,312,013

2,123,282

1,147,647

Investment & Development expenses

(32,922,022)

(94,855,438)

(127,777,460)

(135,908,921)

Transfer from General Fund

21,043,081

42,086,163

63,129,244

64,275,066

104,829,374

53,910,618

158,739,992

221,264,926

Beginning of the financial year
Investment income

End of the financial year

The weighted average rate of return on short term investments for the development fund for the year was 1.39%
(2011: 0.54%).

Commitments
(a)

Operating lease commitments
The Group leases office space and motor vehicles from non-related parties under non-cancellable operating
lease agreements. The leases have varying terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights.

FINANCIAL
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21.

The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases contracted for at the
reporting date but not recognised as liabilities, are as follows:
The Group
2012
US$
Not later than 1 year
Later than 1 year but
not later than 5 years

The Company
2011
US$

2012
US$

2011
US$

2,834,427

1,361,420

2,871,036

1,361,420

10,511,696
13,346,123

7,519,982
8,881,402

10,107,851
12,978,887

7,519,982
8,881,402
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Commitments (continued)
(b)

Project commitments
The commitments for projects with signed funding agreements, excluding expenditures already made for the
projects, are as follows:
The Group
2012
US$

Western Province
National

(c)

104,216,833
124,676,948
228,893,781

The Company
2011
US$

2012
US$

2011
US$

67,693,593
42,634,156
110,327,749

104,216,833
124,676,948
228,893,781

67,693,593
42,634,156
110,327,749

Capital commitments

FINANCIAL
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There were no capital expenditures contracted for at the balance sheet date but not recognised in the
financial statements, excluding those relating to investment in a joint venture (Note 13).
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(d)

Compensation commitments
The Group has signed various compensation agreements with landowners and other surrounding
communities affected by the mine. Compensation packages are denominated in the local currency and, in
the majority of instances, are payable over the life of the open pit mine.
PNGSDP has an annual commitment to spend at least US$10,029,000 (PGK21,500,000) or 2.5% of dividends
declared each year, whichever is greater, in mine affected communities until mine closure date, which is 2015
under the current mine plan.
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22.

Contingencies
Contingent liabilities
The Shareholder Agreement between PNGSDP, PNGMF and International Finance Corporation (IFC) was amended and
restated on 22 May 2006 to cater for a subscription agreement between PNGMF and International Finance Corporation
(IFC) dated 24 June 2005. IFC agreed on the terms and conditions set out therein and subscribed for approximately
2,900,000 shares ("option shares") of PNGMF. As a condition for investing in PNGMF, the IFC entered into a Put Option
Agreement with PNGSDP on 22 May 2006. The Put Option Agreement binds PNGSDP to acquire the option shares
when IFC exercises the right to require PNGSDP to purchase any or all of the option shares. The Put Option Agreement
specifies that the put option can be exercised by IFC when a "Put Triggering Event" occurs, such as default or noncompliance by PNGSDP or PNGMF with any of its respective obligations, or any misrepresentation or breach of
warranty by PNGSDP or PNGMF under the Shareholders Agreement.

23.

Financial risk management
Financial risk factors
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, fair value interest rate
risk, cash flow interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Group is also exposed to operational risks such as custody risk. Custody risk is the risk of loss of securities held in
custody occasioned by the insolvency or negligence of the custodian. Although an appropriate legal framework is in
place that eliminates the risk of loss of value of the securities held by the custodian, in the event of its failure, the ability
of the Group to transfer securities might be temporarily impaired.

The management of these risks is carried out by the investment manager under policies approved by the Board of
Directors. The Board of Directors is responsible for setting the objectives and the underlying principles of financial risk
management for the Group and the Company. The Investment and Finance committee then establishes the detailed
policies such as authority levels, oversight responsibilities, risk identification and measurement, exposure limits,
covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, the use of derivative financial
instruments and non-derivative financial instruments and the investment of excess liquidity in accordance with the
objectives and underlying principles that are approved by the Board of Directors.

FINANCIAL
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The Group’s overall risk management programme seeks to maximise the returns derived for the level of risk to which
the Group is exposed and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. All
securities investments present a risk of loss of capital. The maximum loss of capital is limited to the fair value of those
positions.

The Group and the Company has appointed seven (2011: five) professional investment managers to carry out the
investment activities in accordance with the investment policies and guidelines approved by the Board of Directors. An
Investment and Finance Committee of the Board has been established to monitor investment and risk management
and the performance of the investment managers.
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Financial risk management (continued)
Financial risk factors (continued)
(a)

Market risk
i)

Price risk
The Group is exposed to equity and bond securities price risk and derivative price risk. This arises
from investments held by the Fund Managers for which prices in the future are uncertain. Where
non-monetary financial instruments – for example, equity securities – are denominated in
currencies other than the US Dollars, the price initially expressed in foreign currency and then
converted into US Dollars will also fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. Please
refer to section (b) for measurement and management of foreign exchange risk.
The Group’s policy is to manage price risk through diversification and selection of reputable and
experienced Fund Managers that manages the securities and other financial instruments within
specified limits set by the Board of Directors. A summary analysis of investments by nature is
presented in Note 9.

FINANCIAL
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The majority of the Group’s equity investments are publicly traded with good credit quality ratings.
The Group’s policy requires that the overall market position is monitored by the Group’s Investment
Committee and is reviewed on a quarterly basis by the Board of Directors. Compliance with the
Group’s investment policies are reported to the Board by the Investment and Finance committee on
a quarterly basis.
At 31 December, the fair value of equities and bonds exposed to price risk were as follows:
Fair Value
2012

2011

US$

US$

Equity securities designated at fair value
through profit or loss

245,902,760

193,862,660

Bonds designated at fair value through profit or loss

840,761,093

685,231,004

Equity securities designated at fair value
through profit or loss

245,902,760

193,862,660

Bonds designated at fair value through profit or loss

838,544,687

672,420,733

The Group

The Company
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Financial risk management (continued)
Financial risk factors (continued)
(a)

Market risk (continued)
i)

Price risk (continued)
The table below summarises the sensitivity of the Group’s and Company’s investments to equity
and bond price movements as at 31 December. The analysis is based on the assumptions that the
Market Index changed by 5% (2011: 5%) with all other variables held constant, and that the fair
value of the Group’s portfolio of equity and bond securities moved according to their historical
correlation with the index. This represents management’s best estimate of a reasonably possible
shift in the Market Index, having regard to the historical volatility of the index. The impact below
arises from the reasonably possible change in the fair value of equities and equity derivatives.

2012

2011

Increase/(Decrease)
Surplus from
Surplus from
operations
operations
US$
US$

Managed in-house
- increased by
- decreased by
The Company
Managed by Fund Managers
- increased by
- decreased by
Managed in-house
- increased by
- decreased by

45,325,139
(45,325,139)

35,548,362
(35,548,362)

9,008,054

7,765,411

(9,008,054)

(7,765,411)

45,325,139
(45,325,139)

35,548,362
(35,548,362)

8,897,234
(8,897,234)

7,765,411
(7,765,411)
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The Group
Managed by Fund Managers
- increased by
- decreased by
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23.

Financial risk management (continued)
Financial risk factors (continued)
(a)

Market risk (continued)
i)

Price risk (continued)
The Investment and Finance committee uses market indices as a reference point in assessing the
investment decisions made by the Fund Managers. However, the Investment and Finance
committee does not manage the Group’s investment strategy to track the Market Index or any other
index or external benchmark. The sensitivity analysis presented is based upon the portfolio
composition as at 31 December and the historical correlation of the securities comprising the
portfolio to the respective indices. The composition of the Group’s investment portfolio as managed
by the Fund Managers is expected to change over time. The sensitivity analysis prepared as of 31
December is not necessarily indicative of the effect on the Group’s and Company’s investments of
future movements in the level of the market index.

ii)

Foreign exchange risk

FINANCIAL
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The investment managers of the Group operate internationally and hold monetary assets
denominated in currencies other than the US Dollars, the functional currency. Foreign currency risk,
as defined in FRS 107, arises as the value of future transactions, recognised monetary assets and
monetary liabilities denominated in other currencies fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange
rates.
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Management monitors the exposure on all foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities.
The table below summarises the Group’s assets and liabilities, which are denominated in a currency
other than the US Dollars.
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US$

US$

85,361,605
275,123,289

Other receivables and finance
lease receivable

Currency exposure

229,599,964

-

229,599,964

Net financial assets

Less: Net financial assets
denominated in the
Company’s functional
currency

(45,523,325)

Sundry creditors and accruals

Financial Liabilities

81,175,984

179,440,269

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

81,175,984

-

81,175,984

-

67,365,459

10,321,415

Cash and cash equivalents

13,810,525

EUR

PGK

21,181,963

-

21,181,963

-

21,181,963

-

18,892,026

2,289,937

US$

HKD

(1,040,814,117)

1,040,814,117

-

1,040,814,117

37,510,365

773,094,315

230,209,437

US$

USD

The Group’s and Company’s currency exposure based on the information used by key management is as follows:

Financial Assets

2012

Foreign exchange risk (continued)

98,949,890

-

98,949,890

-

98,949,890

-

96,282,978

2,666,912

US$

Other

The table below summarises the Group’s assets and liabilities, which are denominated in a currency other than the US Dollars.

ii)

Market risk (continued)

The Group

(a)

Financial risk management (continued)

FINANCIAL
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430,907,801

(1,040,814,117)

1,471,721,918

(45,523,325)

1,517,245,243

122,871,970

1,135,075,047

259,298,226

US$

Total
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65,526,426

210,984,606

Currency exposure

166,216,377

-

166,216,377

Net financial assets

Less: Net financial assets
denominated in the
respective entities’
functional currencies

(44,768,229)

Sundry creditors and accruals

Financial liabilities

-

25,322,745

65,526,426

-

65,526,426

-

65,526,426

153,980,787

Other receivables and finance
lease receivable

-

31,681,074

Cash and cash equivalents

US$

US$

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Financial Assets

2011

EUR

PGK

Foreign exchange risk (continued)

Market risk (continued)

The Group

(a)

Financial risk management (continued)

FINANCIAL
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-

(1,097,124,327)

1,097,124,327

-

1,097,124,327

45,186,738

619,875,548

432,062,041

US$

USD

21,337,388

-

21,337,388

-

21,337,388

-

16,349,303

4,988,085

US$

HKD

-

53,122,167

-

53,122,167

-

53,122,167

-

53,122,167

US$

Other

306,202,358

(1,097,124,327)

1,403,326,685

(44,768,229)

1,448,094,914

70,509,483

908,854,231

468,731,200

US$

Total
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ii)

Currency exposure

160,005,593

-

160,005,593

Net financial assets

Less: Net financial assets
denominated in the
Company’s functional currency

(19,500,412)

Sundry creditors and accruals

Financial Liabilities

81,175,984

-

81,175,984

-

81,175,984

-

67,365,459

13,810,525

179,506,005

177,223,863

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Other receivables

2,282,142

US$

US$

Cash and cash equivalents

Financial Assets

2012

EUR

PGK

Foreign exchange risk (continued)

Market risk (continued)

The Company

(a)

Financial risk management (continued)
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21,181,963

-

21,181,963

-

21,181,963

-

18,892,026

2,289,937

US$

HKD

(1,104,799,190)

1,104,799,190

-

1,104,799,190

101,495,438

773,094,315

230,209,437

US$

USD

98,949,890

-

98,949,890

-

98,949,890

-

96,282,978

2,666,912

US$

Other

361,313,430

(1,104,799,190)

1,466,112,620

(19,500,412)

1,485,613,032

101,495,438

1,132,858,641

251,258,953

US$

Total
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ii)
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156,670,623

-

-

65,526,426

-

65,526,426

-

(1,111,749,468)

1,111,749,468

-

1,111,749,468

59,811,879

619,875,548

432,062,041

US$

USD

21,337,388

-

21,337,388

-

21,337,388

-

16,349,303

4,988,085

US$

HKD

-

53,122,167

-

53,122,167

-

53,122,167

-

53,122,167

US$

Other

269,656,604

(1,111,749,468)

1,408,406,072

(11,606,429)

1,420,012,501

59,811,879

896,043,960

464,156,662

US$

Total

In accordance with the Group’s policy, the investment managers monitor the Group’s foreign exchange exposure on a daily basis, and the Investment and Finance
committee reviews it on a quarterly basis.The table below summarises the sensitivity of the Group’s investment portfolio to changes in foreign exchange
movements at year end. The analysis is based on the assumptions that the relevant foreign exchange rate increased/decreased against the US Dollars by the
percentages disclosed in the table below, with all other variables held constant. This represents management’s best estimate of a reasonable possible shift in the
foreign exchange rates, having regard to historical volatility of those rates.

Currency exposure

Less: Net financial assets
denominated in the
Company’s functional currency

(11,606,429)
156,670,623

Net financial assets

65,526,426

168,277,052

Sundry creditors and accruals

Financial Liabilities

-

65,526,426

-

-

141,170,516

Other receivables

27,106,536

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

US$

US$

Cash and cash equivalents

Financial Assets

2011

EUR

PGK

Foreign exchange risk (continued)

Market risk (continued)

The Company

(a)

Financial risk management (continued)
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23.

Financial risk management (continued)
(a)

Market risk (continued)
(ii)

Foreign exchange risk (continued)
If the PGK changed against the USD by 5% (2011: 17%) with all other variables including tax rate
being held constant, the effects arising from the net financial liability/asset position will be as
follows:
2012
2011
Increase/(Decrease)
Surplus from
Surplus from
operations
operations
US$
US$
The Group
PGK against USD
- strengthened
11,479,998
28,054,244
- weakened
The Company
PGK against USD
- strengthened
- weakened

(11,479,998)

(28,054,244)

8,000,280
(8,000,280)

31,468,891
(31,468,891)

2012

2011
Increase/(Decrease)
Surplus from
Surplus from
operations
operations
US$
US$
The Group
EUR against USD
- strengthened

4,058,799

5,786,197

- weakened

(4,058,799)

(5,786,197)

The Company
EUR against USD
- strengthened
- weakened

4,058,799
(4,058,799)

5,786,197
(5,786,197)
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If the EUR change against the USD by 5% (2011: 9%) with all other variables including tax rate being
held constant, the effects arising from the net financial liability/asset position will be as follows:
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23.

Financial risk management (continued)
(a)

Market risk (continued)
(ii)

Foreign exchange risk (continued)
If the HKD change against the USD by 5% (2011: 4%) with all other variables including tax rate being
held constant, the effects arising from the net financial liability/asset position will be as follows:
2012

2011
Increase/(Decrease)
Surplus from
Surplus from
operations
operations
US$
US$

FINANCIAL
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The Group
HKD against USD
- strengthened

(iii)

1,059,098

846,539

- weakened

(1,059,098)

(846,539)

The Company
HKD against USD
- strengthened
- weakened

1,059,098
(1,059,098)

846,539
(846,539)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
Interest rate risk arises from the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of markets interest
rates on the fair value of financial assets and liabilities and future cash flow. The Group holds fixed
interest securities that expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. The Group also holds a limited
amount of euro-denominated floating rate debt, cash and cash equivalents that expose the Group
to cash flow interest rate risk. The Group’s policy requires the Investment Manager to manage this
risk by measuring the mismatch of the interest rate sensitivity gap of financial assets and liabilities
and calculating the average duration of the portfolio of fixed interest securities. The average
effective duration of the Group’s portfolio is a measure of the sensitivity of the fair value of the
Group’s fixed interest securities to changes in market interest rates.
As the Group and the Company has interest-bearing assets, the Group’s and the Company’s income
and cash flows are affected by changes in market interest rates.
The Group’s and the Company’s interest rate risk arises from term deposits, commercial papers and
bonds. The Group’s and the Company’s risk management policy is to limit investment in
commercial papers to not more than 1% per institution and no more than 20% of the investment
portfolio exposure to any single country.
Movements in interest bearing assets primarily arise from the increase/decrease in the fair value of
fixed interest securities, with a small proportion arising from the decrease/increase in interest
income on cash and cash equivalents. The Group has direct exposure to interest rates changes on
the valuation of cash flows from its interest bearing assets and liabilities. At 31 December 2012 and
31 December 2011, if interest rates had been 5% higher/lower with all other variable constant there
would not have been a material movement in the interest bearing assets in the Group and
Company.
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23.

Financial risk management (continued)
(b)

Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial
loss to the Group and the Company. The major classes of financial assets of the Group and of the Company
are cash and bank balances, receivables and financial instruments. For receivables other than related parties,
the Group and the Company adopts the policy of dealing only with customers of appropriate credit history,
and obtaining sufficient collateral where appropriate to mitigate credit risk. For other financial assets, the
Group and the Company adopts the policy of dealing only with high credit quality counterparties.
The analysis below summarises the credit quality as at year end. The majority of unrated securities have
been assessed by the investment managers to have credit quality consistent with the investment policies
and guidelines approved by the Board of Directors for an investment grade bond. A BBB/Baa rating is the
lowest rating a bond can have and still be considered an investment grade bond. An investment grade
bond is a bond considered to have a relatively low risk of default.
2012

2011

US$

US$

214,833,808
488,803,620
59,434,952
34,775,586

534,500,430
88,902,488
32,038,755
4,468,859

Unrated**
Total

42,913,127
840,761,093

25,320,472
685,231,004

The Company
Debt securities by rating
AAA/Aaa
AA/Aa
A/A
BBB/Baa

214,833,808
488,803,620
59,434,952
34,775,586

521,690,159
88,902,488
32,038,755
4,468,859

Unrated**
Total

40,696,721
838,544,687

25,320,472
672,420,733

FINANCIAL
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The Group
Debt securities by rating
AAA/Aaa
AA/Aa
A/A
BBB/Baa

**- This relates to bonds which have no available rating including PNG government bonds.
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23.

Financial risk management (continued)
(b)

Credit risk (continued)
Credit exposure to an individual counterparty is restricted by credit limits that are approved by the
Investment Committee based on ongoing credit evaluation. The counterparty’s payment profile and credit
exposure are continuously monitored at the entity level by the respective management and at the Group
level by the Investment Committee. All amounts due from brokers, cash and short-term deposits are held by
parties with credit ratings in line with the investment policies and guideline approved by the Board of
Directors.
All transactions in listed securities made by the investment managers are settled upon delivery using
approved brokers. The risk of default is considered minimal, as delivery of securities sold is only made once
the broker has received payment. Payment is made on a purchase once the securities have been received by
the broker. The trade will fail if either party fails to meet its obligation.
Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, financial instruments and deposits with banks and financial
institutions. For banks and financial institutions, the Group only transacts with independently rated parties
with high credit ratings. The investment in commercial papers and bonds are restricted to institutions in
OECD member countries.
In accordance with the Groups policy, the investment managers monitor the Group’s credit position on a daily
basis; the Investment and Finance committee reviews it on a quarterly basis.
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As the Group and the Company do not hold any collateral, the maximum risk for each class of financial
instruments is the carrying amount of that class of financial instruments presented on the balance sheet.
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23.

Financial risk management (continued)
(b)

Credit risk (continued)
The maximum exposure to credit risk at year end is the carrying amount of the financial assets as set out
below:
2012
2011
US$
US$
The Group
Bonds
840,761,093
685,231,004
Commercial papers and Certificates of deposit
43,005,346
18,113,635
Cash and cash equivalents
259,298,226
468,731,200
Finance & Other receivables
122,871,970
70,509,483
Total
1,265,936,635
1,242,585,322
The Company
Bonds
Commercial papers and Certificates of deposit
Cash and cash equivalents
Other receivables
Total

672,420,733
18,113,635
464,156,662
59,811,879
1,214,502,909

Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired
Bank deposits, commercial papers and bonds that are neither past due nor impaired are mainly
deposits, commercial papers and bonds with banks with high credit-ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies. Other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are
substantially trade receivables of subsidiaries in the Group.
The Group’s other receivables not past due include receivables amounting to US$444,244 (2011:
US$3,062,927) that would have been past due or impaired if the terms were not re-negotiated
during the financial year.

(ii)
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(i)

838,544,687
43,005,346
251,258,953
101,495,438
1,234,304,424

Financial assets that are past due and/or impaired
There is no other class of financial assets that is past due and/or impaired except for trade
receivables.
The age analysis of other receivables past due but not impaired is as follows:

The Group
2012
US$
Past due < 3 months
Past due 3 to 6 months

402,684
87,358
490,042

The Company
2011
US$

1,450,068
3,232
1,453,300

2012
US$

2011
US$
-

-
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23.

Financial risk management (continued)
(c)

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group may not be able to generate sufficient cash resources to settle its
obligations in full as they fall due or can only do so on terms that are materially disadvantageous.
The Group is exposed to the daily settlement of trading transactions and its policy is therefore to invest the
majority of its assets in investments that are traded in an active market and can be readily disposed. Only a
limited proportion of its assets in investments are not actively traded on a stock exchange. The Group’s listed
securities are considered readily realisable, as the majority are listed on reputable stock exchanges.
The Group’s investment managers may periodically invest in derivative contracts and debt securities that are
traded over the counter and unlisted equity investments that are not traded in an active market. As a result,
the Group may not be able to liquidate quickly its investments in these instruments at an amount close to
their fair value to meet its liquidity requirements, or be able to respond to specific events such as deterioration
in the creditworthiness of any particular issuer.
Prudent liquidity risk management includes maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, the
availability of funding from an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out
market positions. The Group maintains sufficient funds in cash and cash equivalents to meet its operating
commitments.
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In accordance with the Group’s policy, the Investment Manager monitors the Fund’s liquidity position on a
daily basis; the Investment and Finance committee reviews it on a quarterly basis.
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23.

Financial risk management (continued)
(c)

Liquidity risk (continued)
The Group manages its liquidity risk by investing predominantly in securities that it expects to be able to
liquidate within 90 days or less. The following table illustrates the expected liquidity of assets held.
1-3
months
US$

3-12
months
US$

More than
12 months
US$

Total
US$

The Group

2012
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents

259,298,226

-

-

259,298,226

-

209,952,949

925,122,098

1,135,075,047

22,196,731

5,647,878

95,027,361

122,871,970

281,494,957

215,600,827

1,020,149,459

1,517,245,243

Sundry creditors and accruals

(43,647,174)

(1,876,151)

-

(45,523,325)

Net financial assets

237,847,783

213,724,676

1,020,149,459

1,471,721,918

468,731,200

-

-

468,731,200

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

-

136,187,957

772,666,274

908,854,231

Other receivables and finance
lease receivable

-

33,004,732

37,504,751

70,509,483

468,731,200

169,192,689

810,171,025

1,448,094,914

Sundry creditors and accruals

(44,768,229)

-

-

(44,768,229)

Net financial assets

423,962,971

169,192,689

810,171,025

1,403,326,685

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss
Other receivables and finance
lease receivable

Financial Liabilities

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents

FINANCIAL
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2011

Financial liabilities
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23.

Financial risk management (continued)
(c)

Liquidity risk (continued)
The Company manages its liquidity risk by investing predominantly in securities that it expects to be able to
liquidate within 90 days or less. The following table illustrates the expected liquidity of assets held.
1-3
months
US$

3-12
months
US$

More than
12 months
US$

Total
US$

The Company

2012
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents

251,258,953

-

-

251,258,953

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

-

207,736,543

925,122,098

1,132,858,641

Other receivables and finance
lease receivable

-

101,495,438

-

101,495,438

251,258,953

309,231,981

925,122,098

1,485,613,032

Sundry creditors and accruals

(18,474,430)

(1,025,982)

-

(19,500,412)

Net financial assets

232,784,523

308,205,999

925,122,098

1,466,112,620

464,156,662

-

-

464,156,662

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

-

136,187,957

759,856,003

896,043,960

Other receivables and finance
lease receivable

-

59,811,879

-

59,811,879

464,156,662

195,999,836

759,856,003

1,420,012,501

Sundry creditors and accruals

(11,606,429)

-

-

(11,606,429)

Net financial assets

452,550,233

195,999,836

759,856,003

1,408,406,072
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Financial Liabilities

2011
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents

Financial liabilities
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23.

Financial risk management (continued)
(d)

Capital risk management
The Group is a “limited by guarantee” entity which means that it has no share capital, debentures, share
options or unissued shares. The Group’s operations are governed by a set of rules and agreements that pertain
to its unique structure and circumstances.
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain an optimal capital structure so as to promote sustainable development within
Papua New Guinea, and advance the general welfare of the people of Papua New Guinea.
The Long Term Fund (LTF) and The Development Fund are governed by the rules as described in Note 2.1.15.
Project commitments and funding requirements are monitored on a daily basis by the finance department
and reported to the Board on a quarterly basis.

(e)

Fair value estimation
The fair value of financial assets and liabilities traded in active markets (such as publicly traded derivatives and
trading securities) are based on quoted market prices at the close of trading on the year end date.
An active market is a market in which transactions for the asset or liability take place with sufficient frequency
and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.

FINANCIAL
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The fair value of financial assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active market is determined by using
valuation techniques. The investment managers uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are
based on market conditions existing at each year end date. Valuation techniques used for non-standardised
financial instruments such as options, currency swaps and other over-the-counter derivatives, include the use
of comparable recent arm’s length transactions, reference to other instruments that are substantially the
same, discounted cash flow analysis, option pricing models and other valuation techniques commonly used
by market participants making the maximum use of market inputs and relying as little as possible on entityspecific inputs.
For instruments for which there is no active market, the investment managers may use internally developed
models, which are usually based on valuation methods and techniques generally recognised as standard
within the industry. Valuation models are used primarily to value unlisted equity, debt securities and other
debt instruments for which markets were or have been inactive during the financial year. Some of the inputs
to these models may not be market observable and are therefore estimated based on assumptions.
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23.

Financial risk management (continued)
(e)

Fair value estimation (continued)
The output of a model is always an estimate or approximation of a value that cannot be determined with
certainty, and valuation techniques employed may not fully reflect all factors relevant to the positions the
investment managers holds for the Group.
Valuations are therefore adjusted, where appropriate, to allow for additional factors including model risk,
liquidity risk and counterparty risk.
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The assets and liabilities measured at fair value and classified by level of the following fair value measurement
hierarchy:
(a)

quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1);

(b)

inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (as-is prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices) (Level 2); and

(c)

inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs)
(Level 3).

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety is
determined on the basis of the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its
entirety. For this purpose, the significance of an input is assessed against the fair value measurement in its
entirety. If a fair value measurement uses observable inputs that require significant adjustment based on
unobservable inputs, that measurement is a Level 3 measurement. Assessing the significance of a particular
input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgement, considering factors specific to the
asset or liability.
The determination of what constitutes ‘observable’ requires significant judgement by the Fund. The Fund
considers observable data to be that market data that is readily available, regularly distributed or updated,
reliable and verifiable, not proprietary, and provided by independent sources that are actively involved in the
relevant market.
The following table analyses within the fair value hierarchy the Fund’s assets and liabilities (by class) measured
at fair value at 31 December 2012.

110

P N G S U S TA I N A B L E D E V E LO P M E N T P R O G R A M LT D

P N G S D P LT D F I N A N C I A L S TAT E M E N T S
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012

23.

Financial risk management (continued)
(e)

Fair value estimation (continued)
All fair value measurements disclosed are recurring fair value measurements:
Level 1
US$

The Group
2012
Assets
Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss
Bonds
Equity securities
Commercial papers and
certificates of deposits
and accrued interest
Funds
Total assets

The Company
2012
Assets
Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss
Bonds
Equity securities
Commercial papers and
certificates of deposits and
accrued interest
Funds
Total assets

Level 3
US$

Total
US$

821,329,296
245,902,760

19,431,797
-

-

840,761,093
245,902,760

1,067,232,056

43,005,346
5,405,848
67,842,991

-

43,005,346
5,405,848
1,135,075,047

681,699,658
174,351,222

3,531,346
19,511,438

-

685,231,004
193,862,660

5,053,915
861,104,795

18,113,635
6,593,017
47,749,436

-

18,113,635
11,646,932
908,854,231

821,329,296
245,902,760

17,215,391
-

-

838,544,687
245,902,760

1,067,232,056

43,005,346
5,405,848
65,626,585

-

43,005,346
5,405,848
1,132,858,641
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2011
Assets
Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss
Bonds
Equity securities
Commercial papers and
certificates of deposits and
accrued interest
Funds
Total assets

Level 2
US$
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23.

Financial risk management (continued)
(e)

Fair value estimation (continued)
Level 1
US$

The Company
2011
Assets
Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss
Bonds
Equity securities
Commercial papers and
certificates of deposits
and accrued interest
Funds
Total assets

Level 2
US$

Level 3
US$

Total
US$

668,889,387
174,351,222

3,531,346
19,511,438

-

672,420,733
193,862,660

5,053,915
848,294,524

18,113,635
6,593,017
47,749,436

-

18,113,635
11,646,932
896,043,960

-

FINANCIAL
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Investments whose values are based on quoted market prices in active markets, and are therefore classified within
Level 1, include active listed equities and exchange traded derivatives, US government treasury bills and certain nonUS sovereign obligations. The Group does not adjust the quoted price for these instruments.
Financial instruments that trade in markets that are not considered to be active but are valued based on quoted market
prices, dealer quotations or alternative pricing sources supported by observable inputs are classified within Level 2.
These include investment-grade corporate bonds and certain non-US sovereign obligations, listed equities and over
the-counter derivatives. As Level 2 investments include positions that are not traded in active markets and/or are
subject to transfer restrictions, valuations may be adjusted to reflect illiquidity and/or non-transferability, which are
generally based on available market information.
Investments classified within Level 3 have significant unobservable inputs, as they trade infrequently. Level 3
instruments include private equity and corporate debt securities. As observable prices are not available for these
securities, the investment managers have used valuation techniques to derive the fair value. Per Group mandate, no
funds are used for Level 3 investments (2011: Nil).
The carrying value less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair
values. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated based on quoted market prices or dealer
quotes for similar instruments by discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that
is available to the Group for similar financial instruments. The fair value of current borrowings approximates their
carrying amount.
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23.

Financial risk management (continued)
(f)

Financial Instruments by category

The carrying amount of the different categories of financial instruments is as disclosed in Note 9 to the financial
statements, except for the following:
The Group
2012
US$
Loans and receivables
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

24.

382,170,196
45,523,325

The Company
2011
US$

2012
US$

2011
US$

539,240,683
44,768,229

352,754,391
19,500,412

523,968,541
11,606,430

Related party transactions
Other than disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the following transactions took place between the
Company and related parties during the financial year:
(a)

Key management personnel compensation
The key management personnel compensation is analysed as follows:

2012
US$
Directors – fees
Management salaries and other
short-term benefits

The Company
2011
US$

2012
US$

2011
US$

1,104,204

749,159

835,476

749,159

5,713,383
6,817,587

3,308,970
4,058,129

2,275,969
3,111,445

1,642,381
2,391,540
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The Group

There has been a Consumer Price Index (CPI) adjustment in the amount of remuneration payable to individual directors.
In addition, a director received US$109,954 (2011: US$106,499) from the Company in respect of his services provided
to a joint venture, Ok Tedi Mining Limited, as a director of that entity.
Directors are not entitled to other benefits.
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25.

New or revised accounting standards and interpretations
Below are the mandatory standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that have been published,
and are relevant for the Group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012 or later periods and which
the Group has not early adopted:
FRS 110 Consolidated Financial Statements (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014)
FRS 110 replaces all of the guidance on control and consolidation in IAS 27 “Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements” and SIC 12 “Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities”. The same criteria are now applied to all entities to
determine control. Additional guidance is also provided to assist in the determination of control where this is difficult
to assess. The Group has yet to assess the full impact of FRS 110 and intends to apply the standard from 1 January 2014.
FRS 111 Joint Arrangements (effective for annual periods beginning on or after1 January 2014)
FRS 111 introduces a number of changes. The “types” of joint arrangements have been reduced to two: joint operations
and joint ventures. The existing policy choice of proportionate consolidation for jointly controlled entities has been
eliminated and equity accounting is mandatory for participants in joint ventures. Entities that participate in joint
operations will follow accounting much like that for joint assets or joint operations currently. The Group has yet to
assess the full impact of FRS 111 and intends to adopt the standard from 1 January 2014.

FINANCIAL
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FRS 112 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2014)

114

FRS 112 requires disclosure of information that helps financial statement readers to evaluate the nature, risks and
financial effects associated with the entity’s interests in (1) subsidiaries, (2) associates, (3) joint arrangements and (4)
unconsolidated structured entities. The Group has yet to assess the full impact of FRS 112 and intends to adopt the
standard from 1 January 2014.
FRS 113 Fair Value Measurement (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013)
FRS 113 provides consistent guidance across IFRSs on how fair value should be determined and which disclosures
should be made in the financial statements. The Group has yet to assess the full impact of FRS 113 and intends to adopt
the standard from 1 January 2013.
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25.

New or revised accounting standards and interpretations (continued)
FRS 112 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities (effective 1 January 2013)
FRS 112 combines the existing disclosure requirements in a single disclosure standard. It requires the disclosure of
summarised financial information about each subsidiary that has material non-controlling interests as well as material
associate and joint venture. It also sets out new disclosure requirements such as financial or other support provided to
consolidated and unconsolidated structured entities, and financial information about unconsolidated structured
entities that the reporting entity had sponsored.
FRS 113 Fair Value Measurement (effective 1 January 2013)
FRS 113 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and sets out the disclosure requirements for
fair value measurements. It explains how to measure the fair value when it is required by other FRSs. It does not
introduce new fair value measurements, neither does it eliminate the practicability exceptions to fair value
measurements that currently exist in certain standards. FRS 113 defines fair value as a price that would be received to
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement
date, i.e. an exit price.
Amendments to FRS 1 Financial Statement Presentation (effective 1 July 2012)
The amendments require entities to group items presented in Other Comprehensive Income on the basis of whether
they are potentially recycled to the income statement (reclassification adjustments). Where an entity presents its
comprehensive income in two separate statements, the amendments specifically require these statements to be
presented consecutively.
Amendments to FRS 12 Income Taxes (effective 1 January 2012)
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The amendments introduce an exception to the existing principle for the measurement of deferred tax assets or
liabilities arising on investment property measured at fair value, where the presumption that the carrying amount of
the investment property will be recovered entirely by sale can be rebutted only if the investment property is
depreciable and held within a business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the asset’s economic
benefits over the life of the asset. The amendments also incorporate into FRS 12 the remaining guidance previously
contained in INT FRS 21 Income Taxes – Recovery of Revalued Non-Depreciable Assets, which is withdrawn.
Amendments to FRS 107 Financial Instruments: Disclosures (effective 1 July 2011)
The amendments require additional disclosures for all transferred financial assets that are not derecognised in their
entirety and those that are derecognised in their entirety but for which the transferor retains continuing involvement
existing at the reporting date, irrespective of when the related transfer transaction occurred. The amendments also
clarify the conditions under which an entity is deemed to transfer a financial asset.

26.

Authorisation of financial statements
These financial statements were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board of directors of PNG
Sustainable Development Program Limited on 17 April 2013.
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Corporate Services Report
There were a few changes to the Company’s workforce,
which grew slightly by 4%. These changes were to related to
creation of new jobs as well as filing vacant positions. The
Company employee register as at 31st December 2012 was
82 with a number of new staff for Barramundi Hatchery,
Regional office Western Province Affairs, Finance, and Mine
Impacts while there were replacements for employees who
have left the Company.
Other development that took place during the year:
•

•

•
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•

The Company farewelled a number of staff including Mr
Camillus Midire who was employed as Chief Program
Officer until his departure in June 2012.
Office spaces for PNGSDP staff in Western Province have
been secured from Ok Tedi Fly River Development
Foundation (OTFRDP) in Kiunga for the Regional Office,
Western Province affairs. The employees in Kiunga are
expected to move into the new office around June
2013.
Design work on the new office for PNGSDP in Tabubil
adjacent to the Star Mountains Local Level Government
chamber has been completed and design documents
were submitted to the OTML Land Committee for
approval to build, Construction is expected to begin in
2013.
Construction work on the fit out of the new PNGSDP
Head Office at the CHM Group’s property in the
Gordons Industrial Estate is around 90% complete and
expected to be occupied by April 2013.

World AIDS Day Wear Red Campaign.

•

The IT team has set up server infrastructure for SMIT and
PNGSDP office in Tabubil, worked on the email archive
for the Head Office and is currently reviewing data
storage and disaster recovery process. They have
assisted SMIT with additional support work and have
been working to upgrade IT systems in Daru and Kiunga
offices.

•

A number of staff attended external training programs
including Microsoft Project and monitoring &
evaluation workshops, and the IT team conducted a
number of in-house training workshops.

•

The Company through the HR team worked on the
training needs analysis for each employee and relevant
training programs for the employees will be sourced in
2013.

PNGSDP staff after a training session with ANZ officers on creating a savings culture.
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Management Organisational Structure

Advisory Council

Chief Executive
Officer

Corporate
Governance
Manager - Corporate
Governance
Fund Managers
Newton Investment
Management Limited

Chief Operating
Officer

Schroder’s Private Bank

Office of the COO
Economist
Legal Counsel

Deutsche Bank
HSBC, Global Asset
Management
Philip Capital
Management(s) Ltd

Chief Program Officer

Sustainable Forestry
Program Manager
Program Officer

Sustainable
Agriculture
Development
Program Manager
Program Officer

Community
Sustainable
Investment Program
Program Manager
Senior Program Officer
(HIV & Development),
Senior Program
Officers (CSIP),
Program Officers (CSIP),
Program Assistant

Auditing
Auditors
Finance
Financial Controller
Financial & Projects
Accountant,
Assistant Accountant
Accounts Officers
Data Officer
Errands & Filing Clerk
Investments
Investment Analyst

Head of Corporate
Services

Travel and
Accommodation
Travel & Accomm.
Coordinator,
Travel & Accomm.
Officer
Human Resources
HR Officer
Information
Technology
IT Team Leader
Programmer/Analyst
IT Support Officers
Administration
Admin Coordinator
Receptionist
Drivers
Office Attendant

Head of Mine Impact

Mine Impact
Project Leader,
Mine Impact
CMCA Coordinator,
Community Relations
Officer,
Program Officer
Tabubil
Project Leader,
Tabubil Senior
Program Officer,
Social Impacts
Projects Manager,
Infrastructure

Head of
Transformational
Projects

Director, SMIT
Registrar
Facilities Manager

Daru Port
Project Leader
Contract Manager
Master Planning
Lands Officer

Regional Office
Regional Manager
CMCA Coordinator
Community Relations
Officer,
Admin Assistant
Driver/Logistics

Cross-Border
Development
Program Manger

Infrastructure
Corridor
Program Leader
Project Manager
(Roads),
Project Manager
(Oil & Gas)
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Public Relations
Public Relations
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CO R P O R AT E G O V E R N A N C E R E P O R T
Board of Directors

Sir Mekere Morauta, KCMG
Chairman, Non-Executive Director
BA (Econ)
Appointed 30 October 2012
Skills, experience and expertise
Sir Mekere Morauta was the first graduate in Economics from the University of Papua New Guinea. He became a Member of the
Papua New Guinea National Parliament in 1997 and was Prime Minister from 1999 to 2002. From 1997 to 2012 he held the seat
of Port Moresby North-West.
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Prior to entering politics, Sir Mekere was Secretary for Finance (1972–1982), Managing Director of the Papua New Guinea Banking
Corporation (1983-1992), Governor of the Bank of Papua New Guinea (1993-1994), a company director and successful
businessman.
As Prime Minister, Mekere Morauta is credited with initiating significant constitutional and economic reform. In 1999 the Papua
New Guinea economy was on the brink, with government finances in disarray and a currency that was spiraling to
inconvertibility. Sir Mekere devised and led a rescue package, which stabilised the economy and the budget. Key institutions of
state were strengthened and important reforms were introduced to the financial sector, especially in banking and
superannuation, and to the structure and workings of the public sector. Constitutional changes were also introduced which
brought stability to politics in Papua New Guinea and laid the foundation for the orderly development of political parties.
As Minister for Public Enterprises from 2011-2012, Sir Mekere re-set the primary focus of the Independent Public Business
Corporation, concentrating on strengthening it to undertake the important job of rehabilitating the state-owned enterprises.
Since retiring from politics in August 2012, Sir Mekere has been appointed by the leaders of the Pacific Islands Forum as the
Eminent Person to review the Pacific Plan and report to the next Leaders’ meeting in 2013.
He was appointed as Chairman of the Papua New Guinea Sustainable Development Program Limited, following the retirement
of Professor Ross Garnaut, who held the position from the time of the Company’s establishment. In early 2013 Sir Mekere also
became Chairman of Ok Tedi Mining Ltd.
Residence: Port Moresby, Papua New Guinea
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CO R P O R AT E G O V E R N A N C E R E P O R T
Board of Directors

Dr Ross Garnaut, AO

Mr Rex Paki

Chairman, Non-Executive Director

Non-Executive Director

BA, PhD, FASSA

BAC, FCPA

Resigned 30 October 2012

Skills, experience and expertise

Skills, experience and expertise
Dr Garnaut is Vice-Chancellor’s Fellow and Professorial Fellow
in Economics at the University of Melbourne. He is also
Distinguished Professor of Economics at the Australian
National University, where he has also previously held the
positions of Head of the Department of Economics and
Director of the Asia Pacific School of Economics and
Management.

Dr Garnaut was the Chairman of Lihir Gold Ltd (1995-2010)
and a board member and Chairman of the International Food
Policy Research Institute in Washington DC, USA (2003-2010).
Dr Garnaut also has wide-ranging experience in industry
including as former Chairman of the Bank of Western
Australia Ltd.
Residence: Melbourne, Australia

Mr Paki graduated from PNG University of Technology in
1988 with a Bachelor of Commerce and completed Australia
Corporation Law and Taxation from Deakin University,
Melbourne. He is a Fellow of CPA (PNG) and has been the
National President for four years.
He is a member of the Board of Bank of PNG and is the
Chairman of the Civil Aviation Authority, amongst several
other board positions. Currently he is the Chairman of the
National Road Authority and a Member of the Central
Supplies Tenders Board and the Council of the PNG University
of Technology.
He also serves on the Board of the International Road
Federation based in Geneva. He has completed a Senior
Roads Executive Program from University of Birmingham,
United Kingdom.
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Dr Garnaut was Senior Economic Advisor to the Australian
Prime Minster Robert Hawke and served as Australian
Ambassador to China. Dr Garnaut has a long connection with
PNG since serving as First Assistant Secretary in PNG’s
Department of Finance, responsible for financial and
economic policy at the time of independence. He has
authored numerous books, manuscripts, monographs and
articles, particularly in relation to East Asia and the Southwest
Pacific. He is the author of several major reports for the
Australian Governments, including the Garnaut Climate
Change Reviews of 2008 and 2011.

Mr Paki is the Managing Director of his own private
accounting and strategic consulting practice under RAM
Business Consultants. He has been in practice for over
17 years after being with Deloitte for five years.

In his professional career Mr Paki has worked on several
impact projects which include: Structural Reform of CAA and
ADB CAA Investment Program; Mt Hagen City Master Plan;
Asian Development Bank Highlands Highway Road
Rehabilitation and the Motor Vehicle Insurance Ltd.
He has also been the principal auditor of National Capital
District Commission, Eda Ranu, Investment Corporation,
National Fisheries Authority and Pacific International Hospital
Residence: Port Moresby, Papua New Guinea
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Board of Directors

Ms. Patricia Caswell

Mr. Donald Manoa, MBE

Non-Executive Director

Non-Executive Director

BA(Hons), B.Ed.

Skills, experience and expertise

Skills, experience and expertise
As Director of Tricia Caswell & Associates, she specialises in
sustainability for business and industry with environmental,
social, economic and governance dimensions.

MANAGEMENT
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Ms Caswell is involved in sustainable development inside and
outside Australia. As well as her role as a Board Director of
PNG Sustainable Development Program Company she is a
Director of KeeptheHabitat, a new company involved in
reforestation and carbon capture in Indonesia. She has a
number of projects in the private sector in Australia and is a
member of Government advisory committees.
Ms Caswell has long standing experience, related to
sustainability in mining, forestry, building and property
development, renewable energy, the arts, as well as
education and training.
Ms Caswell has been a leader, in the Australian Trade Unions
and a number of other organizations: The Technical Teachers’
Union of Victoria, the ACTU Executive, the Australian
Conservation Foundation, Plan International Australia, Global
Sustainability Institute at RMIT University, and The Victorian
Association of Forest Industries.
Over time she has been a representative on public and
private organisations in Australia and internationally. These
include the National Commission for UNESCO, The Australia
Council, Uluru-Kata Juta National Park Board, RMIT University
Council and Chair of Circus Oz.
Residence: Melbourne, Australia
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Mr. Manoa has a broad range of experience and skills in
industry and as a Director. He is Chairman of NGIP/AGMARK
Group of companies, Chairman of Kina Fund Management
and he is also a Director on the board of First Investment
Finance Ltd.
Mr. Manoa brings to his role as a Director many years of
business experience in Papua New Guinea. He was General
Manager of the Papua New Guinea Electricity Commission,
and General Manager of Shell Company (PNG) Ltd and Shell
Company Ltd, Solomon Islands. He was Chairman of Shell
Company (PNG) Ltd, and Gazelle Restoration Authority,
(GRA). Mr. Manoa was also a member of the Board of
Directors of ANZ Banking Group PNG Ltd, Barclay Brothers
(PNG) Ltd and Air Niugini.
Mr. Manoa has also served in a number of charity and
community services in PNG including as Commissioner in
the Commission of Enquiry into the National Provident Fund
(NPF), and the Commission of Enquiry into the Department
of Finance.
He has also served as Honoury Counsel of the Netherlands.
Residence: East New Britain Province, Papua New Guinea
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Board of Directors

Dr Jacob Weiss

Mr Lim How Teck, PBM

Non-Executive Director; Chairman, Investment and
Finance Committee

Non-Executive Director; Chairman of the Audit
Committee

BA, MBA, PhD

BACC, FCPA (Singapore/Australia), FCMA(UK), FSID, AIBA

Resigned 20 March 2013

Skills, experience and expertise

Skills, experience and expertise
Dr Weiss is Dean Emeritus of the Department of Economics
at the College of Management in Tel Aviv, Israel. He was also
Adjunct Professor of Economics at Ben Gurion University in
Israel, Georgetown University, USA and the State University of
New York, USA.

Dr Weiss also has many years of experience working in PNG.
Between 1988 and 1994, and again between 1999 and 2002,
he was seconded from the IMF to the Bank of Papua New
Guinea, where he has continued to act as an advisor. He has
also worked as an advisor in several former Soviet Union
Republics.
Dr Weiss was appointed as the Honorary Consul General of
Papua New Guinea to Israel in 2007. For all day to day
operations, he acts as the Diplomatic Representative of
Papua New Guinea to Israel.

Mr Lim is Chairman of Redwood International Pte Ltd,
Chairman of Certis CISCO Security Pte Ltd, Heliconia Capital
Pte Ltd, ARA_CWT trust management (Cache) Ltd and
Deputy Chairman of Tuas Power Ltd. He is also a Board
Director of Jurong Port Pte Ltd, Rickmers Maritime, ARA Asset
Management Ltd, Accuron Technologies Ltd, Mizuho
Securities (Singapore) Pte Ltd, Public Utilities Board, Mewah
International Inc, Swissco Holdings Ltd, and Foundation of
Development Co-operation. Until his retirement in 2005, Mr
Lim was a Board member, Executive Director and Group
Chief Financial Officer of Neptune Orient Lines Ltd of
Singapore.
Mr Lim has been honoured with a PBM by the Singapore
Government for his contribution to Singapore. He has also
been awarded the Education Medal from the Singapore
Ministry for Education and the Good Services Medal from the
Singapore Civil Defence Force.
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Dr Weiss was a long-serving official with the Bank of Israel
and for three years with the US Federal Reserve Bank. He
served as a member of the Board of the Mercantile Discount
Bank of Israel, and on the Board and as Chairman of the
Investment Committee of a large pension superannuation
fund with operations in the United States, Europe and Israel.

Mr Lim, a certified public accountant, has extensive financial
experience and serves on several boards in Singapore and
corporations around the world.

Residence: Singapore

Residence: Ramat Hasharon, Israel
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Board of Directors

Mr Philip Bainbridge

Mr David Sode, LLB

Non-Executive Director

Executive Director

B.Sc Hons Mechanical Engineering (1978-81)
INSEAD: International Executive Programme (1997)

Appointed 2 March 2012
Skills, experience and expertise

Appointed 2 March 2012

Mr Bainbridge is a Graduate of the Australian Institute of
Company Directors, and a Chartered Engineer.

Mr. Sode was appointed as Chief Program Officer to PNG
Sustainable Development on 5th February 2007 and is from
Ialibu, Southern Highlands Province of Papua New Guinea.
He has a Law Degree from the University of Papua New
Guinea with a great deal of legal practice experience from
1985 to 1993. From 1989 to 1993 he served as Legal counsel
to PNG Bureau of Customs and Excise. He was subsequently
appointment as Commissioner of PNG Customs in 1994
managing the total executive management of PNG Customs
which had then merged with the Tax office. In 1998 he was
appointed Commissioner of Taxation and a year later in 1999
promoted to the Commissioner General of PNG Internal
Revenue Commission serving in this post for a period of 7
years.

Residence: Melbourne, Australia

Residence: Port Moresby, Papua New Guinea

Skills, experience and expertise
Mr Bainbridge has had a distinguished career in the
corporate sector, primarily in the petroleum industry. He has
held senior positions including Executive General Manager,
LNG, with Oil Search Ltd, and prior to that as Vice-President,
Global LNG, with the BP Group.
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He has extensive experience of Papua New Guinea over
many years through his positions with both Oil Search and
the BP Group.
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Corporate Governance Statement

Board composition and appointment

As a Company “limited by guarantee”, PNG Sustainable
Development Program Ltd. does not have shareholders. The
objectives and operations of the Company are governed
solely by the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the
Company and by the Program Rules, which together
comprise the Constitution of the Company. The Company is
registered at 10 Collyer Quay #10-01, Ocean Financial Centre,
Singapore and has a Company Secretary operating at that
address. The Company’s management office is located in Port
Moresby, Papua New Guinea.

The Articles of Association require that the Board has a
minimum of four and at all times no more than nine
Directors.

This report reflects PNGSDP’s corporate governance practices
as at 31 December 2012.
The Board, its key duties and responsibilities
The Board must independently oversee the operations and
projects of PNGSDP in accordance with the Articles of
Association and the Program Rules.
The Board is not subject to the direction or control of the
Independent State of Papua New Guinea or BHP Billiton.
However, in accordance with the Memorandum and Articles
of Association, changes to the Program Rules and structure
can only be made with the consent of those parties.
The Board reserves certain functions for itself. Broadly, the
duties of the Board include:
•

Oversight and review of the overall strategy of the
Company to ensure it is consistent with the strategic
objectives and that adequate risk management
procedures are in place;
Periodic review of PNGSDP’s structures and operations
to ensure they are conducted in accordance with the
Rules;

•

Appointment and evaluation of the Chief Executive
Officer and review of the function and performance of
other key senior management;

•

Determination of which projects are funded by the
Company;

•

•

Review periodically the development outcomes and
achievements of PNGSDP in terms of the Company’s
strategic direction;
Consideration of the income and expenditure accounts
and balance sheet;

•

Appointment and evaluation of the Auditor;

•

Provide accountability at least annually on the
performance and operations through published
documents and an Annual Report Meeting.

During the year the Articles of Association was amended to
increase the maximum number of Directors to nine. A new
Article 23(A) was also inserted giving the Provincial
Administrator of the Western Province of Papua New Guinea
holding office to be appointed as a Director of the Company.
As at 31 December 2012, the Board consisted of:
A DIRECTORS:
Sir Mekere Morauta KCMG, Chairman, Non-Executive
Director. Appointed by stakeholders (previously appointed
by BHP).
Ms P Caswell, Non-Executive Director. Appointed by BHP.
Future appointments by stakeholders.
Mr P Bainbridge, Non-Executive Director. Appointed by BHP.
Future appointments by stakeholders.
B DIRECTORS:
Mr R. Paki, Non-Executive Director. Appointed by Minister of
Treasury PNG.
Mr D Manoa, Non-Executive Director. Appointed by PNG
Chamber of Commerce and Industry.
Dr J Weiss, Non-Executive Director. Appointed by the Bank of
PNG.
OTHERS:
Mr L How Teck, Non-Executive Director. Appointed by the
Board.

MANAGEMENT
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•

As at the date of this report, the Board of Directors consists of
eight members. The appointment of the Directors is made in
accordance with the Articles.

Mr David Sode, Executive Director. Appointed by the Board.
Conflicts of interest
PNGSDP is aware of the importance of managing conflicts of
interest. Directors continually monitor and disclose any
potential conflicts of interest that arise. In addition, any
Director with a material personal interest in a matter being
considered by the Board must declare this interest and must
not vote on any matter which relates to that interest.
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Board meetings
The Board holds three meetings a year at a minimum. It also
meets whenever it is necessary between these formal
meetings, to carry out its responsibilities.
In carrying out the business which is to be transacted at a
Board meeting, Directors are required to raise any questions
they may have, request further information if needed, raise
concerns and vote on matters before the Board according to
their own judgement.
As stipulated in the Articles of Association, a quorum requires
one A Director and one B Director. Decisions are made by
majority, but must include at least one A appointed Director
and one B appointed Director.

MANAGEMENT
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Role of Board Committees
The Board has established a number of expert Committees to
assist in its duties and responsibilities. Board Committees
allow matters to be discussed and considered in greater
detail. The Board Committee structure utilises the skills and
experience of the PNGSDP Directors to a maximum
advantage for the benefit of all stakeholders. Board
Committees are formed in response to the needs of the
Company and the Board may appoint further Board
Committees as it sees fit.

During 2012, the Board had eight scheduled meetings in
Singapore and a varying number of Board Committee
meetings during the period to 31 December 2012. All Board
members were in attendance for each meeting and, in
addition, regular informal teleconferences were held to
discuss progress with the Sustainable Development Program.

Current Committees of the Board

Access to information and independent advice

Each Committee receives reports from Management and
independent external experts and makes recommendations
to the Board based on the reports.

All Directors are given unrestricted access to all records and
information relating to PNGSDP. Directors are encouraged to
speak with members of senior management at any time to
request relevant information.

In order to assist it with its work, the Board has created four
main Committees from amongst its members. These are the
Audit Committee, the Investment and Finance Committee,
the Community & Social Investment (CSIP) Program
Committee and the Remuneration Committee.

PNGSDP Board Committee Membership – from 1 January 2012 – 31 December 2012
Audit

Investment & Finance

CSIP

Remuneration

Lim How Teck (C)

Jacob Weiss (C)

Donald Manoa (C)

Sir Mekere Morauta/
Ross Garnaut (C)

Patricia Caswell

Sir Mekere Morauta/
Ross Garnaut

Patricia Caswell

Donald Manoa

Jacob Weiss

Lim How Teck

Sir Mekere Morauta/
Ross Garnaut (ex-Officio)

Lim How Teck

Philip Bainbridge
C - Chairman
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Directors are entitled to seek independent advice on any
matter which relates to PNGSDP at the Company’s expense,
but must ensure that costs are reasonable and advise the
Chairman before obtaining the advice.
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Directors’ meetings in 2012
The number of Board meetings and meetings of Committees during the year the Director was eligible to attend and the number
of meetings attended by each Director were:
Board

Audit
Committee

Investment &
Finance Committee

CSIP
Committee

Remuneration
Committee

Ms Patricia Caswell

8/8

4/4

3/3

4/4

-

Mr. Philip Bainbridge

7/8

3/3

-

-

-

Sir Mekere Morauta

2/2

Dr Ross Garnaut

7/7

-

3/3

-

3/3

Mr Lim How Teck

7/8

4/4

3/3

-

3/3

Mr Donald Manoa

7/8

-

-

4/4

3/3

Mr. Rex Paki

7/8

-

-

-

-

Dr Jacob Weiss

7/8

4/4

3/3

-

-

Mr David Sode

8/8

-

-

-

-

1/1

Company Secretary
Ms Madelyn Kwang, Senior
Manager of DrewCorp
Services Pte Ltd, has
the chief responsibility for
the Company secretarial
requirements
of
the
registered company, PNG
Sustainable Development
Program Ltd.

•

monitoring Board policy and ensuring that procedures
are followed;

•

distribution of the Board agenda and briefing materials
before each meeting;

•

recording, maintaining and distributing the minutes of
all General Meetings of the Company;

•

notifying the Directors of Board meetings; and

•

assisting in oversight of the Company’s compliance.

Two extraordinary meetings were held during this period by
the Members of the Company to amend the Articles of
Association on 2 March 2012 and appoint a new Chairman
on 30 October 2012.
Under the Rules, the Company must hold an Annual Report
Meeting every year. The 2012 Annual Report was presented
at the tenth PNGSDP Annual Report Meeting convened at
the Crown Plaza Conference Room in Port Moresby on 5 June
2012. The Meeting was attended by representatives of key
stakeholders. The Chairman and all Non-Executive Directors
of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer, and all senior
program staff were present to represent the Company at the
meeting as well as representatives of the Company’s auditors.
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Ms Kwang, through the appointment of DrewCorp Services
Pte Ltd by the PNGSDP Board, is responsible for:

Annual General Meeting of Members was convened on 3
May 2012 in order to adopt the 2011 Directors' Report and
Accounts. Representatives of the Company’s auditor for 2012,
PriceWaterhouseCoopers, were present at the meeting.

Board Delegation to Management

Stakeholder Communication and Member Meetings
The Board of Directors reports regularly to the Members, the
Government of Papua New Guinea, Ok Tedi Mining Ltd., and
to other Papua New Guinea stakeholders.

The Board has delegated authority to the Chief Executive
Officer to manage the day-to-day leadership and operations
of PNGSDP within the delegation limits that are set out in the
Program Rules and those set by the Board from time to time.
The CEO may sub-delegate responsibilities within these
limits; however the CEO remains accountable for all authority
that has been delegated to management.
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Advisory Council
The Company’s Program Rules provide for the Board to
appoint up to seven eminent and appropriately skilled Papua
New Guineans, each for a term of two years, to serve on the
Advisory Council. They are to provide impartial advice and
comment on the Program of the Company. The Council
reports to the Chief Executive Officer. Members of the
Council represent key sectors of the wider community and
provide the Company with access to independent
monitoring and advisory support.
The Advisory Council did not sit in 2012. The Howes/Kwa
Independent Review 2011 recommended that the Advisory
Council be reconstituted to include senior representatives of
key national and provincial government bodies (such as the
Department of Planning, and the WP Provincial
Administration), and give it specific responsibility for advice
on community projects.

PNGSDP Subsidiaries and Joint Ventures
PNGSDP’s relationship with Ok Tedi Mining Ltd is unique in
many respects given the responsibilities vested in PNGSDP
by the State as disclosed earlier in this Annual Report.
PNGSDP has a 63.4% shareholding in, OTML, however it does
not have absolute control over the investment in OTML but
shares control with the other shareholder – The State.

MANAGEMENT
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PNGSDP has established five companies to undertake
investments and provide services which improve the quality
of life of communities, especially in rural areas. These
companies are Cloudy Bay Sustainable Forestry Ltd, PNG
Microfinance Ltd, PNG Energy Development Ltd, Western
Province Sustainable Power Ltd and Star Mountains Institute
of Technology Ltd.
Through this strategy significant resources and expertise can
be brought to specific investments, including infrastructure
and social services above the funding support available from
PNGSDP. Each company is an independently run, registered
business with shareholders, a Board of Directors and a
professional management team.
PNG Energy Developments Limited is a joint venture
between PNGSDP and Origin Energy Ltd. PNGEDL has been
established to implement and manage energy projects in
line with the overall goals and objectives of PNG Sustainable
Development Program Limited. Origin Energy Ltd provides
technical expertise whilst PNG Sustainable Development
Program Limited provides the financing for the projects.
Western Province Sustainable Power Limited is a wholly
owned subsidiary company trading as “Western Power” to
pursue the development of rural electrification and
infrastructure in Western Province and throughout Papua
New Guinea.
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PNG Microfinance Limited is a 83% owned subsidiary of
PNGSDP. International Finance Corporation holds 17%. It
was established as a vehicle to provide financial services to
low income households and village communities
throughout Papua New Guinea. PML was one of the
Company’s first major investment initiatives that pioneered
PNGSDP’s sustainable development business model.
Cloudy Bay Sustainable Forestry Limited is a wholly
owned subsidiary of PNGSDP, located in Central Province it
promotes sustainable forestry practices; it harvests, mills and
sells finished timber products including furniture.
Star Mountains Institute of Technology Ltd
As a wholly owned subsidiary of PNGSDP, SMIT Ltd’s vision is
to become a world-class education, training and re- search
facility. It plans to achieve that vision by forming partnerships
with national and international organisations to deliver a
broad-range of learning and research programs for
individuals and businesses. SMIT will also develop and offer
its own educational, training and trade programs.
These companies are subsidiaries of PNGSDP because they
are entities over which PNGSDP has power to govern
financial and operating policies accompanying a
shareholding of more than half of the voting rights.
The relationship between PNGSDP and the companies it has
established is on two levels: both on the basis of an
owner/investor or shareholder relationship, as well as a
client/project partner or development agency relationship.
As an owner/investor PNGSDP nominates one Director to
each subsidiary Board. As set out in the constitution of each
company, these Directors can be sourced internally from the
PNGSDP Management team or externally.
The PNGSDP-nominee Director reports to the CEO of
PNGSDP on all matters discussed at Board level. The CEO of
PNGSDP is responsible for reporting to the Board of PNGSDP
on the activities of all three companies at each Board
meeting.
As previously noted, all five companies are implementing
Sustainable Development Projects on behalf of PNGSDP
under management services arrangements.
The client/project partner relationship with subsidiary
companies is managed in the same way as all other
relationships with project partners. Project proposals are
appraised with the same criteria for economic,
environmental, social and institutional sustainability as any
other project. Each project must be presented individually to
the PNGSDP Board by PNGSDP management for
endorsement.
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Organisational Chart

Members of PNGSDP Ltd

Auditors

Ms Patricia Caswell
Mr Don Manoa
Mr Lim How Teck

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Board of Directors of PNGSDP Limited
Sir Mekere Morauta
Chairman

Board of Directors of
Subsidiary Companies

Ms Patricia Caswell
Mr Lim How Teck
Mr Don Manoa
Mr David Sode

Dr Jacob Weiss
Mr Rex Paki
Mr Philip Bainbridge

PNG Microfinance Ltd
PNG Energy Developments Ltd
Western Power Sustainable
Power Ltd
Cloudy Bay Sustainable
Forestry Ltd
Star Mountains Institute of
Technology Ltd

Funds Managers

Company Secretary

Newton Investment
Management Limited

Ms Madelyn Kwang

Schroder’s Private
Bank
Advisory Council

Deutsche Bank
HSBC, Global Asset
Management

Chief Executive Officer
Mr David Sode

Philips Capital
Management(s) Ltd
Pictet Asset
Management
Nutrimenta Finance &
Investments Ltd

Manager - Corporate Governance
Ms Susil Nelson

Lombard Odier

Investment Program

Sustainable Development Program
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G LO S S A RY O F A B B R E V I AT I O N S

AROB
ATProjects
CBSFL
CCRI
CEO
CMCA
CSDP
CSIP
DWU
GoPNG
ECPNG
EHP
ENBP
FRPG
IFC
JV
K
LTF
MIU
MOA/U
MLE
N
NAC
NCD
NFRL
NGIP
NI
NGO
OLPC
OTDF
OTFRDP
OTML
PFA
PNG
PNGEDL
PNGSDP
PML
RMIT
RMRP
SADP
SHP
SMIT
SNRM
VCT
WHP
WNBP
WP
WPRDP
WPSPL

Autonomous Region of Bougainville
Appropriate Technologies Projects
Cloudy Bay Sustainable Forestry Ltd
Cocoa Coconut Research Institute
Chief Executive Officer
Community Mine Consultation Agreement
Community Sustainable Development Program
Community Social Investment Program
Divine Word University
Government of Papua New Guinea
Evangelical Church of PNG
Eastern Highlands Province
East New Britain Province
Fly River Provincial Government
International Finance Corporation
Joint Venture
Papua New Guinea Kina
Long Term Fund
Mine Impact Unit
Memorandum of Agreement/Understanding
Mine Life Extension
National
National Airports Corporation
National Capital District
North Fly Rubber Ltd
New Guinea Islands Province
National Impact
Non-Government Organisation
One Laptop Per Child
Ok Tedi Development Foundation
Ok Tedi Fly River Development Program
Ok Tedi Mining Ltd
Program Funding Agreement
Papua New Guinea
PNG Energy Developments Ltd
PNG Sustainable Development Program Ltd
PNG Microfinance Ltd
Royal Melbourned Institute of Technology
Road Maintenance and Rehabilitation Project
Smallholder Agriculture Development Program
Southern Highlands Province
Star Mountains Institute of Technology
Sustainable Natural Resource Management
Voluntary Counselling and Testing
Western Highlands Province
West New Britain Province
Western Province
Western Province Rubber Development Program
Western Province Sustainable Power Ltd (Western Power)
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HEAD OFFICE
PNG Sustainable Development Program Ltd
Suite 1-3 CHM Corporate Park One
Corner of Waigani Industrial Estate Drive & Kawai Drive
PO Box 1786, Port Moresby
Papua New Guinea
Tel

(675) 325 5673 /74
(675) 7373 8600

Fax

(675) 325 5675

WESTERN PROVINCE OFFICES
KIUNGA
PNGSDP Regional Office
Post Office Kiunga
Western Province
Tel
Fax

(675) 649 1222
(675) 649 1223

TABUBIL
PNGSDP Office
Pitalok Centre
PO Box 24 Tabubil
Western Province
Tel

(675) 649 4600

REGISTERED OFFICE
Drew Corp Services Pte Ltd
10 Collyer Quay #10-01
Ocean Financial Centre
Singapore 049315
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Tel

(65) 6531 4187
(65) 6531 2266

Fax

(65) 6533 1542
(65) 6533 7649
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P E T E R O LTO N - W E S T E R N P R O V I N C E
S U CC E S S S TO RY

OUR MISSION
PNGSDP promotes development that meets the needs of the present generation and establishes the foundation for
continuing progress for future generations of Papua New Guineans.

OUR VALUES
We recognise the significant onus of trust, responsibility and challenge that has been placed upon PNGSDP.
We will be honest, fair and accountable in all our dealings, while promoting equality and efficiency in our conduct and
activities.
We commit ourselves, through the activities of PNGSDP, to promote and improve the quality of life of current and future
generations of the people of Papua New Guinea, especially of Western Province.

COMPANY BACKGROUND
Mandate
Under the agreements establishing PNGSDP, the Company has three main functions.
To support and promote sustainable development through projects and initiatives to benefit the people of Papua New
Guinea, especially the people of Western Province during the period after closure of the Ok Tedi Mine.
Another main function of PNGSDP as a substantial financial institution is the prudent and wise investment of the Long Term
Fund and Development Fund, so that it can support a high level of development expenditure in Western Province and
Papua New Guinea in general.
The Company’s other substantive responsibility is as majority shareholder of Ok Tedi Mining Ltd (OTML). Through its
representative on the Board of OTML, PNGSDP seeks to ensure sound commercial operations of OTML, responsible
management of environmental and social issues, and seeks to sustain the infrastructure established by OTML for broader
social and economic development beyond mine closure.
Incorporation and governance framework
PNGSDP is a Papua New Guinean institution incorporated in Singapore as a not-for-profit limited liability company,
registered and operating in PNG as an overseas company.
PNGSDP is governed by its Constitution, which is comprised of the Memorandum and Articles of Association and Program
Rules.
An independent Board, consisting of seven international and Papua New Guinean Directors, control and manage the affairs
of PNGSDP and reports to PNG stakeholders annually.
PNGSDP commenced operations in Port Moresby Papua New Guinea in November 2002.
Assurance and indemnification
PNGSDP indemnifies the State and BHP Billiton against environmental claims related to activities of OTML and provides
indemnity over the Independent Directors on the Board of OTML.

I was one of the first students sponsored by PNG Sustainable
Development Program Limited (PNGSDP) to study in Melbourne at
the Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology (RMIT) University.
After I successfully completed foundation year science in 2010 I was
given the opportunity to study an undergraduate program in
Chemical Engineering in 2011.
I found my course extremely interesting, as it combined both handson projects as well as theory.
I'm a practical learner, and through lots of lab experiments and
project based assignments, RMIT has given me a solid foundation to
incorporate my engineering knowledge into my current specialist
stream in Oil & Gas Engineering.
University life is challenging at times. However, there are great mates
out there to help me.
Apart from academic studies I have participated in extracurricular
activities like volunteer work with the Australian Conservation
Volunteers.
I will be graduating from RMIT in 2014.
I thank PNGSDP for giving me the opportunity to come this far.
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